
money supplies for the payment of the Subsidiary 
Force. The bankers came and dwelt in the place 
called the Bagl), and the rupees current there were 
consequently called bdglidtalnL After a while some 
of them got plundered, and in consequence the Bagh 
was enclosed by a high wall. He said too, that all the 
space now occupied by the extensive settlement of 
Chadarghat, was once covered with groves and <mr- 
dens, and that its name, Bagbait, was still pre­
served.

He confirmed categorically all that I had heard about 
the merits of the Sabir Jang’s administration, about the 
great internal improvement of the country and the pre­
servation of order, and about the jealousy of the Nizam 
regarding the Minister’s leaving the City. Nothing, lie 
said, would persuade the Nizam that the Minister was 
not going to hatch mischief, if he went for a tour in 
the interior to look after the country !

In the evening I went over the lines of the Infantry 
Kegiment at Balaram and examined them, and was 

' satisfied with what I  saw.
Sunday, June Hi///.—
Monday, Jane IT Ik.— Early in the morning 1 had out 

the 5th Eegiment of the Infantry of the Contingent for 
an inspection parade, and found that a large portion of 
the men were Hindustanis, and that the usual propor­
tion, 10 per cent., of these were absent at their homes 
in Hindustan. The parade went off well, and after it I 
addressed a few words to the native officers. When 
this was over, the Subadar-Major, with the permission of
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the Officer Commanding, mentioned a few boons winch &, 
he solicited for the men. These chiefly related to classes \ 
and pensions, the object being to ask for the same |J 
advantages as those enjoyed by the troops of the regular 
line. He also alluded to the rule excluding Brahmans 
from enlistment, and seemed to think it hard that when vt.^ 
a Brahman native officer had served through the wars ||| 
with distinction, his sons should not be eligible for 
enlistment. He was a Brahman himself, and had a ■' 
brother in the corps, who had sons growing up. ,

In the evening I went over the lines of the 3rd 
Cavalry Regiment of the Contingent, and found that 
the Risaklar-Major owned the horses of a whole troop, 
being the silahddr and the men his bdrg'm* His was 
said to be the best troop in the Regiment. Another 
Eisaldar on detachment at Lingsagiir, also similarly 
owned a number of horses. Besides these there were 
ten other native officers owning from twenty to forty- 
horses. Major Nightingale told me that he thought 
the silahddn system was the best, as giving us a greater 
hold on the fidelity of the men, and that as long as the 
silahddrs kept right the bdrg'm dare not go astray ^ say­
ing that in 1857 ne r̂ the Narbada this very Risaklar- 
Major had to call up a number of disaffected men and 
keep them straight.

Complaints were made of the risk from lire to the 
houses of the men and the stables of their horses by 
reason of the thatched roofs. With such a mass of

* Silahddr means strictly armiger, and is now a native gentle­
man n ho owns the horses of his troopers or bdrg'm.
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thatcli there was danger no doubt, though water-tanks 
and fire-engines were kept constantly ready.

T uesday, June ISM.—Early in the morning I in­
spected the No. 4 Native Battery of the Contingent. 
Everything seemed in order, the firing and manoeuvring 
being rapid and precise.

About noon I received a visit from the Subadar of the 
Battery, who mentioned a few points much the same as 
those mentioned by the Subathir-Major of the Infantry.
He was himself a Muhammadan, but said the same 
thing as to the Brahmans !

Captain Grey, the Commandant, gave a good character 
to the men, and said that they worked hard and were 
very willing and industrious.

After breakfast 1 had a note from the Minister saying 
that Jamsetjee had himself quietly given up the papers 
and professed submission, but that he still wished to 
discharge him and deport him out of the Hyderabad 
Dominions. He asked my opinion, and I expressed 
entire concurrence.

In the evening I inspected the lines of the 3rd Begi- 
inent Hyderabad Contingent.

W ednesday, June 19th— In the afternoon I went, 
accompanied by Major Price, tlie Chief Engineer, to see 
various improvements in detail at the new barracks 
for the 21st Fusiliers at Trirnalgiri, which Colonel 
Bobertson, the Commanding Officer, wished me to see.

I also saw a class practising gymnastics under the 
new rules.

T hursday, June 20th.-—In the afternoon I  reviewed
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the 3rd Regiment of Hyderabad Cavalry. The men, 
horses, arms, and accoutrements looked exceedingly 
well, and the manoeuvres and exercises were capitally 
executed. The review over, I  called the native officers 
to the front, and made a short speech to them in Hin­
dustani, briefly recounting the past services of the corps. 
The regiment had existed for fifty-one years, and during 
that period it had been engaged in thirty-four actions, 
of which twenty occurred before the Mutinies of 1857-8, 
and fourteen afterwards. Those before 1857 were for 
the most part local affairs, though even among them 
there were several places known to history such as 
Mahidpur in Mahva, Chanda on the Wardha, Poona, 
and Ivarnul. Those since 1857 were celebrated in the 
history of the great rebellion and were freshly remem­
bered. They included Asirgavh, Mau (Mhow), Dhar, 
Bawal, Madanpur, Mandesor in Malwa; Chanderi, 
Lahan, Betwa, Jhansi, Ktineh, Kalpi in Bundel- 
khand, Gwalior, Morar, ’Alipdr Jaura; and lastly 
some places in the Deccan. After these events, hun­
dreds of medals had been distributed among the 
men, no less than eighty Orders of Merit, and three 
Orders of British India. All the native officers then 
present were decorated men, and I congratulated them 
accordingly. I  also reminded them of the benefit of 
the cavalry service, which always accepted the qualified 
sons of troopers, and thus made the employment almost 
hereditary, provided that a succession of fine young men 
presented themselves.

Friday, June 2 Is A— The Bombay Government had
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written to beg that the Nizam might be ashed to dis­
mantle the Fort at Raichur, because the Railway Station 
was proposed to be put within musket shot of i t ! 1
replied I  could not make such a request to the Nizam, 
which would be an infringement of His Highness’s 
sovereign rights, and suggested that the site for the 
proposed Railway Station be fixed out of musket range !

I  also took up the question as to whether the Con­
tingent troops at Lingsagftr should be moved sixty 
miles eastward to Raichur, so as to be on the line of 
Railway. I decided not to do so ; firstly, because 
Lingsagur Station dominated the Ridar country and 
Shiirapur, and secondly, because the move would involve 
great expense.

In the evening I dined with the officers of the Con- 
■ tin gent at the Balaram Mess-house, when about seventy 

officers, hosts and guests, sat down to dinner. I  he 
Commanding Officer, Major Nightingale, told me that 
the speech I  made to the native officers of the Cavalry, 
recounting their war services, had given them great 
satisfaction. Major Woodcock, commanding the 5tli 
Regiment of Infantry of the Contingent, told me that 
a detailed inspection by the Resident “ gave new life to 
the corps.”

Saturday, Jane 2 2 nd.— Early in the morning I went 
with Colonel Robertson, commanding the 21st Royal 
North British (now Royal Scots) Fusiliers, to see the 
kits of the men, which, as a rule had to he 
inspected every Saturday morning. The cleanliness , 
and order which prevailed were remarkable, and also
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the number of books which the men had about 
them. The little libraries and reading rooms attached 
to almost every company, besides the regimental read­
ing room, indicated a more than average degree of in­
telligence among- the men, of whom indeed fully nine- 
tenths were able to read and write.

After that I  breakfasted with the officers at the 
Mess-house, the band playing the while.

Returning home I found a note from the Minister, 
saying that Jatnsetjee refused the offer of pension, and 
requesting that lie be desired to quit the Residency 
limits, I sent orders to the First Assistant ac­
cordingly.

Sunday, June 23rd.—In the afternoon Khandaswami 
came to see me, and dilated on the extraordinary igno­
rance and isolation of the Mughal nobility and gentry 
of Hyderabad, who, be said, “ lived in a dark place.”

M o n d a y , June 2.4*5.—In the afternoon I carefully 
examined the horses of the 3rd Cavalry of the Con­
tingent, and was fairly satisfied with them on the 
whole,—-especially with the newly-purcliased remounts.

T uesday, June 25///.— I  was chiefly occupied with 
business connected with the Hyderabad Contingent, 
especially the rate of pay and pension and the com­
pensation claimable by the men for dearness of 
provisions. f

1 issued orders for the recall of the detachment of 
Native Infantry stationed at Wa ran gal in the eastern 
part of the Nizam’s Dominions, as the Minister said 
that his Government had no objection.
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W ednesday, Jane 2Qth.—In the afternoon I went to 
see the large General Hospital at Secunderabad, and I 
was ranch struck with the unsuitableness of the build­
ing, in the erection of which so much money and labour 
had been expended it  made a wrorse hospital than 
many buildings of far inferior construction.

In the evening I dined at the Mess of the 21st 
Fusiliers. Several officers, returning from hunting 
parties, spoke of the improvement apparent in the con­
dition of the interior of the country.

T hursday, June 21th.— In the forenoon I read up 
much of Col. Davidson’s correspondence during the 
troubled period of 1857—S. I noted that the Arabs, 
though not overtly hostile, were of doubtful conduct,  ̂
and would certainly have usurped the sovereignty of the 
Deccan if anything had happened to the British Power ; 
and that when in 1858 Tantia Topi approached the 
northern border of the Deccan, the Muhammadan, popu­
lation, backed up, too, by the Arabs, were preparing to 
rebel in support of him.

F riday, June 28th.— I  proceeded with my reading up 
of the old records between 1839 and 1845.

Saturday, June 29W— I went on reading the papers, 
and found that what I had previously considered the 
weak and vacillating orders of the Supreme Government 
in respect to the reforms urged by General Fraser, were 
caused by apprehensions entertained by it, which I 
believed were misplaced, and thought that more might 
have been done with the Nizam. Unless General 
Fraser had known himself to be strong enough to
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carry out his measures, lie would not have proposed 
them,

S unday, Jane 4 0 th.— I observed to Col. Briggs that 
from the old records I believed that Lord Ellonborough 
attributed the neglect by the rate "Nizam of General 
Eraser’s injunctions about the banker 1- ih„r M?1, to 
the low ebb to which British authority had then sunk 
by reason of the Afghan disasters. Col. Briggs 
thought that the Nizam was not thereby disposed to 
resist the Resident; but that his conduct must have been 
governed by local considerations.

In the evening I received a report of the sudden 
death of Dr. Pemberton, the Residency Surgeon.

M onday, July 1st.— In the morning I  rode from 
Balamm to the Residency at Chadarghat, to see how 
Dr. Pemberton came by his sudden death, and found 
that he had taken poison in a fit of mental and nervous 
depression. I  heard that he had rendered himself much 
liked and respected by the Nizam’s subjects in and about 
Hyderabad; and that in this respect he was one of the 
best among the many good medical officers who had 
filled the post of Residency Surgeon.

In the afternoon we buried him in the Cemetery 
close to the Residency gardens. The General Com­
manding the Subsidiary Force and many military 
officers from Secunderabad and Balaram were present.
A  firing party was furnished from the 108th Regiment, 
and the band played “ the Dead March.”  Many 
natives of respectability attended, and among them 
some of the native gentry. Some natives also of the
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poorer classes were seen crying at the grave. After 
the funeral I returned to Balaram.

T uesday, July 2nd.—Brigadier-General (Sir J. T.)
Grant, Commanding the Hyderabad Subsidiary Force, 
came out to stay with me for a few days at Balaram.
He pointed out to me the strategic delects of the new 
cantonment of Trimalgiri: the position, though good 
from a sanitary point of view, was commanded by the 
Chcita Mul All, or Imam Zamin Hill, and by other little 
hills. The plain too, was dotted over with granite 
boulders, just the things for Arabs or Iiohelas, or other 
enemies, to hide behind. He would have placed the 
European force on the beautiful plateau close to the 
Balaram racecourse.

W ednesday, July ‘in i.— l heard from the Minister 
that Jamsetjee had departed in peace, and after tender­
ing the fullest apology for his insolent and ungrateful 
conduct, had begged to be allowed the pension, Rs. 700 
a month, which he had at first refused. He was 
ordered to reside outside the Nizam’s Dominions.

I  wrote to the Minister about getting the Nizam’s 
great diamond out of pawn, by clearing off some old 
scores with the native bankers. I also wrote to him 
about deporting at once the Arab Salih bin ’Akrabx, a 
dangerous character.

T hursday, July 4f./i.— I continued reading Col. 
Davidson’s correspondence during the outbreak of the 
troubles of 1857. It seemed lucky that the Nizam 
Afzalu ddaula had just at that very time been recog­
nised by the British Government on his accession, and
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felt a tie of gratitude to us, which helped to keep 
him straight. The Sfilar Jang was staunch, and hence 
had great difficulty in getting information, as the evil 
disposed would not trust him ! The number o f ’armed 
Muhammadan fanatics likely at that time to rise, esti­
mated by Col. Davidson at 100,000, seemed very great.

F riday, July 5tk.—I read a volume of letters 
addressed to the Government of India by Sir II. Russell 
when Resident, and saw that Chandu Lai, despite his 
subsequent bad conduct, must originally have had 
merit, and that he rendered great service in organizing 
the Nizam’s contingent aid during the Pindari War.
No doubt he had a hard part to play then, and he did it 
well : still it is quite evident that Russell was towards 
the end much deceived by ChancM Lai, who persuaded 
the Resident that he was introducing measures of im­
provement, while really he was doing nothing, except 
play corruptly into the hands of Messrs. Palmer 
and Co.

I was struck by Russell’s severe denunciation of the 
Nizam Sikandar Jah, and of the great Ministers, the 
’Arastu Jah, and the Mir ’Aiam. I f he had been 
equally alive to the faults of Chandu Lai, it would have 
been better.

Russell’s despatches are able and statesmanlike, and 
he seemed aware of the danger to our power from 
Muhammadan fanaticism, declaring that at the time 
when on the one hand there was trouble with the 
Peshwa fit Poona, and on the other hand trouble with 
Apfi Sahib at Nagpur, the Nizam and his people were
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in their hearts against us. One of liis expressions is 
striking:—he wrote, “ The Peshwa has just died in 
convulsions, the Nizam is dying comatose,” alluding, 
of course, to political death.

Saturday, July (ith.-—I had an interview with Mr.
Keav,* the manager of the branch of the Bombay Bank 
.at Hyderabad, die seemed to have very extensive tran­
sactions with the sdAukdrs, or native bankers, and ap­
peared to lament that the Mughal nobles would not 
deposit their hoards of money in his bank, observing 
that, as they got no interest, they were really living on 
capital. However true this may be in theory, I fear 
the Mughals would not trust the bank! He told me 
of absurd rumours being current in the City, to the 
effect that the Nizam refused to see his Minister and 
sent messages insisting on the abolition of the Courts 
of Justice !

I saw one of the Nizam’s officials of the old Sada- 
sheopet District. He said that the management had not 
been good, but was now improving, and that a money 
assessment for three years certain had just been made 
with each ryot.

In the evening I met Dr. Balfour, Inspector-General 
of Hospitals, who told me that he first saw the Deccan 
in 1839-40, when he went to join the Afghan War.
At that time he thought the interior of the country 
was wretched, and considered that the improvement 
in agriculture within the previous few years had been 
immense.

* The Mr. Seymour Keay of subsequent notoriety.
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Sunday, J u ly  1 th .—
Monday, July 8th.— I read up General Fraser’s 

letters as Eesident addressed to the Government of 
India, and was confirmed in my impression that the 
evils of that time were owing chiefly to obstinacy of the 
Nizam Nasiru’ddaula, who persisted in trying to 
govern without the slightest notion of how to do it. 
Some of Fraser’s invectives against the misconduct of 
the Nizam and his Government are almost Demos­
thenic in their force and vigour. The Nizam would 
have <uven in to General Fraser’s remonstrances if the 
Government of India had backed up the Eesident. But 
there was hesitation on the part of Lords Ellenborough 
and Hardinge: partly because they did not believe the 
British Government to be locally strong enough to en­
force obedience, an idea fully refuted by General Fraser.

T uesday, July 9th.—I finished the perusal of Gen. 
Fraser’s correspondence, and I found that the confi­
dence which the General at first reposed in the character 
and ability of the Suraju’l-Mulk, the Minister, was first 
weakened and then shaken altogether. It seems that 
the Suraju’l-Mulk spoke fair enough, but either would 
not, or could not, act.

When Gen. Fraser retired from the service he seemed 
to be so disgusted with the conduct which the Nizam 
had pursued for years, that on going away lie did not 
“ apply for an interview with the Nizam” :—in other 
words, he would not even wish him good-bye !

W ednesday, J u ly  1()th.— I was chiefly occupied with 
Berar affairs.



During the day I had some correspondence with 
the Minister about the decision of cases connected 
with the people belonging to the Eailway Depart­
ment. I  found that the Bailway passed through the 
Pagah jurisdiction of the ShamsuT-TJmara, and inti­
mated that we must insist on the Shamsu’l-Umara 
appointing proper native officials on the spot in the 
same way as was done in the districts directly under 

1 the Minister.
T hursday, July 11th.—In the morning I  rode over 

to ETshara, a large village twelve miles from Balaram 
to the east, a stage on the road towards Warangal, and 
returned home by ten o’clock. The road from Balaram 
is pretty, winding underneath granite ridges.

The village is situate near the foot of a great globular 
mass of granite, about 200 feet high. The rock is 
ascended by a flight of steps cut in the stone, and 
there are some old temples at the top, and a spring of 
water with beautiful water-lilies. The view is exten­
sive. One can see to the well known conical hill of 
Bhawaniglr to the east, and can also with a glass 
make out each one of the barracks on the Trimalgiri 
ridge, and each one of the public buildings at Balaram.
The Mill Ali Hills, both the lesser and the greater are, 
of course, visible from this point.

F riday, July 12th,—I went to look at the sacred 
buildings at 'Aliwal close to Balaram, and found the 
priests’ houses there much dilapidated. I saw, too, 
some aged Bajpiit guards on the gateway, who said 
that they were originally placed there by the Minister
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Chandd Lai, but were now kept up by Raja Narindar, 
the Peshkar, or Deputy Minister.

I had an interview with the vakil of the Shamsu’l- 
Umaru in order to urge the appointment of proper 
persons on the spot within his great jaylr to decide 
disputes connected with the Kail way works.

Saturday  ̂ July 1 '6th.—In the morning I went over 
the barracks of the 108th liegiment, it being the day 
for the regimental inspection of kits.

After that I went over the Orphanage at Secunder­
abad for Eurasian boys and girls, and then visited the 
Anglo-Vernacular School for the native youth of Secun­
derabad itself. I found some ninety boys present. The 
upper classes read and wrote well, and passed an excel­
lent examination in the Geography of India. The 

_ institution was under the patronage of, and was mainly
supported by, the Nizam’s Government., and was further 
looked after by two Madrasi mudaliyars of Secunder­
abad, named Sdmasundram and Eamanujam. After the 
examination I reminded the elder boys of their obliga­
tions to the Nizam’s Government.

Sunday, July \Uh.— Early in the morning I  attended 
service in the Church built many years ago by Paran- 
judi, an enterprising Madrasi gentleman of Secunder­
abad. The service, attended entirely by native 
Christians and their children, was read in the Tamil 
language, exactly according to the English Rubric, and 
the singing of the Rsalws was really very fair. The 
architecture of the building, especially the interior, was 
in a very respectable style.

W) . <SL
16o Hyderabad.



■ f- S\. / n

IS  <SL
Diary. 161

M onday, J«/y 15/'//.— I  rode, accompanied by Major 
"Woodcock, to Dundigal, a large village, ten miles from 
Balaram, and a jdg'tr of the Salar Jang, who sent some 
tents and servants to receive us. This jdg!r was originally 
obtained by the Minister’s grandfather, the Muinru’l- 
Mulk, about the beginning of this century. I  noted 
some extensive repairs and improvements in masonry 
work being made to the dam and sluices of the largest 
of the two tanks in the village.

We were pitched in an enormous mango grove 
extending over several square miles ; the trees however 
were somewhat scraggy and stumpy. The grove is 
said to be at least as old as the Kutabshalu Dynasty of 
Gfolkonda, under whom about forty small mosques were 
built in the village. On the other side of the tank 
there was a small, but very fine, grove of banyan and 
tamarind trees. The place must once have been much 
larger than it was then, hut it was still a finely culti­
vated estate with beautiful soil.

I saw the deshmiM. of the village, who was also the 
patcl. I also saw the deshmukh of Sidlnpet, a large 
village some miles off.

We were attended by the tdluiddr doyam, or second- 
assistant ta’lukddr, of the Medak District, of which the 

i headquarters were at Singarcdipet. He said that the 
civil staff of the district, which had a revenue of eleven 
lakhs of rupees, was a tdluMdr or magistrate and 
collector, a ta’lulcddr doyam and a tdlukddr soy am (third 
Idlukddr)—which last officer was in charge of the 
treasury—and four tahs'dddrs ; the district being divided
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into talsils, or subdivisions, much as in British Territory.
The tdluhddr received Ks. '800 a month, the assistant 
talukddrs Bs. 400, and the ta/mldars much the same pay 
as in British Territory. He added that there would 
have soon to he a fifth, or temporary, tabs'll to comprise 
the Banswara ta’luJca, lately resumed from one of the 
Arab Jama’dars, and brought under the direct adminis­
tration of the Minister; which item of news was very 
satisfactory. This second taluMdr was a Maratha 
Brahman, who had formerly been employed in the 
Assigned Districts as a taJmlddr, and on the whole, so 
far as I  could make out, there seemed to have been 
a fair amount of organization carried out in this 
district.

The people showed me some of the cloth manu­
factures of Sidlnpet.

T uesday, M y  1 Ml.— The real burst of the monsoon 
commenced. It had rained all the previous night and it 
rained nearly all day. In the evening the sky wore 
every appearance of masses of vapour and moisture.

I  went from. Balaram into the Residency at Cliadar- 
ghat in the evening.

W ednesday, July VJth.— In the forenoon I  went with 
the Minister to present certificates to five young men, 
who had passed at the recent examination at the 
Nizam’s Medical School at Chadarghat. There was a 
delay in the Minister’s coming, because he had not 
received the Nizam’s permission in time.;—however, 
the permission came at last, and the Minister arrived.

Arriving at the School, I presented the diplomas to
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the young men, and afterwards I addressed them and 
the other students in. Hindustani, reminding them of the 
debt of gratitude they owed to the Nizam’s Govern­
ment .for having thus had them educated, and to the 
several Residency Surgeons for having taken so much 
pains with them. After that several men who had 
passed at former examinations, and some of whom were 
in capital practice, were presented to us, as were also 
the principal native gentlemen at Chadarghat.

The Minister then lunched with me, and after lunch 
we had a conversation on public affairs. I  asked him 
why there had been a delay in getting the Nizam’s 
permission for him to come with me. He said the fact 
was that several messages on other subjects had been 
passing between himself and his master on the two pre­
ceding days, and he had not liked in consequence to 
prefer any request to His Highness, consequently he 
had not asked leave till that very morning, hence the 
slight delay. The messages in question first related to 
three dreams which His Highness had had:—two re­
lating vaguely to his relations with the British and one 
to the Vikaru’l-Umara, brother to the Amir Kablr.
In one of these messages was conveyed to the Minister 
the following remark : “ You obey the orders * of your 
master, and never you mind whether the kingdom goes 
well or goes badly:” (ri’dsat sadhdre yd biydre). To 
this the Minister, after the usual Hindustani professions 
of obedience, replied: “ If anything is to he done to 
the injury of the kingdom, I hope I may not be made 
the instrument,” On receiving this message in reply
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His Highness waxed wroth, and said it was just like 
the Minister’s pride and obstinacy, &c., &c. Whereon 
a conciliatory reply was sent and the matter dropped.
The Minister did not seem alarmed, but said it was 
only that the Nizam thought it just as well to trouble 
his Minister a little (satdnd) now and then, to keep him 
in order.

He added that recently the Nizam had done two 
things which tended to good. He had turned out the 
intriguing Madrasi fakir, already mentioned, and had 
declared that Jamsetjee was a shaitdn (devil), who 
richly deserved the expulsion he had got. The Minister 
repeated that the Nizam was not so troublesome as 
some of his predecessors had been, and mentioned 
another good point, that he did not cherish anger long, 
though the suspiciousness of his nature was ineradicable.

He also said that in a few days he was to have the 
Bi’smi’llah* ceremony performed for his daughter; that 
he hoped the Nizam would he present; that His High­
ness had been present on two such occasions in his 
family previously; and that he was going to solicit 
this favour of him now.

I  asked him if it were true that the Nizam had ever 
sent any message about dismissing the judges of the 
Civil Court, and he said that there was no foundation 
for such a report. 3

* The ceremony of teaching a child to repeat the sentence, !
‘ Bi’smi’llciTii’rrahmanirraMm, In the name of God the merciful 
and compassionate,’ is performed ■when it is four years, four 
months and four days old,-with much pomp.

!

' G° i f e X



<SL
Diary. 165

I  asked him if he had seen a pamphlet about the 
claims ot the Nizam; he said that he had not, addins? 
that he would not let his people hare anything to do 
with such publications, as papers praising up the Nizam 
did more harm than good, and only made His High­
ness’s Government look ridiculous.

I asked him if he had taken any steps to have a 
committee to fix the remaining debts of the Nizam’s 
Government, so as to get the Nizam’s great diamond 
out of pawn • and he said that he was taking steps for 

1 this purpose.
He spoke further about insisting on the Shamsu’l- 

Umara establishing proper jurisdictions in the Pagali 
Jagirs, and acknowledged the advantage of recog­
nising the full authority of the great Pagali jdgwddrs 
within their jagirs, as that would keep them aloof 
from, and prevent their sympathising with, the petty 

jdfftrddrs, whose scattered jurisdictions it was desired 
to consolidate under one uniform police system.

He then asked me my opinion on two points of im­
proved organization. Firstly: would it be well to 
reduce the number of members of the Hyderabad 
Hoard (Majlis) from five to two, and to divide the four­
teen gilds of the Deccan into three circles, placing one 
of the three discharged members of the Board over 
each of the three groups, in much the same position as 
Commissioners in the British Provinces ? Secondly ; 
would it be well to separate police supervision from 
the Board, confining that body to revenue matters, and, 
instead of the plan then existing, to have a well-selected
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Head of the Police Department at Hyderabad ? I said 
that, at first sight, I  thought that both these plans would 
he good, but that I  would think it over further and let 
him know the next day.

I then urged him to try and make a tour and judge 
of the interior of the country for himself; hut he re­
plied that the Nizam would never willingly consent to 
his leaving Hyderabad; that His Highness prejudice 
in this respect was inflexible, and that this was one of 
the conditions imposed on him when the recent rupture 
was patched up—to the effect that he should not leave 
Hyderabad.

He then alluded to the bother there would be in 
getting the Nizam to agree to give up certain small 
villages that fell within the limits of the Trimalgiri 
Cantonment; but he admitted that this was inevitable.

I admitted the many difficulties that loomed before 
him, but I  advised him to keep up his courage and 
learn that difficulties were only made to be encountered.
He said that if only his master would give him even 
the least support, he could manage everything, hut that 
there was the rub !

Thursday, July I wrote to the Minister to
say that on consideration I thought both of his ad­
ministrative projects just mentioned would be very 
good, and offered a few brief remarks as to details.

I wrote to Sir (3. Yule at Simla, to ask what he 
thought of the idea of my asking the Nizam to let the 
Minister go on circuit in the interior of the country, 
and I put the pros and cons of this.

x 66 Hyderabad,.



F riday, July 19Hi.—The Shamsu’l-IJmarti’s vakil 
came to speak to me about the civil arrangements of the 
Pagsili Jagirs, and I found that the Amir Kabir had 
appointed proper officials on the spot to look after this 
tei'ritory to some extent only. I urged the vakil to beg 
his master to remedy the deficiencies, and wrote to the 
Minister to say I had done so.

Saturday, July 20th.— I  saw Khandaswami, one o f 
the Minister’s servants, who told me that his master 
had received rather a gracious message from the Nizam 
about the Bi’smi’llah ceremony. The Nizam did not 
exactly promise to come, but said he would let him 
know in due time, and Khandaswami remarked that the 
moral effect of the Nizam’s coming would be good, and 
would shut the mouths of people who spoke against the 
Minister.

I saw ’Azim ’All, the agent of the Mutahavvar Jang, 
the Jaglrdar of Muradpnr, who spoke of his master’s 
jdgir as being separate from the lb  warn; meaning, I 
suppose, that the jurisdiction, police and civil, pertained 
to the jdgirddr and not to the Iff warn, or general ad­
ministration of the country.

Sunday, July 21,sA—Colonel Mainwaring, Quarter- 
Master-General of the Subsidiary Force, stayed with 
me, and showed me on the map how from the remark­
able eastern bend of the river Manjhera, about thirty 
miles north-west of Bala ram, at a point near Lingam- 
pali, a canal might be conducted to water Baliiram, 
Trimalgiri and Secunderabad.

M onday, July 22nd.— I took a small party of ladies
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and gentlemen to visit the rock of Mul Ali, a sacred 
Muhammadan shrine about three miles from .Balaram.
At the shrine itself was an Arab guard, belonging to 
the force of Jama’dar Abdullah bin Shams, in the im­
mediate service of the Nizam. The men seemed shy at 
first and surprised to see me, but they really were civil 
enough, and their dims, or subordinate native officer, 
was a good-looking man. Some of them were real 
Arabs, and some were country-born} some had been a 
long time in the Deccan, and others had only been 
there a year or two. This would seem to show that, 
after all, Arabs were still from time to time imported 
into India for the Nizam’s service.

I then saw the tomb and surrounding garden of 
Chandaji, who appears to have been a celebrated dancing- 
girl at the Hyderabad Court, and to have died in the 
reign of the Nizam Sikandar Jah, leaving vast wealth 
This all escheated to the Nizam, who, however, refused 
to be the residuary legatee of a courtesan, and the 
avaricious old Minister Chandu Dal took it for the 
secret service department of his government. The 
woman Chanda, they said, was very handsome moon­
faced—and styled Mahalakba; was educated, and used to 
dance, not only before the Nizam, but before the Peshwa 
at Poona, and also the Bhonsla Baja at Nagpur, receiving 
always immense presents. They added, that there had 
been a difficulty in preventing the Nizam from placing 
her in his harem with some sort of marriage cere­
mony ; that she was treated with high consideration, 
outriders accompanying her when she went out, and
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fore what was the use of talking about satisfactory 
arrangements ? Nothing of the kind was possible in 
these times. The Sabir Jang admitted all this, merely 
adding that he was most fully aware that the Nizam’s 
Government coukl not do without the Contingent. 
This he said emphatically. He remarked, however, 
that before the last treaty the expenditure on it by the 
British Government had been on an extravagant scale. 
He then asked me to return the draft, marking the 
passages which I  would recommend to be omitted. 
This I said I would do.

After dinner the conversation turned on various 
subjects. The Minister spoke of the anxiety felt on 
account of the monsoon rains hanging off so much ; 
adding that to the north and west the accounts were 
good, but not so to the east and south.

He said he hoped that the Nizam would come to 
the Bi’smi’llali ceremony, but that there had been a 
message to inquire whether he had told the ^Resident 
that the Nizam would attend ?

I asked him why the Nizam delayed to give an 
answer about the Vikaru’l-TJmara ? He said that pro­
bably His Highness rather liked that the Yikaru’l- 
TJmara should remain in seclusion, for thereby he was 
kept altogether apart from the Minister, and that the 
Nizam was constantly afraid lest the Minister should 
combine with the Shamsu’l-IJmara party ! I pointed 
out the absurdity of the idea, which the Minister ad­
mitted, saying that it was just like the suspiciousness 
of the Nizam and the absurdity of the Hyderabad people.



On some further conversation occurring, the Minister 
told me that the Nizam and the Court wished to keep 
the Eesident as unacquainted as possible with the 
Muhammadan nobility of the country. I again pointed 
out the absurdity of the notion, but I rather feared that 
the Minister seemed to think that it was reasonable !

He said lastly, that he had begun to work the com­
mittee for the settlement of the debts of the Nizam’s 
Government.

It was near midnight when I left the Minister’s 
house to return home.

Saturday, July 2/7//.—I  received a visit from Agha 
Muhammad Shustrx, the President of the Majlis, who 
informed me that they had proved some forty cases 
of bribery against the Nazim Jang, the e.x-ta’lulcddr 
of Warangal ; but that it was believed that the Nizam 
would try to save the man from being punished. I 
told him to do his duty, on the assumption that the 
Nizam would do his also when the time came.

I  had a letter from the Minister to say that he had 
commenced a system of Forest Conservancy.

I  sent back the draft reply to the Secretary of State* 
to the Minister with amendments.

S unday, July 28///.—In the afternoon I had a visit 
from the Mukaddam Jang, son of the Saifu’ddaula, alias 
’Abdullah bin ’Ali, the great Arab Jama’dar. The father 
was very old, half blind, and seldom able to go out, but 
was still very influential. The son, whose Arab name 
was Muhsin bin ’Abdullah, was a pure Arab, so he

*  See above on the preceding page.
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said:— at least his mother, as well as his father, were 
from Arabia. I avoided politics and chiefly talked to 
him on matters of no consequence. He was not a bad 
looking man, of youngish middle-age. On taking leave 
he professed the willingness and obedience of his 
father, himself, and his party to the Nizam’s Govern­
ment.

M onday, July 29th.—Early in the morning I sent 
the Second Assistant to explain verbally to the Minister 
that I still hoped that the Nizam’s Government would 
give me every fair opportunity of becoming acquainted 
with Muhammadan nobility and gentry of the country.
The Minister premised that this should be done. I  was 
by no means sure, however, that it would, for this was the 
one, and so far the only, point on which 1 was dissatis­
fied with the Salar Jang, It is a piece of traditionarily 
bad policy to keep the Resident secluded and in the 
dark as regards the real character, individually and 
collectively, of the upper classes. I feared that the 
Salar Jang either gave in to the prejudice, or else con­
curred in it.

Later in the day I got a note from the Minister to 
say that, on consideration, he thought he would not 
send any reply at all to the Government of India, and 
would cancel the draft altogether.

T uesday, July ?D lh.—I spent the day at Sarvanagar, 
a place belonging to the Minister about four miles from 
the Residency, where I  was attended by Khandaswami, 
a mansabddr, and one of his principal servants, as above 
mentioned. This place, not far from the hill on which
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stood Eaymond’s tomb,* bad long been a favourite 
resort of the successive Ministers of the Nizam, and 
former Nizams had also stayed there for a few days, a 
palace of theirs being still kept up.

In the afternoon 1 went out to Sahibnagar, a place 
some four miles further on, where was a summer-house 
of the Minister. Also a deserted indigo factory, a 
concern got up some years previously by the Ogilvy 
family in the service of the Minister. The speculation 
failed because the indigo plant, though not bad, was 
not found to grow well enough to make the thing pay.
I  also looked at some ruined buildings apparently never 
finished, which I was told were commenced by the 
Kutabshahi dynasty, who abandoned the place and 
moved to Golkonda, since so well known. .Kliandaswami 
said that Golkonda was occupied by Hindus before 
it was taken up by the Muhammadans.

■ W ednesday, July 31-s/.—Tor some days past there 
had been anxiety at Hyderabad about the monsoon 
rains, which had been scanty all through July, and 
which culminated on this day, as there was to be a new 
moon; the natives seeming very hopeful that the moon 
would bring rain. Towards that evening, sure enough, 
rain clouds did gather up !

An officer of ability and experience told me, as the 
result of his experience, that he was convinced that the 
object of the Minister in getting up the Eeformed 
Troops was to substitute them for the Contingent; that

* This is much venerated Toy the people of Hyderabad, who 
pronounce the name of Monsieur Raymond as Mussu Ham.
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this ultimate object would be veiled at present, and 
that the card would only be played as proper occasion 
might offer.

T hursday, A u g u st \ s t— O n  waking I  found it raining 
pretty hard, but the clouds cleared off towards n o o n ; 
a little rain, however, falling towards evening.

In the afternoon I had an interview with Faiz 
Muhammad, one of the Shamsu’l-Umara s tahikdars, 
who lived at Hyderabad, delegating the management 
of his districts to subordinates. He gave me a list of 
these subordinates, and I  remarked that botli their 
powers and their salaries seemed small. I  wrote to the 
Minister an account of this interview.

F riday, August 2 nd.— The Shamsu’l-Umara’s vaHl 
came to see me to-day, and I  again impressed on him the 
necessity of having proper arrangements made for the 
management of the districts in the interior. He said 
that his master was attending to this, and had obtained 
a copy of the rules in force in the districts immediately . 
under the Minister. I asked him if his master would 
attend the Bi’smi’llah ceremony at the Minister’s on 
or about the 20th August, and he said that all the 
Shamsu’l-Umara family would attend, if the Nizam 
went, but not otherwise.

In the afternoon I received a visit from the Bali- 
ramu’ddaula, a near relation of the Minister and already 
mentioned, who proved to be a polished man of long 
experience in the Deccan, recollecting the Residency 
since the time of Sydenham. He was reputed to be a 
man of open and amiable disposition, and of some his-
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torical lore respecting the history of the Deccan. I did 
not ask him much about politics in this our first in­
terview, but probably he did not trouble himself much 
about such affairs. He said that he enjoyed Ins jdgir 
in comfort under the shadow of the Nizam’s Govern- 

i ment, which was protected by the .British.
Saturday, August 3rd.—The rains came down well 

in the night, and the Musa near Hyderabad was in 
flood.

In the afternoon I  had an interview with Maulavt 
Jamalu’ddin, the Chief Judge of the Diwani (Civil) 
Court of Hyderabad. He was a Madrasi Muham­
madan once employed as a law officer in the Salem 
District, and he ought, therefore, to have been a com­
petent man. He said that the work was hard and the 
number of cases decided by his Court very great, and 
that for execution of decrees against influential persons, 
it had to rely on the Minister’s executive authority. 
Nevertheless, I gathered from him that decrees were 
sooner or later executed, and that even the Arab chiefs 
were not able to offer any open resistance to the Courts, 
though they might interpose delays passively. He said 
that the principal want was something of procedure 
and rules for proceedings. I  asked why this was not 
done, as the Minister was known to be favourable ; and 
he said that the only cause could be fear of exciting 
the displeasure of the Nizam, who disliked everything 
of the kind.

S unday, August 4th.— A despatch came in from a 
Lieutenant of the Eoyal Artillery, asking my leave to
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prosecute a suit in the Hyderabad Courts, as assignee 
under the will of one of the deceased widows of the late 
Wanparti Raja. .From the papers it w-as apparent that 
this Rani had some disputes with the other Ranis : 
that in order to carry her point she had been opening 
communications with various European gentlemen,—  
some in the service of the British Government, others 
.in the service of the Nizam—and that this was the 
old story of attempts being made to enlist “ European 
influence,” as the phrase goes at Hyderabad, I  deter­
mined that next day I would inform the Brigadier- 
■General at Secunderabad of the applicant’s conduct, 
that meanwhile I would warn him instantly to cease 
from interfering, and that I would tell the Minister 

j also. I understood on inquiry that the Minister bad- 
very properly resisted this attempted interference, and 
that he had warned the European officers in his service 

. accordingly. However, I felt that I should be better 
able to judge of the Artillery Lieutenant’s blameworthi­
ness when I received a reply from the General.

I  received a despatch from the Government of India 
saying that on the whole, the exclusion of the Yikaru’l- 
Umara from the Residency and from being received by 
the Resident had better be maintained. I informed 
the Minister thereon that I did not wish him to move 
any further in, the matter. I also rather inferred from 
the Nizam never having given the Minister any specific 
answer, that, contrary to expectation, His Highness 
did not now any longer wish this nobleman to be 
received.

N
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M onday, August nth.— Early in the morning, I  paid 

the Amir Kabir a, visit at his country gardens  ̂at the 
Jahiin Hama, where I was received by the Amir Kabir 
himself and his nephew the Basluru’ddaula.

The Amir Kabir looked much as usual—gentlemanly, 
cool-headed, sagacious, fairly disposed, and - weak 
physically. The Bashlru’ddaula was in good spirits, 
two sons having been recently born to him, and was 
particularly polite and attentive. I did not talk to 
them much about politics, merely pressing upon them 
the necessity of appointing good men to exercise au­
thority in the Pagah districts, and observing that I 
did not want them to introduce English regulations in 
particular, but merely those sound and practical prin­
ciples of Government which are common to all civilized 
nations. The Amir Kabir said that he quite acknow­
ledged these principles, and that his Mughal nation 
professed them too, though of late years they had been 
neglected. Still he would try to revive them! All 
this is, of course, only the way of promising, with scant 
performance, which these people have.

Among the Amir Kablr’s servants present was 
Muhammad Shukdr, one of the best known characters in 
Hyderabad, and supposed to he a great drawback on 
the otherwise good management oi the Amir Kabir, a 
great enemy of the Saldr dang, and an inveterate 
fomenter of intrigue. The man, though all smiles 
before me, looked the character given him.

On passing and repassing through the City I  was 
struck with the muddy, squalid character of the

7g Hyderabad.
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streets; qualities to be seen just then in full develop­
ment, as there had been heavy rain on the previous night. 
I should add that the view from the top of the Jahan. 
Nama terrace over the City and environs of Hyderabad 
looked lovely in the morning.

In the afternoon I  went, accompanied by Khanda- 
swami, who acted among other things as a sort of public- 
works manager to the Minister, to see the channel 
which leads past Golkonda to the Hussain Sagar Lake. 
I  was glad to see the canal filled to the brim with 
wafer fresh from the rains in the hills and flowing 
towards the lake.

T uesday, August Gth.— In the morning the Bah'ram- 
u’ddaula came by appointment to see the Residency 
house and grounds.

I  heard from the Minister to the effect that he would 
attend to my directions in re the Yikarul-Umara.

That day Khandaswami came to see me, and I  asked 
him, as an observer of events and much hr the confidence 
of the Minister, what he thought of the Yikarul- 
Umara s conduct during the late disturbance between 
the Nizam and the Minister. He said that the* 
VikaruT-Umara was at the bottom of it— not exactly- 
desiring himself to he Minister, hut intending this 
office for his son, Khurshed Jah, and that this was put 
a stop to by his elder brother, the Amir Kabir.

W ednesday, August 1th.— I  received a reply from the 
Minister, saying that the Nizam objected to sending the 
Mutahavvar Jang to see me, whom I had asked to see 
again, as I  had happened to know something o f him,

N 2
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in former days. But, because be happened to be one 
of the servants of the Nizam, being employed in the 
Sarf-i-Khas Districts, His Highness would not let him 
come, feeling jealous! This was a strong instance of 
the strange jealousy in the Nizam’s disposition. I 
determined, however, to see if I  could manage to 
overcome the objection, which was really unreasonable.

T hursday, August 8th.— I  heard a rumour o f  some 
slight gambling going on in the Balaram Mess, and set 
an inquiry on foot, quietly, with a view to stopping 
this at once, if it really existed.

About this time I heard an amusing story about the 
Bukhari maul am.* Calling on the First Assistant, Col. 
Stubbs, he said he was sick of judicial work at Hyder­
abad, and that he wished he could get back to Afghan­
istan and be employed as a spy, or anything in the 
secret line (posluda). This is just the Afghan cha­
racter !

F r id a y , August 9tf .— During the whole week I had 
been much occupied with the preparation of the Annual 
Administration Report for the Hyderabad Assigned 
Districts (Berar). Also in preparing an elaborate reply 
to some questions put by the Yiceroy in reference to 
the relative popularity of British and Native Buie, in 
reference to a speech in Parliament.

Saturday, August 10Hi.— I  had a visit from Ahmad 
’AH, the Chief Judge of the Appeal Court at Hyderabad, 
whom Ihe Minister believed to he hostile to his govern­
ment, and to be otherwise of an indifferent character.

* See journal of the 22nd April.
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He was a man of apparently open and pleasing manners, 
and was a native of IS unit, but bad lived all bis life at 
Hyderabad and bad entirely risen in the Judicial 
Department under the Minister, till at length be had 
got to the top of it. He seemed, before me, to be 
friendly to the Minister and even grateful; but such 
seeming cannot, of course, be relied on. lie  said that 
the Courts were fast improving; tiiat the Nizam did 
not thwart them, but supported them (rather a strange 
statement that!) ;■—that the only person who gave them 
real trouble was the Vikaru’l-Umara and his people; 
and that the Arabs gave them a little trouble, but 
not much.

I  also received a visit from a pensioned Native Officer 
of the Hyderabad Contingent, who said that it was gene­
rally believed that there, were great delays and arrears 
in the Courts of the City; that in one Court,— the 
Lesser Diwarii Court— there were said to be eight thou­
sand cases pending! ! 1 thought, however, that there
must he some mistake about that."''

S unday, August 11th.— I  received a letter from Sir 
G, Yule saying he quite agreed with me that the Nizam’s 
consent ought, if possible, to be obtained to the Minis­
ter’s making a tour into the interior, that he would ask 
the Governor-General to support me in the matter, and 
that he would write further.

M onday, August 12th.— I heard that there had been 
some play at Balaram for stakes rather more than the

* The real figures were, however, subsequently found to be 
6,938! I



officers could afford, and told the Officer Commanding 
the Station, demi-officially, that he would be held re­
sponsible for preventing anything of the kind recurring.

Keports having been received of certain men- of 
the 3rd Eegiment Infantry, Hyderabad Contingent, at 
Ilichpur, having been committed for trial for having 
been concerned in a robbery, I wrote to the Brigadier- 
General Commanding the force to know whether some­
thing ought not to be done to the native officers of the 
Eegiment, who seemed as a bcdy to have been very 
remiss.

T uesday, August 13th.—The Minister attended a 
musical performance at the Kesidency by the Secun­
derabad Amateur Choral Society, and was, I  have no 
doubt, much pleased with the music ! I  had not time 
to talk with him on political matters.

W ednesday, August 14 //j.— I was much occupied this 
day in preparing the Berur Administration Jieport.

I  received a visit from Haidar Beg, the police 
officer, who said that his jurisdiction had now been 
finally fixed satisfactorily; that although there were 
many small jdgus within Iris limits, his jurisdiction in 
them, especially in large cases was never disputed ; and 
that his work went on uninterruptedly.

Thursday, Avgust Volk.— I was much occupied this 
day in preparing my reply to the questions put by the 
Viceroy about the estimation in which British rule is 
held by the Natives.

I  went over the Chadargliat bazar all round the 
Eesidency, planning various municipal improvements,
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and ordering various reductions in the police establish­
ments.

F riday, August The Minister came to see me
by appointment, as I wanted to consult Sum as to the 
•reply I  should give to some general questions put by 
inn Governor-General regarding the estimation in which 
British Buie was held by the natives. I  particularly 
explained to him the points wherein I believed that the 
natives were apt to complain of British Buie, and he 
concurred in all these j and assured me that he had 
often heard these very points complained of. He also 
suggested a few others, which I  embodied in my report, 
citing his authority.

I  asked him about the Vikaru 1-TJmara, and he 
said that he thought he was still intriguing.

I  again asked him whether Khandaswami was right 
in supposing the Vikaru 1- U mara to be at the bottom 
of the late troubles; and he said that the real origin 
was the Nizam’s dissatisfaction at the Minister being 
made a K.C.S.I., and at the Extradition Treaty being 
proposed. He denied that the Nizam was inclined to 
shelter the Nazim Jang, the corrupt talukddr, from 
justice ; hut he said that the Nizam himself was the 
real cause of the tacit and indirect opposition met 
with, by the Courts of Justice.

Saturday, August \ lth .— I  had a visit from the 
Amir KabiYs vakil Fakhruddm, and I  complained to 
him of the delays in notifying the arrangements made 
for the civil administration in the districts of the 
Pagah jurisdiction near the line of Bail way.
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During the day I  finished my reply to the ques­
tions put by the Governor-General.

S unday, August ISth.— The reply came in from the 
Artillery Lieutenant, who tried to justify his inter­
ference, and, in answer to my question as to whether 
he had been induced to this by any valuable considera­
tion, he said he had not | but then he went on to say that 
ihe Rani had, unknown to him, bequeathed him a 
certain sum ! I regarded this as a serious matter 
touching British honour, and considered what steps 
to take.

In the afternoon Ibrahim JamaVhir came to see me, 
and said that his case in the City was being decided 
satisfactorily, and that it was before the Kazl and not 
before the Courts! It was not clear to me why a 
civil suit was taken away from the regular Courts and 
made overto the Kazl.

M onday, August, 19 /A — I  finished o ff the last parts o f  
the Berar Ad mis (ration Report.

Padamsl ISTainsl, the native banker, came to see me, 
and said that he had heard that the Minister was 
bringing up the accounts of the old debt of the Nizam s 
Government, and that the amount would be a crore 
(kardr) of rupees ! This must have been an intentional 
exaggeration. Alluding to Chandii Lai, this man said 
that that Minister had “ plundered the people, and then 
spent the proceeds in almsgiving!” A  tolerably sar­
castic remark !

I  ordered a letter to be addressed to the Minister, 
asking his views about the Artillery Lieutenant’s
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case, and let him see from the tone of my remarks that 
I was prepared to support his Government against 
illicit influence.

1 also heard from the Brigadier-General Commanding 
the Hyderabad Subsidiary Force, that he would remind 
all the Officers of the Force o f the standing orders 

' against their entering into any unauthorized communica­
tions with the "Nizam’s Minister or Officers.

T uesday, August 20/$.— I  received a letter from 
the Minister to say that the Nizam agreed as a special 
case and as a favour (!) to let the Mutaliavvar Jang 
come to see me, though His Highness objected as a 
general rule to let such persons see the ltesident. I  
doubted whether this was right on His Highness’s 
part, but as I  had told the Minister distinctly that I  
dissented from this idea, I  did nothing more just 
then.

I  wrote to the Minister, giving him a sketch of the 
Administration Report of the Deccan, which I  proposed 
sending to the Government of India according to their 
request.

I  also wrote to the Minister urging him to quietly 
commence improving the City of Hyderabad without 
offending Muhammadan prejudices, and warned him 
of the danger of epidemics arising from the filthy state 
of the City; especially if they should spread to the 
European troops.

W ednesday, August 21s/.— 1 received at last a visit 
from the Mutaliavvar Jang. He was a stout, good 
looking man of the regular Mughal build, and said that
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Ms father came from Shiraz to Hyderabad, and was 
then employed by the Nizam's Government as a 
ta’liikddr on a large scale; and that his own son 
was now employed as a tdluMnr under the Minister.
He himself had been sbnt to meet Mr. Busliby, 
the incoming Resident, in 1852, at Bezwara on 
the Masulipatam Boad, and Col. Davidson, when 
coming as Resident in 1856 at Sholapur. From 
what ho said about his son chafing under the new 
rules and system, I  saw just a trace of the regular 
Mughahu opposition to the Salar Jang. He spoke of 
the small pay now .allowed to a ia’luMdr, and of 
what seemed to him to be the fine percentages and per­
quisites allowed to tdlukddrs in former days. He 
seemed to quite enjoy the idea of the wealth and power 
which those men once possessed, without thinking of 
the abuses to which the system must give rise. He 
seemed quite to see the absurdity of the Nizam’s 
jealousy about liis visiting me.

T hursday, August 22 nd.— I  received a letter from the 
Minister saying that he would gladly furnish all the 
information required for ray Report on the Deccan. I  
had rather feared from his last conversation that he 
would hesitate to do this, for dread of his master the 
Nizam.

F riday, August 23rd.— I  received a letter giving me 
a very unsatisfactory account of the arrangements made 
by the Shamsu’l-TJmara for the civil jurisdiction in the 
Pagah Districts, seeming to show a desire on his part 
for evasion and delay. I  wrote to the Minister re-
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monstrating about tins, and distinctly repeating nry 
request for specific information.

Saturday, August 2.4tk,— I wrote to remonstrate with 
the Minister about the Arab Salih bin Akrabi not 
having left the City as ordered, as I learnt that he was 
still there.*

I  also sent an, Assistant to breakfast with the Minister 
and ask him with some particularity as to how far the 
present Nizam did, or did not, take any part in public 
affairs, in order that I  might answer a query put to me 
thereon demi-officially by the Governor-General.

S unday, August 25///.— I heard from Khandaswami 
that there was now good hope that the ISTizam would 
attend the Bi’smi’llab ceremony at the Minister’s, and 
that it was arranged that the latter should attend His 
Highness the following morning to convey the formal 
invitation. This seemed satisfactory.

M o n d a y , August 26///.— I heard in the morning that 
after all the Minister had n o t  gone to see the Nizam, 
and thence perceived some hitch must have arisen. And
then I heard from Lieut. Tweedie that it was known 
that the Nizam had at the eleventh hour decided not to 
attend the Bi’smi’Uah.

An Assistant also brought me the Minister s reply to 
the queries as to how far the Nizam himself discharged 
any public functions. The substance was, that the 
Nizam himself did no work or business in any shape v 
whatever, though he was always enquiring quietly about 
the Minister’s conduct of the administration, and by 

* See journal for 3rd July ; p. 153 above.
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verbal conversations exercising considerable influence 
and prestige. I  wrote to the Governor-General to this 
effect.

T uesday, August 27lit.—I  got a note from the 
Minister to say that the Nizam had finally decided 
not to attend the Bi’smi’llah ceremonies on the ground 
of ill-health. The Minister added that His Highness 
was so unwell that his mother had been sent for to 
nurse him !

I also had a visit from Ivhandaswami, who said that
Hthe Nizam, though ill, was not so ill as to be unable | 

to attend, and that His Highness had been going 
about during that very day among the extensive pre­
cincts of his palace. He said that what had really 
occurred was in this wise. Early on Monday morning 
the Nizam sent a message to the Minister through flip J  
vakil in the regular way, to the effect that he had 
dreamt that the Minister had come with all the troops 
to surround the palace, and had wanted to take him V, 
into custody for being an alchemist (kimiagar), and 
that there was a European in the crowd, on an ele­
phant, whose face was not distinguishable. The 
Minister sent a soothing reply, but after that the 
Nizam again sent a message to say that he would not 
come to the Bi’srni’llah, assigning no reason, except 
indisposition. Considering the confidential position f  
which Khandaswarni held about the Minister, I  had 
to assume this report to be authentic. It was doubt- I  
less one of those signs whereby the Nizam indicated 
dissatisfaction politically. {
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W ednesday , August 28th.— This was the day of the 
B i’smi’llah ceremony, and I sent the Minister a gigantic 
bouquet of flowers from the Residency gardens, to­
gether with a Persian letter couched in the usual florid 
terms of Oriental congratulation. The previous practice 
had been, I understood, to send flowers to the Minister 
in masses, from the Residency Gardens, without any 
particular arrangement of colours. This time, however,
I  had the flowers arranged so as to set off their 
colours, and had them surrounded with every kind of 
variegated leafage both from shrubs and creepers. This 
bouquet was sent in a painted tub, the sides of which 
were, however, concealed by the hanging leaves. It 
was very large, and it measured 7 ft. 3 in. in circum­
ference at the base, and 4 ft. 9 in. in height ! I  sent 
the Mir Munshx with it in charge to present it to the 
Minister.

T hursday, August 29tA.— In the morning I  received 
a flowery Persian letter from the Minister, returning 
thanks for the bouquet. Khandaswami also came to 
say that all the adherents o f the Minister were much 
gratified, because it showed that the Resident held the 
Minister in distinguished regard.

In the afternoon the Sbamsu’l-Umura, accompanied by 
his nephew the Basluru’ddaula, came in state to see the 
Residency Gardens. I  received them there and showed 
them over the grounds. The uncle showed much in­
terest in the plants, and walked about much,— insisting 
on doing so, to a greater extent than he is generally 
thought capable of. The nephew also seemed intelli-



<SL
gent and anxious to show wliat lie was made of,
I  took him to see the Residency Cemetery and 
shewed him the tombstones of distinguished persons : 
i.e, persons of note in Hyderabad polities, such as 
Mr. Sydenham, Sir Win, Rumbold, Mr. Bushby, 
Eric Sutherland, Hastings Palmer, and others. I 
found that he knew enough English to be able to 
decipher the inscriptions on the tombstones.

Friday, August 30th.—-Early in the morning I  sent 
Lieutenant Tweedie to accompany General Grant, Com­
manding the Hyderabad Subsidiary Force, on a visit 
to the Amir Kabir’s gardens at'the J ahan Hama Palace.
On that occasion the Amir Kabir quietly expressed to 
Lieut. Tweedie some apprehension about the Nizam’s 
health. His Highness, he said, was suffering from 
hydrocele, and would take no advice, and that he had 
urged His Highness to employ one of the Muham­
madan physicians from the Medical School, who would 
soon cure this complaint.

Saturday, August 31,v/.— I mentioned to Ivhamla- 
swami what I had heard of His Highness’s illness, and 
told him to do all he could with the Minister to get the 
Nizam to accept competent medical advice; hut that 
such suggestion must be cautiously tendered, on account 
of the suspicious disposition of the Nizam.

I  had a visit from Govind Rao, a confidential servant 
of the Minister, and I asked him why the Nizam bad 
not come to the Bi’smi’llah, and he said that the illness 
was only an excuse; that His Highness was not too 
ill to come; that if His Highness had been well, he
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would still have given some excuse; and that the real 
reason was political dissatisfaction at the reforms intro­
duced by the Minister. He said that this was the 
belief of the Minister’s friends and adherents.

Sunday, September 1 si.— A native officer formerly 
in the Hyderabad Contingent, but then in the service 
of the Minister, to whom he was related, came to see 
me. He was a travelled man and had been to Baghdad 
and parts of Arabia. I  asked him what cause was 
assigned in the City for the non-attendance of the Nizam 
at the Bi’smi’llah; and he said that popular opinion 
pointed to the Nizam's dissatisfaction at the Courts of 
Justice being organised in the manner they were, at so 
many foreigners being employed, at the Muhammadan 
nobility being made to obey the law, and at grain not 
having been made cheap: also that the people supposed 
that th© rapture of last spring had been healed up only on 
the Minister having made specific promises to attend 
to those things, which promises had not been fulfilled.
He added that the City people said that the Amir 
Kahlr’s visit to the gardens on Thursday had been a 
pretext only ; and that he had really come to the Itesi- 
dency on a political mission from the Nizam !

There was a heavy fall o f rain during the day 
quite the best and most propitious we had had all the 
season.

Monday, September 2n d— I wrote to the Governor- 
General, asking him whether or not l should ask the 
Nizam to relax the existing restriction on the Minister’s 
going out on tours into the interior of the country. I  ex-
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plained the pros and cons -.-—the pros being the great 
advantage these form to the administration and to the 
country : the cons being the difficulty of inducing the 
Nizam to agree.

I  heard from the Minister to say that he had suc­
ceeded in releasing the Nizam’s great diamond and 
other jewels from pawn with the native bankers, and 
had sent them to the Nizam, who had expressed himself 
pleased. I  wrote to the Minister congratulating him 
on this financial result.

T uesday, September 3rd.— In the afternoon I  went 
accompanied by Khandaswami to see the feeder canal 
enter the Hussain Sagar Lake. The water was rushing 
in merrily, and the lake had risen three feet within 
the three previous days.

Coming home we passed a grove and garden, regard­
ing which Khandaswami told me the following story.
It belonged to Balmukand, well known in Hyderabad 
as one of the most influential and unprincipled of the 
officials of the evil times, and when he died his son in­
herited his property. The Nizam’s advisers told His 
Highness that the father must have made an immense. O
fortune during his long tenure of office; and that the 
son ought now, on succeeding, to pay up a large sum to 
him. The man was accordingly called on to pay, hut 
he either would not, or could not, do so. Thereon Arabs 
were sent to sit upon him and worry him. He fell into 
despair and killed himself and his son. Thus he died 
childless, and this grove and garden lapsed to the Nizam 
to whom it then belonged; but Khandaswami said
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that the Nizam was sometimes troubled with the recol­
lection of the affair, and that Bahmikand’s son was sup­
posed to have been turned into a wizard, or devil, who 
would come some day to carry His Highness away!

W e d n e s d a y , September 4 M .— I  went early in the 
morning to see the feeder-canal of the Hussain Sasrar 
Lake, as it passed near Golkonda, and found it full and 
(lowing. After that I went, accompanied by Klmnda- 
swarni, to see an old tank, called the Dnig TaMo, and 
an aqueduct which used in old times to supply water to 
the citadel of Golkonda, and stayed the day at the well- 
known tombs of the kings, which I  had not seen since 
1861.

I met a relation of the Minister, an agreeable con- 
versible man, who was staying there for a change of 
air. He said that the Nizam’s servants were neglecting 
the gardens and grounds round the tombs, which seemed 
but too true, and I  asked Khandaswami to speak to the 
Minister on the subject. The matter was a difficult 
one, however, as the place was looked after, not by the 
Governor, t.e., the Minister, but by the Nizam’s esta­
blishment personally.

Tn conversation Khandaswami told me that the 
Minister had hesitated for some time about sending 
back the jewels to the Nizam, for fear of their being- 
given away to some unworthy person ; but that lately 
His Highness had become more careful, and that my 
note had roused the Minister’s attention to the subject. 
Khandaswami added, that when the Nizam received the 
jewels he expressed no satisfaction at his Minister’s
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good conduct. The Minister, on hearing this, merely 
said that he had done his duty, and that he could only 
hope that His Highness was satisfied.

T hursday, September bib.— I heard from the Minister 
about the Pagah jurisdiction. He sent a list of the 
tdlakddrs and deputy taluMdrs appointed by the 
Shamsu’ l-Umard and the Yikaru’l-Umara, saying that 
if I  approved of it demi-officially, he would send it up 
officially. I  wrote hack to say that the list would do 
all right, and begged that, with certain amendments, 
it might be submitted officially. I  thought in my 
own mind, that if I  could only get this done it would 
he a great point gained, as being a lever whereby I  
could apply moral force for the good management of 
the Pagah. districts,

F riday, September (bth.— I  heard from the Minister 
that the Arab Salih bin ’Akrabi, above mentioned, bad 
departed from Hyderabad as ordered.

I  heard from him further about the exploration of 
the Upper Godavari within the Nizam’s Dominions. 
He seemed afraid of a measure committing his Govern­
ment to the undertaking of important irrigation works, 
but seemed willing enough to do anything, so long 
as it was in a small way.

Saturday, September 1th.— In  the afternoon Bhagwan 
Das, a very clever and intelligent Native Banker, came 
to see me, and I asked why it was that the Nizam had 
not attended the Bi’smi’llah. He gave exactly the 
same account as those which 1 have already recorded 
— namely, the popular belief that the Nizam was dis-
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pleased with the Minister for establishing Courts of 
Justice, for employing foreigners, for refusing to inter­
fere in the price of grain, and the like. He was 
himself convinced that the Nizam was not ill-disposed, 
but was only misled by the interested representations 
of those about him— for instance, those who hated the 
Courts of Justice, not from any abstract regard fox- 
justice and injustice, but from a fear of the restraint 
which such institutions would impose on their own 
proceedings, would whisper in the Nizam's ear that the 
Courts failed in rendering justice and often actively 
caused injustice. He added that the non-attendance 
of His Highness at the Bi’smi’llah thoroughly con­
firmed the popular belief that the Nizam in his heart 
disliked the Minister.

S unday, September 8 th.—Khandaswami came to see 
me in the morning, and said that the Minister believed 
that the Nizam was now determined to adopt the 
treatment of the Muhammadans, who had been edu­
cated in the Medical School. In reference to my pre­
vious remark to him,* about the suspiciousness of the 
Nizam, he said the Minister had remarked that this 
suspiciousness only extended to political matters, but 
did not so much affect their private relations, and that 
he could offer to the Nizam advice upon private matters 
of this kind without reserve. He also said that the 
Hussain Sagar Lake had risen five feet within the 
previous week.

A  native banker also called, who told me that the
* See journal for 31st August, above p. 190.
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accounts of the harvest were good everywhere, and 
that even man\' of the tanks liad filled.

M onday, September 9tit,— A confidential servant of 
the Mutahavvar Jang came, who said that his master 
was particularly pleased with the interview he had had 
with me ; adding that he was well aware of the absurd 
difficulties raised by the Nizam in the matter.

T uesday, September 1 (Wo— When out riding in the 
morning I saw some of the Cavalry and Infantry 
of the. Minister’s Household Troops, which were 
quite distinct from the Keformed Troops. They were 
under the command of the Ghalib Jang, the Arab 
Jama’tlar.

In the morning Khan das warm came to explain that 
the Minister hesitated to accept my invitation to 
Balaram. He would come with pleasure for one day, 
because he could do that without asking the Nizam’s 
permission; but if he had to do more than that, he 
would he away from home all night, and for that he 
would have to ask his master’s permission, which he 
was unwilling to do, as during the recent rupture he 
had promised not to go out without His Highness’s 
permission, which would, he feared, be granted with 
difficulty— so much so, indeed, that the very asking 
for it would put His Highness’s hack up ! All this, of 
course, disclosed an extraordinary jealousy on the part 
of the Nizam, showing that His Highness kept, or 
wished to keep, his Minister in this respect in a 
state of childish thraldom. I pointed out the un­
reasonableness of it to Khandaswatni, and particularly
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referred to the old practice, whereby successive 
Ministers had been in the habit of visiting the 
Besident at Balaram.

In the afternoon a party of gentlemen, who were , 
staying with me, went to see the Minister’s sty’ le and 
gardens. He received them himself, and lior Ized them 

/-capitally; so they said.
'W ednesday, September 11M.— In the morning

Eusfcamji Yikaji, a talukddr, came to see me, introduced 
by the Minister. He bore the character of being one 
o f the best officials in the Nizam’s service, and spoke in 
high terms of the Minister, and lamented the impos­
sibility of reconciling the Nizam to him. He thought, 
however, that this ought to be possible. He went 
on to say that some of the people about the Minister 
rendered themselves unpopular with the Mughalai 
people, that is with the Muhammadan gentry. I 
asked which of them did so, and he said at last 
that Jamsetjee was one, and this no doubt was true, and 
that Mr. Charles, an Eurasian member of the Majlis, 
was another. He then went on to abuse somewhat the 
Majlis, the other ta’lukddrs, Gro viral Rao of the Minister’s 
household, and almost everybody, as if he wished one 
to suppose that he, the speaker, was the only man in 
Hyderabad fit for anything ! He spoke English very 
well, having been married in England to an English 
lady*. On her death he went to England again and 
married her elder sister. This last marriage took place 
in Switzerland, on account of the “ deceased wife’s 
sister ”  difficulty in England. He was a Parsi, hut
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his children were being brought up in England by 
their mothers’ relations.

In the afternoon I went to see the School, or 
. Madrassa, kept by the Nizam's Government in. the 
City. It was really maintained, of course, by the 
influence of the Minister himself, and had its abode 
in a house immediately adjoining his. There were 
some 200 boys and young" men in it, and various 
languages were taught — English, Persian, Arabic, 
Telugu, Marathi The masters were well selected ; 
e.y., the English Master, Mr. Shatter, was an English­
man, the Persian and Arabic Masters, were regular 
maulavis from Persia, arid • so on. The English 
instruction was certainly very good and so was the 
Persian. In fact, the reading and the style of some of 
the Persian students was much better than can be 
ordinarily met with. The Minister was present at the 
examination, and after it I stayed to dinner with him.

After dinner I had a long conversation with him 
on political matters generally. He said that the 
Nizam’s dream on the morning of the Bi’smi’llah 
may have been a real dream, and that His Highness 
brooded over things, talking about them over night, 
and then naturally enough returning to them in his 
dreams. This might be true, but if meant as an ex­
planation, it only made the case rather worse, and the 
dream even more significant!

He then went on to say that he had just received 
an odd message from the Nizam, to the effect that 
the Shamsu’l-Umara, the Amir Kabir, had been ap~.



pointing “  big-turban ed men'’ to important posts in 
the Pagah jurisdiction. The Amir Kabir and the 
Vikarul-Umara had sent to say that they had received 
from His Highness a similar message, and had replied 
that .appointing big-turbaned men could only refer to 
Marathi pandits (Brahmans), who had no doubt been 
appointed to some places, but whose appointment was 
necessitated by the fact that they possessed the requisite 
qualifications. To this message, as usual, the Minister 
sent a soothing reply, and it appeared both to the 
Minister and to myself that it could only refer to 
the recent arrangements to appoint proper and quali­
fied persons to the Pagah jurisdiction. The Minister 
feared that the Amir Kabir and the Vdkani’l-Umara 
must have themselves been stirring up His Highness 
indirectly on the subject. This was likely enough, 
inasmuch as, though these personages nominally made 
the arrangements, they themselves hated all change, 
and if they did not themselves make mischief, such 
men as Muhammad Shukur and others about them would 
do so. So the Minister thought, and added, too, that 
men like Muhammad Shukur would fear that, if a 
proper administration of justice were effected, the 
next thing attempted might be a supervision of fiscal 
matters, which would stop peculations and embezzle­
ments by many people!

I  asked the Minister if it would be of any use my 
warning the Amir Kabir of the evil repute borne by 
Muhammad Shukur, and he seemed to think it would.

Referring to the favourable impression made on me
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by ^he Basbiru’ddaula, I  asked the Minister what lie 
thought about him, and he gave no particular answer.

He was evidently anxious about his master’s dis­
position, and repeatedly asked me whether I could 
suggest any mode whereby he could please him and 
yet do his duty.

.Recently one of the Minister’s servants had been 
caught robbing, and had been made over to the 
Criminal Courts; but every one had laughed at the 
proceeding-, saying that “  as it was a clear ease, why 
send the man to Court at all ? why not iron him at 
once and cast him into prison ? ” The Minister men­
tioned this as an instance of the difficulty of making 
the Mughaku people understand the need of judicial 
action.

I  asked him whether he thought there would be any 
difficulty in inflicting condign punishment on the great 
offender, the Nazim Jang, and he seemed confident that 
the Nizam would make no difficulty.

He thought also that His Highness would give no 
trouble about the appointment of sadr tdlukdan, as this 
measure was connected with the partial break up of the 
City Board (Majlis), and as be disliked the Board quite 
unreasonably. I saw, however, that the Minister had 
been making unnecessary hesitation and delay in bring­
ing out the important measures connected with the sadr 
tuluJcddrs and the head of the police. I  knew that I  
should learn in time what the cause of this was, 
but at the moment I attributed it to dread of his master.
Many days previously he had written as if he had
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done these things; that is, he wrote that he had 
made such and such, appointments, but that the men to 
fee appointed had not yet been informed !

I asked him about Govind Kao, and he said that he 
was a quiet inoffensive man.

T hursday, September 12/^.-—In the afternoon I  sent 
a gigantic bouquet of roses with a flowery Persian letter 
to the Nizam. Its dimensions were similar to the one 
which I  sent to the Minister on the occasion of the 
Bi’smi’llah.

I drafted a letter to the Governor-General of India, 
asking for an engineer to survey that portion of the 
Godavari, which lay within the Nizam’s Dominions, 
and sent the draft to the Minister, who expressed con­
currence.

F riday, September Vith.— In the morning a party of 
ladies and gentlemen went in my carriage to see the 
Minister’s stables.

In the forenoon I  visited the School for English and 
Eurasian boys at Chadarghat, and found it in a satis­
factory condition.

During the night and in the forenoon there was a 
good deal of rain, and in the afternoon the river came 
down in flood —  so much so that the Chadarghat 
cascade was almost obliterated. This was the heaviest 
flood so far seen during the season.

In the afternoon the Minister came by appointment 
to see the Residency Gardens, and as it was the regular 
night for throwing open the Gardens to the society of 
Chadarghat, the band of the Reformed Troops
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played. I  stowed the Minister all tin; plants and 
shrubs, and he seemed much interested. The same 
could not be said of the Arab Jama’dars who accom­
panied him. These were the son. o f ’Umar bin ’And or 
the Barak Jang, the son of ’Abdullah bin ’Ah’ or the 
Saifu’ddaula, the Ghalib Jang, and several of their near 
relations and others.

The Minister dined with me afterwards, but I  had 
not much opportunity of talking to him about politics.
He said, however, that since his reply to the message 
about the “ big-turbaned men,” the Nizam had been 
silent, and this he seemed to think satisfactory.

Most of the officers of the Beformed Troops were 
present in the gardens.

Saturday, September 14/A— I  received a Persian 
letter from the Minister conveying the Nizam’s 
acknowledgments of the big bouquet of roses. Ivhantla- 
swami also came to say that His Highness had been 
much gratified, had sent for it into his seraglio, had 
shown it to the Begams, and had asked all manner of 
questions as to how it was put together.

Sunday, September 15Ih.— This being the day of 
clvihla ceremonies, that is, those on the fortieth day after 
the birth of Bushlru’ddaula’s two sons, in the family of 
the Amir Kabir, and a day of rejoicing for them, I 
sent an immense bouquet of flowers, of the same di­
mensions as those previously mentioned, together with 
a Persian letter.

In the afternoon Ibrahim Beg came to see me, and 
said that the common belief in the Cit}r was that the
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heavy flood in the river o f Friday had been caused by 
the bursting- of the dam of some tank higher up the 
river.

M onday, September Hh/h— Early in the morning I 
went, accompanied by Haidar Beg, the Minister’s Police 
Officer, to see various municipal improvements, which 
had been made in the neighbourhood of the Residency 
bazars*

In the forenoon I  received a letter from the Amir 
Kafir in Persian, sent by his own vakil, thanking me 
for the bouquet of flowers.

There was heavy rain all the afternoon and evening.
T uesday, September Ylth.— I got a telegraphic 

message from the Governor-General asking if the .Nizam 
would agree to a Madras Native Infantry Regiment 
from Secunderabad going to Sholapur in the Bombay 
Presidency, to relieve a Bombay Regiment required for 
the Abyssinian Expedition. I  also sent to the Minister 
to ask the Nizam about i t ; hut he first thought it was 
enough to ask him without referring to the Nizam. I  
would not agree, however, to this. A t nine o’clock I 
got the Minister’s answer, to say that the Nizam agreed 
to the regiment going to Sholapur.

In the afternoon I  went with Khandaswami to see 
the channel feeding the Hussain Sugar tank, and found 
it full of water'and running merrily.

W ednesday, September 18i/c— Early in the morning 
1 drove with the Minister and his nephew to Secunder­
abad. First we met the General and his Staff at the 
Public Rooms, where we showed the Minister the
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Library and the maps; then we took him to the 
General Hospital for European soldiers; then to the 
soldiers’ reading room ; then to the military prison, 
where we showed him both the cells and the prisoners, 
and explained to him the discipline, &c. We next took 
him through the interior of the barracks of the 21st 
Boyal North British Fusiliers, which were in beautiful 
order, Colonel. Iiobertson showing us over most kindly. 
After that we saw the regimental reading room, and 
then a class, under an instructor, went through gym­
nastic exercises, which showed great physical power in 
the men. The Minister and his attendants, especially 
the Arab chiefs, looked on quite edified. Lastly, we 
breakfasted with the Officers at their Mess, the band 
playing, &c.

After breakfast we went over the engines, machinery, 
and workshops of the Public Works Department, show­
ing the Minister and his party the immense logs sawn 
by steam, and all the elaborate carpentry done by the 
“ general joiner”  machine. After that we went over 
the new double-storied barracks then being built for 
the Artillery at North Trimalgiri, from the tops of 
which we saw a splendid view of the great cantonments 
of Trimalgiri. Thence we went on to the Kesidency 
at Balaram, which we reached at noon.

In the afternoon I  took the Minister in my carriage 
to see a short review of the Baliiram force (Hyderabad 
Contingent), and hewas particularly pleased atthe appear­
ance of the Cavalry. The setting sun shining over the 
green grassy plain and the glittering troops made a very
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pretty sight. After the review I  introduced to him 
the Native Officers— the European Officers he knew 
before. Then I drove him in my carriage through the 
Artillery lines and stables, and thence home by the 
town of Balaram to the Balaram Eesidency, where he 
dined with me, driving back after dinner to Hyderabad.
This must have been a hard day’s lionising for him, 
but I  could not prevail on him to stay another day 
quietly at Balaram. He seemed much pleased and 
diverted by all he had seen.

Khandaswami came to see me, and I  told him that 
very few native noblemen had had the advantage ot 
seeing the interior of the barracks of a first-rate Euro­
pean Regiment, as bis master had had during the day.

In the afternoon and in the evening I  had some con­
versation with the Minister about political matters.
He said that the Nizam had at first hesitated to give an 
immediate answer about the regiment going to Sholapur, 
hut, when pressed, gave an affirmative reply, adding 
that he should hold the Minister responsible that this 
was all right according to the Treaty.

The Minister seemed very anxious about the present 
temper of the Nizam, lamenting that it was impos­
sible to obtain his master’s confidence, and saying that 
this Nizam, though in many respects better than his 
father or grandfather, was yet more suspicious in tem­
perament than any of them; saying, too, that he was 
worse off in one respect than Chandil Lai, because that 
Minister had friends at Court and adherents even in 
the Nizam’s palace, whereas he had not a single friend
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anywhere about the Nizam, and indeed was prohibited 
by bis master from having anything to say to the 
Nizam’s people.

He then told me that the Diwani (Civil) Court at 
Hyderabad was not in good order, and was clogged 
with arrears; that countless claims were brought before 
it, because there was no expense and no stamps, &c.
I  asked him why he did not have stamps, and he said 
the difficulty was chiefly this:— that if a man laid a 
claim and got a decree there was no certainty that the 
decree would be executed, because, not only Avere indi­
viduals among the Nizam’s relations inclined to set 
themselves above the law, but also many others, such 
as the Arab Jama’dars and the Shamsii’ l-lJraara people 
were inclined to do the same. Therefore, he said he 
hesitated to have stamp laws. This was not, of course, 
a very conclusive reason; hut he went on to say that 
he still thought of having stamps as a reasonable source 
of revenue. In that case, however, he would have to 
ask the Nizam, which be did not relish, because His 
Highness, though appreciating the increase of revenue, 
would dislike this particular resource, simply because 
it savoured of the English.

In reference to the correspondence about cleansing 
the City of Hyderabad, he said the real difficulty con­
sisted in the opposition of the Kotwal, or head of the 
city police, avIio  hated improvement, and who, though 
appointed by the Minister looked up to the Nizam direct, 
and was really beyond the Minister’s authority. He pro­
mised, however, to do something in this matter, though
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here again the real difficulty was the Nizam. He added, 
that some years previously he had made an attempt to 
improve the City, which the Nizam resented and had 
never indeed forgiven.

I urged him to look a little sharp in bringing out 
the arrangements about the sadr talulcddrs and the new 
Police Department, and he promised to do so.

He said that the Yikar u ’1-Umara was perpetually 
asking by messages to get the ban removed.

T hursday, September 19tlu— I spent the day at 
JBalaram, accompanied by Lieut. Tweedie, who said that 
lie, too, had mentioned the Bashiru’ddaula to the 
Minister, who at once pricked up his ears. This struck 
me as odd, and as showing that, perhaps, the Minister 
was jealous of the Basluru’ddaula. In further conver­
sation it was clear to me that Lieutenant Tweedie had 
also learnt in various quarters, as I had done, to the 
effect that the Nizam was getting more and more sulky 
with his Minister.

F r id a y , September 20tk.— In the morning I  went 
with Major Price, the Chief Engineer, to inspect the 
new barracks being built for the Artillery at Trimalgiri.

In the afternoon I  received the native officers of the 
Contingent Troops at Balaram, and I asked them about 
reliefs. They admitted more frankly and fully than I  
should have expected the desirability of having these 
every three or four years, saying that the sepoy bene­
fited thereby, and was not at all troubled or put to 
undue expense if the reliefs did not take place oftener.

S a t u r d a y , September 21st.— In the afternoon I  went
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over the arsenal and magazine afc Secunderabad, and 
arranged with the General that the Minister should 
have an opportunity of seeing it.

A  native banker came to see me who said he had 
been at Secunderabad ever since its first establishment, 
and described the rapid growth of the place to me.

S unday, September 22nd.— The Salar Jang had ex­
pressed a desire to make a present to the soldiers of the 
21st Fusiliers, whose barracks he had visited. After 
consulting the General, I  replied that if he did anything 
in this way, it would be better to give some small 
present of books to the Soldiers’ Institute, which 
would be then available for the whole force.

I  saw Padamsi Nainsi, the native banker, who said 
that the accounts of the harvest and crops on all sides 
were good.

M onday, September 23rd.— I  received the Governor- 
General’s reply to my reference about the Minister’s 
going on tour, to the effect that, although this would 
be most beneficial to the country, yet, if the Nizam 
could not he got to agree to it without strong pressure, 
be could not well take any decided action. On this I  
determined not to move in the matter further, for I 
had no hope that the Nizam could he got to agree, by 
any persuasion which I could ordinarily use.

Sayyid ’All, a servant of the SharnsuT-Umara, came 
to see me. He had been under me at Nagpur, and I 
asked him whether there was any talk in the City 
about the Nizam being discontented with the Minister, 
lie-.said the rumours which have been mentioned as
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prevailing sines the Bi’smi’llah ceremony, had gained 
ground within the last ten days; but that the truth 
of the Nizam’s sentiments could not be known, and 
that these rumours were derived from the tales spread 
by the women about the palace, who were regularly 
paid for their information. He added, that the Nizam 
had held the A mir Ivabir as security for the Minister’s 
•good behaviour, and that His Highness was displeased 
with the Amir Ivabir as well. He went on to say that 
the V.ikaru’1- Umara was most anxious to get the ban of 
his exclusion from the Residency removed.

I saw Faiz Muhammad, who said that the reports of 
the harvest and crops were good.

In the evening I met Khandaswami, who told me it 
was reported in the City that the Nizam had refused to 
see the Amir Ivabir, which rather corroborated wliat 
Sayyid ’All said.

T uesday, September %Ath.— Early in the morning I 
rode out on a brief excursion to Farrukhnagar, about 
thirty miles on the Kara ill road. I passed through 
the City on my way, and near the Nizam’s Palace I  
was struck by the frightful amount of filth in the 
roads and streets, all which might have been easily 
cleared away at slight expense, without causing annoy­
ance to anyone and without offending any prejudice

I passed by Shamsabad and found the Amir IvabiVs 
people waiting there, but did not stop, and got to 
Farrukhnagar in time for breakfast. I  met one of the 
police officials employed under Haidar Beg, the Zila’dar, 
who said that he had a certain sort of jurisdiction in

r
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the jdgtrs, though sometimes the jdgvrdar was a sort 
of go-between and buffer; and that he was obliged 
to step more cautiously in the jdgirs than in the dis­
tricts directly under the Minister. He complained 
much of the Arabs, of whom there was a small party 
posted in Famiklmagai*, as being troublesome and 
disobedient.

Farrnkhnagar was in tlie j d g t r  of Raja Nurindar, the 
Peshkar or Deputy-Minister. The Raja’s naib, or 
deputy, met me on the road, and the townspeople re­
ceived me very politely. I  rested the day in a bower 
in a garden belonging to Azina ’All .Khan, which was 
tastefully fitted up. ’Azim A ll Khan was an agent 
of the Mutahavvar Jang, one of the Nizam’s tdluMdrs, 
and had his headquarters at Muiahidpur some miles off’. 
The garden at Farrnkhnagar was his private property.

In the afternoon I went to see a large tank in the 
neighbourhood, which I found half full only.

At night I  slept in the traveller’s bungalow on the 
high road at Farrukhnagar.

W edkesday, S eptem ber 25ik .—Early in the morning 
I  went to see the extensive temples built by Raja Narin- 
dar’s father, Bala Prashad, a well-known man in Hydera­
bad politics and the son of the Minister Chandu Bah As 
the family were originally Sikh Khatris of the Panjab, 
there were, of course, Sikh as well as Hindu priests in 
the temples.

I  then went to see a sacred hill in the neighbour­
hood, called Ramesarkuta. From thence one could see 
a large tract of country, in which, as elsewhere, the
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tallies seemed only half fall. The amount o f culturable 
waste, though dotted over with, villages, and with 
groves of tamarinds, seemed immense— thousands and 
thousands of acres ! I asked why the country was not 
more cultivated; and they admitted that no doubt most 
of the upland ground of the undulations (chalk a,) was 
culturable and would grow millets and pulses [punas), 
though rice could only he grown in the hollows watered 
by tanks. They said that occasionally there was some 
increase of cultivation.

’Azina ’All Khan told me in conversation that the 
Nizam had made over the Sarf-i-Khas ta'luka of Muja- 
hidpur to the Mutahawar Jang, who in his turn had 
made it over to him as deputy; that he really managed 
the taluka and represented the Civil Government therein, 
deciding disputes, arresting criminals, &c.; that ho was 
frequently in the ta’luka ; that, however, for a large part 
of the year he lived in the City, some thirty miles off; that 
he kept a sub-deputy on the spot for petty cases % hut 
that in every serious case he was obliged to go himself to 
the spot. This roundabout arrangement did not sound 
good, but might have worked pretty well, as Azina 
’Ah'Khan was an active and practical man. He said 
that he had had a dispute with the Minister some years 
ago about the misconduct of a certain Zainmdar, named 
Ramesar Rao, but he admitted generally the Minister’s 
merits; adding, however, his belief that sooner or 
later there must be a rupture between the Nizam and 
the Minister.

I  stayed the day in the summer-house in the garden,
p 2



and. left in the afternoon, returning twenty miles to 
Shamsabad, which. I  reached in the evening. I  was 
received hy Muhammad Shukiir on the part of the 
Slnimsu’l-Umara. The town was illuminated, the 
leading native bankers were introduced to me, and T 
was put up most hospitably in the Amir Kaffir's own 
house.

T hursday, September 2C/A— Early in the morning 
I  went out with Muhammad Shukur and other officials 
of the Amir Kaffir to look round the town, which is a 
walled one. It was originally built with four streets 
running out at right angles from the centre, and was 
tolerably clean.

After that I rode into Hyderabad and returned to 
the Presidency, on my way stopping to look at the 
tombs of the Shamsu’l-Umara family. I noticed es­
pecially those of the Tegh Jang, the first Shamsu’l- 
Umara, and of the one who had died recently.

That morning at Shamsabad I took the opportunity 
-of speaking to Muhammad ShuMr, who seemed just 
then inclined to listen to me, as he is reputed to he 
■an intriguing character very hostile to the Minister. I 
•explained to him that the Pagah jurisdictions near the 
line of Kailway must be properly managed; other­
wise cases would be always arising and there would 
be endless complaints. This he apparently admitted.
I also explained that there was no intention of un­
necessary interference, and that there was no other 
object in view save the honour and good name of the 
Amir Kabir’s administration. He seemed to acknow-
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ledge all tins, and remarked that the Amir Kabir had 
submitted a programme of improved arrangements, 
which he was prepared to carry out immediately they 
were approved.

On returning to the Besidency I  received a visit from 
Dr. "Wyndowe, the new Besidency Surgeon, who had 
just joined.

Also Mr. Vere, the Deputy Commissioner of Customs, 
came to stay with me for a few days, and to take 
orders in detail about the new salt customs line to be 
carried round the Assigned Districts (Berar).

F riday , September 'IV h.— Kb and as vv a mi came to see 
me, and I  told him to tell the Minister what I had 
seen of the remediable dirt of the City.

He said that no unpleasant message from the 
Nizam had been received by the Minister, but that 
.His Highness had been trying to frame excuses for his 
conduct in not receiving the Minister on the plea of 
ill-health. It seemed certain that some aggravations of 
the ailment (hydrocele) had been apparent o f late, and 
that the Nizam still hesitated to adopt any proper 
remedy, refusing the advice of Muhammadan prac­
titioners trained in the Medical School. His Highness, 
it seemed, complained a good deal of physical distress 
just then.

I wrote a long letter to the Governor-General, the 
burden of which was that if lie wished the Nizam 
to preserve anything of independence, we must try to 
induce him to make his government a good one; and 
that i f  left to himself His Highness would bring him-
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self to grief and ultimately imperil his own inde­
pendence.

I saw Lieut. Tweedie, who told me that in the 
City the reports still gained ground to the effect that ■ 
the iSTizam was desirous of bringing on a rupture with 
the Minister. I  could not, however, so far discover any 
signs of it.

Saturday, September 28/L— Early in the morning I 
went with Major Thomas to see the logs of. rosewood 
{sMsham) and babul (acacia arabicd), belonging to his 
department, about 220 in number, placed in a tank 
to be seasoned, and understood that they all came 
from the forests in the Warangal district, and the 
neighbourhood of the Pakhal Lake. The Serjeant in 
charge told me that in the neighbourhood of that 
lake there were beautiful forests of slm/tam and babul 
trees, which might easily he preserved, and were at 
present being cut in the most wasteful manner. I  
explained that the Minister was establishing a system 
of forest conservancy. The serjeant also said that in 
the spring and summer season he and his party found 
the neighbourhood of the lake quite free from fever.
1 afterwards wrote to the Minister to say what I  had 
heard about the want of forest conservancy in the 
Paklml Forests.

1 heard from the General that orders had been re­
ceived irom the Military Department about the move of 
the 108th Kegiment to Poona.

The Minister’s official letter was received, sending 
the lists of the Pagah tdlukddrs, and asking if I
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thought it all right. I  replied in the affirmative, 
and that, if  the Shamsu’ l-Umara and his brother only 
acted up to the arrangement there would be great im­
provement in the management of the Pagah districts.

I  wrote to the Governor-General explaining about 
the real position of the Arabs in the Hyderabad City 
and Country, also about the state and prospects of the 
Nizam’s Reformed Troops.

In the afternoon there fell heavy rain, which seemed 
to be either the ending of the south-west, or the 
beginning o f the north-east monsoon.

Sunday, September 29//o— Heavy rain, two inches, 
fell in the forenoon, being apparently the first sign of 
the north-east monsoon.

I received a visit from Mirza ’All, a physician edu­
cated in the Ohadarghat Medical School. He was a 
native o f Shiraz, and 1 asked him what he supposed 
was really the matter with the Nizam. He said he 
had not seen the Nizam, but that he believed that His 
Highness was suffering from hydrocele with various 
aggravations, which could, if properly treated, be 
certainly cured ; but which, if ignorantly treated as at 
present, would cause great inconvenience and ultimately 
render His Highness unable to walk about. He added, 
that Ifis Highness would not consult any of the 
medical officers employed under the Minister, for fear 
of treachery; and that in this respect the suspicious­
ness of His Highness was almost beyond belief.

Hassan Raza’, a judge of the Paujdari (Criminal)
Court in Hyderabad, came to see me, and said that the
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Diwum (Civil) Court was supposed to be heavily |t* 
arrears with its work, from which incubus it would 
never recover, unless some special arrangement were 
made.

M onday, September 3Q/A— Early in the morning I 
took the Minister to seethe arsenal at .Secunderabad. 
He was accompanied by several of his native officers, 
and, among others, by the Arab Chiefs, the Glialib 
Jang and the Barak Jang. They were all shown over 
the arsenal, the stores, the gun-carriage shed, the 
armoury, and the workshops, and seemed much inter­
ested. The gun-carriage shed and the armoury in 
particular presented a fine spectacle, and I hoped that 
the moral effect on the Arab Chiefs of seeing all this 
material was good.

After that we breakfasted witli General Grant, and 
returned to the Residency by noon.

There was heavy rain during the day, apparently 
pertaining to the north-east monsoon.

Before the Minister left the Residency I  had a long- 
conversation with him about political affairs, and lie 
said that the Nizam was still suspicious, and had re­
cently sent a message to know about three things 
namely, was there a fort being erected in Secunderabad ?
M t h e r e  a letter for the Nizam coming from the 
Governor-General? Was it the fact that the Minister 
had represented to the Resident that His Highness the 
Nizam was illiterate, &c. ? To this the Minister said 
that he had replied as follows firstly, that only a 
sort of mud entrenchment was being put up round the-
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barracks, similar to what had been raised up during 
1857 ; secondly, that he had no knowledge whatever 
of any Marita from the Governor-General being on its 
w ay: thirdly, that he had never represented to the 
Resident that the Nizam was unfit, but that on the 
contrary the Resident had frequently expressed himself 
to the effect that the present Nizam appeared to be 
much better than either his father or grandfather had 
been. On receiving these assurances His Highness 
seemed much gratified, and continued talking for some 
time to the vakil, the Tahniyat Yaru’ddaula.

The Minister seemed on the whole to he much better 
satisfied in respect to his master’s disposition than he 
had been for some little time past.

I  then told the Minister that it was commonly re­
ported that the Nizam was dissatisfied with the Courts 
of Justice, especially with the Diwani, which was said 
to be overwhelmed with arrears. He replied that this 
Court had several thousands of cases in arrear, and that 
he would appoint a special officer to clear them off.

I  spoke to him about the expediency o f bringing out 
the orders soon about the sadr tdlukddrs, and of ob­
taining the Nizam’s sanction to the measure in general 
terms. This he said lie would do, and he seemed san­
guine that the Nizam would offer no objection. My 
impression, however, at that moment was that there 
was, for some reason or other, a certain degree of vacil­
lation and dilatoriness about the Minister’s proceedings 
in that matter.

T uesday, O c to b e r  1 s t.— ’AbduT-Karim, the Ta’lukdar
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of Nalgihada, came to see me. He was of an old jm/trddr 
family in the Gantur, now Kistna, district of Madras, 
when it was under the Nizam, and was a Muhammadan 
gentleman of refined manners and superior education.
He gave me a great account of the tanks in his dis­
trict, saying that many had been repaired to the great 
improvement of the revenue, hut that many more 
might be repaired with advantage. He complained of 
the want of money and of professional resources for 
the repair of tanks, and described the business 
which devolved on him as head of the district as very 
heavy.

He then spoke with greater frankness than might have 
been expected about the Nizam’s Government, and said 
that he believed, and that others believed, that the 
only chance which the Nizam’s Government had of 
keeping its independence lay in its being a good Govern­
ment. I f  it became a bad one, it would only follow 
the fate of Mysore and Qudh : if it remained as good as 
at present, the British Government would leave it alone.
He condemned the Majlis-i-Malguzari at Hyderabad 
as inefficient. He also said that during the recent 
disagreement between the Nizam and the Minister there 
was no great alarm among the ryots, but that the upper 
classes rejoiced.

In the evening I wrote to the Minister suggesting 
that he should send Mirza Musa, or some such person 
belonging to his educational department, on a tour of 
inspection in the interior, and establish at Hyderabad 
a School of Engineering to teach the Mughal youth
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a little practical science, so that they might serve 
under the 'Nizam’s Government as Civil Engineers.

"W ednesday , October '2nd.-— I  went earl}' in the 
morning, accompanied by a party of ladies and gentle­
men, to visit the Mir ’Alain Lake.

Passing* on an elephant through the City I  was 
again struck with the accumulations of filth and water, 
and the natural facilities which existed for clearing 
these away.

Arriving at the lake, we were met by the Minister 
in his little steam-boat, named the Deccan, on which he 
had a band playing. In this we steamed about the 
lake, admiring the massive dam and the granite rocky 
hillock and islands. The lake, however, was not quite 
full, and did not yet overtop the dam and cause a 
sort of cascade, as is usual at this season. W e then 
breakfasted in tents on the bank, the Nizam’s troops, the 
horsemen, equipages, &c., making a very pretty scene.

We spent the day there, and in the afternoon again 
went on board the steamer to go about the lake, and 
then once more mounted on elephants on our way 
hack towards the City. On the road we stopped to 
see a fine garden and summer-house belonging to the 
Arab Chief, the Ghalib fang, the chief himself lionis­
ing the party about the place with more politeness 
than was to be expected of an Arab.

Lastly, by evening and dusk we passed through the 
City on our way back to the Minister’s house. The long 
procession of elephants, the torchlights, and the crowd, 
altogether made a peculiar and even beautiful scene.
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After dark, too, at that hour the streets are crowded, 
the usual squalor of the City is less perceptible, and 
those buildings which are fine stand out in stronger 
relief. All the way back from the Minister’s house we 
were attended by a vast crowd, very orderly and respect­
ful in its demeanour. The gentlemen of the party, 
including General Grant, commanding the Subsidiary 
Force at Secunderabad, seemed struck at the improved 
demeanour of the city crowd, and all were struck with 
the excellence of the Minister’s hospitality at the Lake.

In the evening we dined with the Minister, and 
returned to the Residency.

During the day I  had off and on a good deal of con­
versation with the Minister. He warmly approved 
of the proposal to have a school of engineering at 
Hyderabad, and seemed to appreciate the advantages 
even more strongly than I did, and declared himself 
much obliged (;mushkur) by the suggestion. He also 
said he would send Mirza Musa on a tour of educational 
inspection.

1 asked him whether he would object to any British 
money being spent on the road between Hyderabad 
and .Kulbarga; and he said his Government would object, 
but that if any more surplus revenue from Berar should 
be given over, some of that might be so spent.

I asked him how cases of property came to be tried 
by the City Kazl; and he said that this only occurred 
when the cases related to the Muhammadan law of in­
heritance, to marriage, divorce, and the like.

In the evening I spoke to him seriously about the
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filth of the City, pointing out how easily it might be 
cleansed, and this, too, without offending any pre­
judice or interfering with any one. He admitted this, 
saying “ ho said a ”  and declared he would see to it. I  
complimented him on the improved demeanour of the 
Arabs, and suggested that he should urge the Arab 
Chiefs to teach their men the advantages of civility,

T hursday, October 3rd.— Rain fell again in the 
afternoon, altogether making up four or five inches 
since the 30th September, when the north-east mon­
soon began to fall. This, it was hoped, would be 
beneficial to the tanks.

F r id a y , October 4th.— In the morning I met Haidar 
Beg, the Minister’s police officer for the environs of 
the City, and expressed to him my satisfaction at the 
small return of heinous crime for some months past.

I  saw Rustamji, the idlukdor mentioned in the journal 
entry for 11th September. He had been recently em­
ployed by the Minister in arranging the details lor the 
new sadr la’lukddns, and said that he thought the four 
divisions, or sadr ia’lukddns, would not suffice for so large 
a country as the Deccan. Fie also thought that the 
pay which the Minister intended to allot to the sadr 
ia'lukddrs would not prove sufficient. In this, how­
ever, I feared he had an eye for his own interest, for 
he expected to get one of the sadr ta’lukddns for 
himself! Still he thought the new arrangement 
would be a great improvement over the present plan 
o f the Majlis-i-Malguzarf, which he condemned as in­
efficient.
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I saw Govind Kao of the Minister’s household, who 
told me an amusing story about the .Nizam, to the effect 
that His Highness was usually afraid to eat the food 
that had been expressly prepared for him, but was in 
the habit of going about at meal time from one lady’s 
apartment to another, and eating from her dish ! In 
this way His Highness thought to secure himself from 
the risk of being poisoned.

I  sent to the Nizam an enormous bunch of Clinch' 
(Madras) plaintains, having upwards of one hundred 
plaintains on one stem, together with a lot of flowers 
laid out on what is called a chavian, or tray of 
flowers.

I  also sent in the usual official application in 
Persian to the Nizam, for a farewell reception and 
interview, before my departure for Berar, which was 
fixed for the 21st October.

Saturday, October bill.—Early in the morning I left 
the Residency for Ambaripet and Malkapur on the 
Masulipatam road.

I  found that Ambaripet was once the jdf/ir of the 
Nizam’s mother, and that after her death it was brought 
into the Sarf-i-Khas, or Nizam’s own jurisdiction, and 
by His Highness made over to the Saulat Jang, whose 
ndib or deputy met me on this occasion. The m/ib said 
that the rental of this estate used to be Its. 3,000, but 
had become Its. 5,000 since the rise of prices : similarly 
another village named Arojyal near Balaram had risen 
fromEs. 5,000 to Its. 8,000.

At Hayatnagar near Ambaripet, I was struck with
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an old mosque and a really splendid ld o ll (well), and 
found that half the estate was in jd g ir  to the VikaruT- 
L'mara.

In the afternoon I  inarched into Malkapur, attended 
hy the a nun or police officer of the road, who occupied 
much the same position as the official who had accom­
panied me to Famiklmagar. He had all his police 
out, and they seemed in very fair order, both horse and 
foot. He said that he had lull j urisdiction over the 
road, hut only a partial jurisdiction over the villages 
along it, which were all in jd g lr. If, however, a crime 
was committed, he followed up and arrested the 
criminal, even into the yViyfr villages ; hut when caught 
the criminal was handed over to th e  jilt/lr authorities, 
a report being made by the amw to his chief, Haidar 
B eg ; or, if the jd g lr  authorities declined to take 
charge of the prisoner, he was taken in custody by the 
police. This plan, if really followed, might not be 
theoretically perfect, but it might answer sufficiently 
well, without unnecessarily offending the ja p rd d rs , who 
were all persons of proverbial influence with the 
Nizam or his Government.

Halfway between Ambaripet and Malkapur lay Bhati 
Singawaram, an important village.

Malkapur estate was the property of the Jama’dar 
of Narnyanpur, but the revenues were assigned to 
Daulat Khan, a Pathan in the Minister’s service, for 
the keeping up of sawdrs. He kept a ndib, who did 
the civil and quasi-judicial work of the place. Com­
missariat cattle from Secunderabad wrere sent to this
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])lace to graze. There was a fine sarin built by the 
former Minister, the Mir ’Alam, and the town nestled, as 
it were, in the midst ot a number of low granite hills.

fee ni).\r, October Qth,~—Early in the morning I went 
to spend the day at Tumalgyrha (or Tumalagudiam), 
near the banks of the Musa. It was very hot—un­
usually so for the Deccan— and I stayed during the 
heat ot the day in a beautiful tamarind grove.

M onday, October 1th.— 1 marched back to Ambimpet, 
and after breakfast had a conversation with ’Abdu’l- 
Kanm, the fdlukddr of the Nalgunda district, about 
the repair of tanks.

In the afternoon I  drove amidst pouring rain back to 
the Residency, and thence I  went with the Mukaram- 
u ddaula, the Minister s nephew, to see the gathering 
of Hindu worshippers and holiday makers at the 
Dasahra festival.*

In the evening I got a note from the Minister, saying 
that he feared that the Nizam would have great diffi- 
culty in holding a farewell reception before my departure 
for Berar by reason of ill-health.

1 ujssday, October 8th.— 1 got a note from the 
Minister saying that the Nizam had replied to the 
application for an interview, to the effect that His 
Highness feared that the state of his health would 
lender it impossible for him to hold a reception by 
Ihe date fixed. This view was much backed up by

1 his fe st iv a l commemorates the classical war between R a m a  
and Havana, as celebrated in the R & m & yana , and is the great 
Hindu military festival o f the year.



the Minister. ft was unfortunate, considering how 
important it was that His Highness should hold an 
interview if possible. So I  thought it best to convince 
the Minister first, and wrote to him, saying that such 
a reception was justified, almost necessitated, by pre­
cedent, and that if it did not cotne off the effect on 
public opinion would be bad. I  added, that I would 
send Lieutenant Tweedie the next morning to explain 
further verbally.

The rest of the day I  was occupied in reading up 
various data and information furnished by the Minister 
for the preparation of my Deccan Beport.

W ednesday, October 9 th.— Lieut. Tweedie went to 
see the Minister, and came back reporting that the 
Minister thought the Nizam's ill-health so troublesome 
that the application for an interview ought not to be 
pressed. I sent Lieut. Tweedie back again to explain 
that if His Highness should really be precluded by 
sickness from bolding an interview, it could not be 
helped; but that if His Highness could possibly manage 
it he should do so, lest exaggerated rumours should get 
abroad about His Highness’s illness and seclusion ; 
adding, that His Highness’s father, the late Nizam, 
deemed it so important to hold an interview with the 
Resident and the Minister, that lie did so once 
when he was extremely ill. I  urged that we would 
stand on no ceremony; that His Highness could 
receive us sitting or reclining, or in any way most 
convenient. Lieut. Tweedie came back with a reply 
showing that the Minister was at last convinced, and
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would again urge tlie matter on His Highness s atten­
tion.

The rest of the day I was occupied in commencing 
the Deccan Deport.

T hursday, October 10 th.— In the morning I  got a 
letter from the Minister to say that the Nizam was im­
pressed with the considerations about the expediency of 
holding an interview, and he replied that if his health 
would permit, he certainly would endeavour to do so 
next week.

Lieut. Tweedie happened that day to he engaged to 
breakfast with the Amir Kabir, as a matter of courtesy, 
and I  told him to take occasion quietly to ask the Amir 
Kabir to try and second the efforts of the Minister, so 
as to induce the Nizam to hold a reception. Lieut. 
Tweedie on his return told me that the Amir Ivabir 
seemed thoroughly to appreciate the point, and had 
promised to use all his influence in the right 
direction.

During the day I went on writing the Deccan Deport.
F riday, October 1 1 # .— In the morning the Sliamshdr 

Jang, the Jagirdar of Tandiir came to see me. He is 
of the family of Shah war u’ddaula, one of the best in 
the Deccan. He- was of very good manners, hut no 
special knowledge. In the afternoon his relation, the 
Asghar Jang, the Jagirdar of Chitapur, came to see 
me. He was a capital specimen of a Muhammadan 
gentleman, but not much more. I  explained to both 
that I proposed shortly to pass through their jap as on 
my way to Kulbarga.
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I was much occupied during the day in writing the 
Deccan Report.

In the evening Daulat Khan, the Jnglrdar of Maikapur, 
came to see me. He was an ordinary respectable Pathan, 
o f fairly good family.

I dined at Secunderabad and slept at Balaram.
Saturday, October 12th.— In the morning I looked 

round the station and town of Balaram and found them 
clean, and then rode to the General's house at 
Secunderabad, and was there occupied all day in 
writing the Deccan Report:.

In the afternoon I  went with General Grant to see 
the garden house, near the Hussain Sagar Lake, be­
longing to the Arab chief ’Abdu llah bin 'A ll He was 
very old and infirm and could not get out, hut his son 
received us, and showed us about very politely. I  
noticed some of his men and asked what they did, and 
he replied that they looked after la’lukas. This sounded 
odd, and I  thought that some day I  would ask the 
Minister about it, because I had understood that by 
recent reforms the Arab Chiefs had been made to give 
up all these talukas, to the great relief o f the ryots.

Sunday, October 13 th.— Agha Muhammad Shustri, 
the President of the Majlis, came to see me, and 
talked a good deal about the land revenue settlements, 
which had been ordered some two years previously. It 
struck me that the progress had been somewhat indif­
ferent, and that the supervision exercised by the Majlis 
had been rather weak.

'Azina ’Ali Khan, agent of the Mutahavvar Jang,
Q 2
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came to say that his master was representing to His 
Highness the necessity of receiving- the Resident before 
his departure.

M onday, O cto b er  14 tit.— Anunu’ddm, the Minister’s 
judicial secretary, came to see me and explain to me all 
about the original constitution of the Courts of 
Justice under the Muhammadan Government, and the 
judicial reforms effected by the present Minister. All 
this I embodied in the draft of the D ecca n  R e p o r t, on 
which I was occupied all day.

In the evening the Minister came to dine with me 
quietly, and afterwards we went together to a large 
evening party given by the hirst Assistant.

I had occasional conversation with the Minister on 
political matters, during which I found, rather to my 
surprise and disappointment, that what I  observed 
during my interview with ’Abdullah bin ’All’s son in 
the garden, was but too true in respect of ta’lu/cas being 
still in several places under Arab Chiefs. ’Abdu’llah 
bin ’Ali had not very many, but the Barak Jang had 
several lakhs worth of country, and several other 
Dakhanl Muhammadans had small tracts. All these 
were called tanklncdh jdrjtrs. The Minister admitted the 
abuse which thus existed : A. had to receive Rs. 1,000 
pay (tankhwdh) ;  instead of receiving this in cash, he 
took a village estimated to yield Rs. 1,000 annually, 
and then screwed say Rs. 200 or Rs. 300 extra out of 
the ryots, or in all Rs. 1,200 or Rs. 1,300. I  re­
monstrated with the Minister as strongly as I  could 
about it, and he promised to put an end to it by
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degrees, adding, he thought his master would not 
object.

He said in the course of conversation that his 
Government had not raised their land revenue in pro­
portion to the rise of prices and consequent increase o f 
income to the ryots, as the Gaik war and others had 
done, and that had he acted like the Gaik war, he 
might have obtained an immense increase of revenue.

T uesday, October 15th.— The Minister sent to say 
that he had sent to the Nuam to inquire when an 
answer was to be expected about the reception of the 
Resident, and that His Highness had said he would 
give a reply by Thursday.

In the afternoon I went, accompanied by General 
Grant, to see the bdrddari or summer-house which 
once belonged to the Minister Chandii Lai. It was 
really a very fine place, with extensive grounds and 
lofty buildings, where the Minister used to entertain 
former Residents, and other notables, and in this sense 
it had historical interest. There were two Linewala 
Regiments, not Reformed Troops, drawn up to receive 
us, who presented arms, &c., remarkably well. The 
place was somewhat dilapidated, and was in the hands 
of Raja Narindar, the Peshkar, or Deputy-Minister, 
and grandson of the Minister Chandii Lai. The 
Peshkar was an intelligent but weak man, and did no 
real work, though he drew a salary of Rs. 10,000 a 
month. He received us in state on this occasion.

W ednesday , October 10///.— In the morning Mr.
Bowen, the Minister’s Private Secretary, came at my
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request to take to liis master tlie draft which 1 .had 
prepared of the Deccan Report.

A glia Muhammad Shustri came to see me again, to 
give me information about the land settlements, $c., 
and he explained all about the arrangements with the 
zammddrs, the ryots, the patch, the deshm/eMs, the 
pan dp as, and the like. He also told me about the annual 
settlements ; and said that as yet engagement, « or hauls 
had not actually been given to the ryots, but In l only 
been ordered to be given some two years previously.
He said, that although the people had benefited much 
by the rise of prices, their revenue had been hardly 
raised at all, and that this was a proof of great 
moderation.

In the afternoon ’AbduT-Kanm, the tdlukddr of 
Nalgilnda, came to take leave before going back to his 
district, and spoke very much of the excessive delays 
in sanctioning his proposals for the repairs of tanks, and 
also for carrying out a summary settlement. lie  was 
strongly in favour of the latter measure.

T huksday, October 17///. —  Muhammad Shukurs 
brother came to see me, to say that the Amir Kabir 
had urged the Nizam to hold some sort of reception.

The Minister sent a note to say that his vakil had 
gone to the Nizam for an answer, and had been told to 
attend at nine o’clock the next day.

Maulavi Ammu’ddin again came to see me, and 
explained further about the constitution of the Courts 
of Justice under the old Muhammadan regime. He 
told me also about the various returns, judicial stafcis-



. tics and the like, which his department received from 
the Courts which then existed. 1 urged him to look 
sharp and clear off arrears, &c.

Chitambar Rao, the mansabddr and future sadr 
talukddr, came with an introduction from the Minister, 
and said that he had long been employed under the 
Minister direct; and that he was to accompany me on 
my tour, according to custom, as mansabddr on the 
part of the .Nizam’s Government.

-Friday, October 18//.— Muhammad Shukur’s brother 
came to see me by desire of the Amir Kabir, to say that 
his master had strongly urged the Nizam to receive the 
Resident if he possibly could; and that he expected 
that His Highness would fix the following day, 
Saturday.

Sheo Lai, a rich sdhukdr (native banker), came to see 
me, and said that the inquiries ordered by the Minister 
into the outstanding debts of the Government would be 
tedious and probably protracted.

I  expected that the Minister’s vakil, who had been 
instructed to attend at nine o’clock, would return at 
noon with news of the time fixed for my visit to the 
Nizam. As he did not come, I  sent Lieut. Tweedie 
to the Minister to inquire, and the Minister replied that 
the vakil had not yet returned. About three o’clock 
the answer came, to the effect that His Highness would 
receive me alone (jarida) at 11  a.m. on the following 
day, the 19th.

Rafik Yawaru’ddaula came to see1 me, with his son.
He was a Pathan chief, rather too much addicted to
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making himself too common in the society of the 
Cantonment of Secunderabad. Before me, of course, 
he looked everything that was becoming, and I had 
him shown over the Residency gardens.

Khandaswami told me that the Nizam had sent a 
message inquiring what the Minister’s intentions were 
about the sadr tdlakddrs, and rather complained that 
the Minister had not kept him informed. I must 
confess that the Nizam had reason in this, and I  had 
over and over again urged the Minister to get his 
master’s sanction; hut he had put it olf from day to 
day.

Saturday, October 19th.—Early in the morning I 
wrote to the Minister, giving him a compendium of the 
measures which we had been conversing about at 
different times lately— to wit, the arrears in the Civil 
Court of Hyderabad; the bringing up the settlement of 
the outstanding public debt; the bringing out the 
orders about the sadr ta'lukddrs j and the settlement of 
the new police department. In the afternoon I  got a 
note from the Minister to say that he entirely agreed, 
and would see to all these things, and would try to 
settle them all before my return from tour.

At eleven o’clock I attended, quite alone as requested, 
at the Nizam’s Palace, and was met first by the 
Mir Munshi, and then by the Amir Kabir, and 
conducted to the Darbar-room, on which a white cloth 
was spread, at the edge of which we took off our shoes.
Off the Darbar-room was a small chamber called a htjra, 
and we were told that His Highness would receive us
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there. As we approached the door of this chamber all 
the attendants were told to stand back, as the Minister 
and the Amir Kabir alone were to accompany me.

W e walked in, and found His Highness recumbent on 
pillows, draped gracefully in silks and satins. He was 
apparently unable to sit up or stand up, and motioned 
to us three to be seated, and we sat accordingly, Oriental 
fashion, on. the ground.

He began by asking after the health and movements 
of the Governor-General, which I  duly explained.
He then spoke of the harvests and the rain, and 
seemed glad to hear that grain was becoming cheaper 
all over India. He next asked me when I  was 
going to Berar and when I  should return, all of which 
I explained. Lastly he thanked me for the various 
bouquets of flowers which had been sent, and which he 
said were very fine. I  then told him in various forms 
of Persian expression, that I  thought it very kind of 
him to thus hold a reception when he was so i l l ; that 
I  hoped he would ever regard me as a well-wisher, and 
that I  should on. my return find him quite recovered.
He said : “ Please God this maybe the case.” Then 
he signalled for ’afar and pan, and after the usual 
salutations we withdrew.

The Nizam did not look weak or pulled down, nor 
exactly in pain, but his face had decidedly the expression 
of protracted distress and sleeplessness.

The Amir Kabir looked well, and his nephew the 
Bashiru ddaula was not present as usual, on account of 
the death of one of his sons. The Minister, as he
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always did on these occasions, looked pale and nervous 
— move so than usual.

I  then returned to the Besidency, and shortly 
afterwards Muhammad Shukiir’s brother came to say 
that the Amir Kahir was pleased with the reception.

In the evening Khandaswami came to see me, and I 
asked him why the Minister looked so nervous at the 
reception. He said because of the doubt which had 
been let fall as to whether the Nizam would in his 
present state receive any one save the Resident, and 
whether His Highness would not direct that the 
Minister and the Anar Kahir should wait outside.

There was no great crowd in the City as we passed 
to and fro, because of the heavy rain which poured the 
whole day.

Sunday, October 2 0 th.— In the morning Khanda­
swami came to see me, and said that at the last interview 
the Minister believed that the Nizam feared that some 
draft of a convention was going to he submitted to His 
Highness—indeed a message had been received en­
quiring about this. It was, of course, denied.

In the afternoon after church I  drove out to Gfol- 
konda, and then rode on to Bulkapur, where there was 
an anicut * across the Musa River.

M on day , October 21st.—-Early in the morning I 
arrived at a point where I  met with Eaiz Muhammad 
in a tent; also Chitambar Eao, the mamabddr who 
was to accompany me on my tour.

* An anicut is a dam thrown across a river for irrigation pur­
poses ; the word is Tamil, cinnaikattu.
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T uesday, October 22nd.— A t  daybreak I  found my­
self still some ten miles from Ohitapur. The roads were 
heavy and the ground wet, so I mounted a pony, and 
let the palanquin follow.

W ednesday, October 2 %rd.— A n  hour before day­
break I started from  Chitapur on an elephant, accom ­
panied b y  the ta lukddr, till we reached a river. I occu­
pied the tim e in  explaining to  him  the advantages of 
fixed m oney  settlements w ith the ryots.

T hursday, October 244Jt.— Early in the morning 1 
went from Mr. Bre,reton’s house at .Kulbarga to see the 
site of the old lake.

F s id a Y, October 2ML—Early in the morning I  left 
Kulbarga en route to Sholapnr on horseback.

Saturday, October 2Qih.— I spent the day at Shola- 
pur in the Bombay Presidency.

S unday, October 2V L — I spent the day at Sholapnr, 
and in the evening I left for Poona by train.

I  wrote a letter to the Minister about the sijjdda- 
nishtn* o f Kulbarga.

M onday October 28t7t.— I spent the day at Poona in 
Mr. Mansfield’s house, and in the evening I  dined 
with Sir It. (Lord) Napier (of Magdala).

T uesday, October 2 9th.— I left by train for Akola.
W ednesday, October 30th.— I reached Akola at three 

o’clock,
T hursday , October 31st.—
P rom F riday , November 1 si, to W ednesday, No-

* Sijjada-nisMn is the controller of a Muhammadan religious 
endowment
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vember 1 %th.— I was touring about in the Berar Pro­
vince, of which the affairs are civil rather than 
political.

T hursday, November 14th.— Leaving Basim in Berar 
in the morning, I marched about twenty miles within 
Berar limits, and at a village called Bhandlgaon, about 
six miles short of Hingoli, I  got into the Parbhani, or 
Zila’ district, of the Dxwani, or Minister’s jurisdic­
tion. I  was here met by the ta’lukdar awal and his 
people, among whom were the ta lukdar doyam and the 
mulitamim-i-kotwdli, or district police officer, and a 
number of mounted officials.

F riday, November 15th.—I  spent the day at Hingoli, 
and early in the morning reviewed the troops of the 
Contingent stationed there, consisting of a squadron of 
a Cavalry Regiment, a Battery of Artillery, and a 
Regiment of Infantry.

Saturday, November 1 i)th.— Early in the morning I 
marched for Sindagi, half way between Hingoli and 
Namlair. The talukdar avoal, Muhammad Hamf, and 
the tahsUdar of Aunda accompanied me as far as their 
boundary. The tahsilddr was a young man of good 
Hyderabad family, and, though he promised well, he 
seemed then to be inexperienced.

Sunday, November 11th.— I  spent the day at Kandair.
Monday, November 18th.— I  marched from INandair 

in the early morning for Madnur.
T uesday, November 19th.— Early in the morning I 

looked round the town of Madnur, which belonged to 
the jdyrr of the Peshkar, whose ndib seemed to be a



competent and respectable man. The town was fairly 
clean and well kept, and seemed to hare some traffic 
and to be a small cotton mart.

After that I  marched for Kalairii, and on the way I 
passed through Bichkonda, a place of evil fame for 
Arab outrages in former days. It was then held by the 
Ghallb Jang. His ndib, a foxy-looking old Dakhani 
Brahman, and a small party of Arabs, chiefly mawallads, 
met me on the road. It was a walled town, situated 
close to some rocky hills, consisting chiefly of granitic 
boulders, with a quantity of fine rice cultivation in 
the neighbourhood.

After that I  crossed a fertile plain till I approached 
a range of wooded hills. These were the hills of 
Kaulas, the Raja of which, a Rajput, was a feudatory 
of the Nizam. A  river issued from a small gorge in 
the hills, and at that point his fort and town were 
built. The road passed at a short distance off' it, so 
that I  could not see the position closely ; but it seemed 
to me to be very fine and picturesque. The Raja was 
prevented by sickness from coming out himself, but he 
sent his Diwan, a Muhammadan, with a party of 
mounted officials to meet me. I  then crossed the 
range, which was thickly covered with small timber 
trees, by a fair-weather road, which the Raja’s people 
had made for me, and then came on to an elevated 
plateau.

Passing by one or two fine tanks I  got to Kalaint, 
where Rahman Beg, a tdluhddr in the Amir Kabir’s 
service, of the Narayan Khera ta’lukd, was ready to meet
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ns, The Amir KaMr had sent tents and breakfast there, 
and I  stopped during the heat of the day talking to 
the tdluJcddr, the dhlmnkfa, the deshpdndyas, and the 
local officials. The Amir Kabir’s vaJc'd Fakhru’ddin, 
attached to the Residency, was also present. So far as 
I  could see, the tdluJcddr appeared a competent man, 
and to have a pretty good system of administration. 
The deshnuJchs and deslipdndyas also seemed to be 
fairly good men.

Before reaching Kalairu I passed through one or two 
villages belonging to the Gluilib Jang, the Arab 
Jama’dar, and also by a village where the Zamindar 
used to hire liohelas and plunder. He was subdued 
by a force from the Hyderabad Contingent, and died in 
prison. His son was still living, and was a respectable 
landholder and presented himself before me.

In the afternoon I marched for Shankarampet, where 
I  again met a number of desfmu/cJis and deshpdndyas, and 
the tdluJcddr awal of the Bidar Zilal

Between Kalairu and Shankarampet T passed through, 
a walled village belonging to the Arabs. Shankarampet 
is under the Diwanl in the District of Bidar.

W ednesday, November 20lit.— Early in the morning 
I  marched from Shankarampet for Patancheru, accom­
panied by the Bidar tdluJcddr, a Dak hard Brahman of 
good and intelligent manners. He said he had once 
been sanshtadar* to Mr. Maltby, Commissioner of the 
Hyderabad Assigned Districts, and when half those 
districts were restored his appointment was abolished.

* I.e., Clerk of the Court.
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lie  then got employment under the Minister, and 
became s a r is h ta d d r  to the Majlis at Hyderabad.
Now that the Majlis was 'being reduced, and sa d r  

td lu k d d r s  were being appointed, and, again, his 
sa r ish ta d d A , was abolished, he had been promoted to 
be a td lu k d d r  a w a l. He was a promising man, and 
with him was the td lu k d d r  d oya m  of Bidar, who was 
going to act as td lu k d d r  a w a l in Raichur. He was a 
Halbard Muhammadan of respectable family, hut was 
a stupid-looking man.

Conversing with them both I  reached Masalapur, 
the frontier of the Medak District, where we met the 
m ih ta m im , or superintendent of police of that district—  
a good looking young Muhammadan. He had just 
received the Minister’s orders with reference to the 
constitution of the new police department.

T hursday, N o v em b er  2 1 s t .— Accompanied by Khanda- 
swami I  set out at three o’clock in the morning from 
Patancheru for Balaram, driving in the Minister’s 
carriage. We were met halfway by a n d ib  of one of the 
fearl-i-Khas ta ’lu k a s, a respectable man, and we were 
joined on the road by ’ Azim ’Ali Khan, the deputy of 
the Sarf-i-Khas td lu k d d r , the Mutahavvar Jang.

M e reached Balaram by six o’clock, in time to get to 
1he Mul Ali Races. Tlie scene on the race-course 
was pretty, the great rock of Mul Ali standing up 
well in the distance, and the ground round being- 
covered by the tents and the camps of the visitors to 
the races. Among the native visitors I  observed the 
Rashidu’ddaula, the Mir Munsln to the Nizam.

111 . <SL
D iary. 239



F riday, November 22 nd.—
Saturday, November 23rd.—I attended, tlie Mul All 

races early in the morning.
Sunday, November 2dth.—  I went into the Residency 

at Chadarghat to spend the day tliere.
Monday, November 25/A— I  attended the funeral of 

the ao’ed Mr. W. Palmer. The occasion was such as 
to arouse solemn reflections in the minds of those who 
were able to take a retrospect of his long career !

In the afternoon the Minister came to visit me, and 
asked me about the state of Berar and about wliat I 
had seen of his Diwanl districts. I  expressed general 
satisfaction.

I then asked him whether he could attend the races, 
both at Mul Ali and at Chadarghat. He said that he 
would be able to attend the Chadarghat races, but that 
he was afraid that the Nizam would not let him attend 
those at Mul All, and would advert to the promise 
which he had made in the previous March, to the effect 
that he would not leave the city of Hyderabad without 
his master’s permission.

Tuesday, November 2(Mb, to W ednesday, Decetnba 
Mh.—

Thursday, December 5tfo.— Early in the morning I  
received a cypher telegram from the Viceroy offering 
me the Foreign Secretaryship, and authorising me to 
start at once; but enquiring, in the event of my 
not being able to do that, when I  could start. I 
replied by cypher telegram accepting the post with 
thanks, but saying that I  could not start for some
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three weeks, for reasons which I  would explain by 
post,

I then wrote by post to say that I wished, if pos­
sible, to finish the Deccan .Report, still unfinished, and 
to help the Minister in certain affairs then pending- 
with the Arab Chiefs. I further wrote to beg that, if  
possible, I  might retain my appointment at Hyderabad 
substantively until A pril next.

In the evening* I  went to Balaram to dinner to 
meet General Lumsden, Commanding the Hyderabad 
Contingent.

During the day I  heard that the VikaruT-IImara was 
likely to try to bribe some of the Residency servants in 
order to procure an interview with the Resident. I  
sent for the principal Residency servants to my study, 
and warned them seriously to avoid falling into temp­
tation.

Lieut. Tweddie went in the morning to breakfast with 
the Minister, and to ask him, at my request, whether on 
the whole he did, or did not, object to my availing* 
myself of the Government permission to receive 
Khurshed Jalt. Lieut. Tweedie came back to say that 
the Minister, so far as his opinion went, was against the 
measure; and that the Minister was anxious to know 
what my decision would he. 1 then wrote to the 
Minister to say that I should not move further in the 
matter without his concurrence.

That afternoon Lieut. Tweedie started for Bombay, 
en route for Abyssinia;

F riday , December 0>th.— I  w rote privately  to  the
it



Minister to say that the rumours so prevalent about 
my departure were partly true, and to propose to 
dine with him the following day and explain verbally.

I  got a note from the Minister acknowledging this 
last note, and also the note about Tvhurshed Jah. He 
thanked me for what I  had said about Kfmrshed Jah, 
and agreed to ray proposal to dine with him the 
following day.

Fai/, Muhammad Khan, the principal, idlukdar of the 
Vikaru’l-ITmara, came to see me, and to bring a regular 
solicitation from his master to be re-admitted to the 
Resident’s presence ; or, if this could not he done, 
that his son, Khurshed Jah, might he admitted. I  told 
him that under the orders, as they stood, the Vikaru 1- 
Umara at all events could not he received, and 
explained that the conduct of his party had been such, 
in former days, that it was difficult to divest myself of 
apprehension, and that confidence could only he re­
stored by a long continuation of good conduct.

S aturday, December 1th.— Early in the morning 1 
sent thg. First Assistant, Mr. Cordery, to explain to 
the Minister that my approaching departure rendered 
the early preparation of the data for the Deccan 
Deport, necessary. Mr. Cordery, on his return, reported 
that the Minister seemed dejected and bothered 
at my departure to a degree which he had not 
anticipated.

During the day I was chiefly busied in the affairs 
of Berar.

In the evening I went to dine with the Minister
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alone, and lie seemed much troubled at the prospect of 
a change of' Resident. I  explained that I might still 
be able to help him as Foreign Secretary; and he said 
that might be, but still, necessarily, he was obliged to 
look mainly to the Resident for the time being. He 
asked anxiously about rny successor, canvassing the 
names o f various gentlemen who had been men­
tioned. He asked me if he might tell the Nizam con­
fidentially about my departure, and I  said that lie 
might.

He promised me, as soon as possible, the data for 
the Deccan Deport, and expressed his satisfaction at 
the draft chapters he had seen. He repeated his 
anxiety that it should not he published lest the ISTizam 
should be offended. *

I  asked him how he was getting on with the Arab 
business, and he said he had very nearly settled it with 
the Barak Jang, and that lie had not yet got an answer 
from the Saifu’ddaula. He praised the conduct of the 
Barak Jang.

In the course of conversation he said that lie was 
getting on well with the determination, of the accounts 
o f the native bankers in reference to the old debts of 
the Nizam’s Government; that the arrears of the Civil 
Courts were being cleared off fast, as they turned out 
to be chiefly nominal; that the case of the Nazim Jang, 
the corrupt tdlukddr of Khamman, was approaching 
conclusion, there having been some delay through mis­
management on the part of the Criminal Court.

I  asked him about the Vikarul-Umara and Khur-
E 2
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shed Jah, and he said that he could not fix any intrigue 
upon them, but that in little ways they were always 
showing a personal spite. Ho added that the Yikaru I- 
TJmara had the day before sent a rather remarkable 
message, to the effect that he hoped that he might he 
re-admitted to the Resident's presence, because, in 
truth, the lakh of rupees bribe which had been given 
to Mrs. M * * *, was given not by him, but through 
him, and that the money really was the Nizam’s ! The 
Minister seemed to think that this version was not far 
from the truth ! And he thought that if I  was unable 
to receive Yikaru’ 1-Umara himself, I  had better not 
receive Khurshcd Jah> the son, either; that if the son 
were received the father had better be received, too ; 
that either the whole should be done or nothing; and 
that half-measures would do more harm than good. I  
told him that I could not, under existing orders, re­
ceive the Vikaru’l-Umara, and that he might intimate 
this to him.

The Minister then spoke of the Nizam, who had 
been sending unkind messages for some days past, 
which could not he traced to any particular cause, and 
were merely o f a general character. Their substance 
was that it was rumoured that the Governor-General 
was going to send a hSuiTitu to say that the Nizam 
must hold durbars for the reception of the Resident so 
many times a month; that it was the Minister’s fault 
that there was not a cordial understanding between the 
British Government and the Nizam ; that the Minister 
was going on as his uncle, the Suraju’l-Mulk, had gone
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on before him, and would come to an equally evil end ; 
that the Minister was much too familiar with European 
officers, and went too much into society ; and that the 
Hyderabad people were crying out for bread. To all 
this, the substance of the Minister’s replies, according 
to his own account, was that no such M anta was 
coming to his knowledge, but that it was undoubtedly 
true that successive Residents bad deemed that the 
Nizam ought, as a sovereign, to show himself more 
than he d id ; that so far from the British Government 
being displeased with the Nizam’s Government, it was 
rather pleased than otherwise; that his uncle had not 
come to an evil end, but had died in honour, and 
would have been successful as a Minister had he not 
been so much thwarted; that he himself did not go 
into European society more than his predecessors, but 
only on such occasions as were sanctioned by precedent; 
that no doubt the Hyderabad people felt the dearness 
of grain ; but, on the other hand, nowadays they had 
money to buy it with, whereas formerly the people 
used to perish by scores whenever grain got dear; and 
now, too, death by starvation was unknown; and that 
the dearness would have been felt more than it was, 
had it not been for the reforms which bad been carried 
out in the interest of political economy.

The Minister said that be feared that these replies 
must have vexed the Nizam, but that it was necessary 
that His Highness should know the truth now and 
then. He, however, showed much vexation at these 
recriminations from his master, and even went so far
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as to say that if it went on. much further he would 
resign. I tried to console him, reminding him of his 
great services to the Deccan and of the satisfaction 
repeatedly expressed thereat by the British Govern­
ment. I  urged him to be patient and to bear with the 
Nizam, and I left him about midnight.

S undat, December .8;lit.—I  sent a telegram to the 
Governor-General to know whether my proposal to 
fix my departure from Hyderabad for about the 
beginning of January would be approved.

Khandaswami told me that his master, the Minister, 
had been sadly put out by the unkind messages from 
the Nizam; that he expressed fear that some day 
there would come a regular outbreak between himself 
and tire Nizam, and that his only hope was that, as 
the British flag waved over him, lie would be ulti­
mately safe.

M onday, December 9th.— Early in the morning I  
sent the First Assistant to the Minister to say that I  
proposed to send for the Yikarul-Unrara s vakil, and 
tell him exactly how the case stood about his master 
and Khurshcd Jah, as being the best means of pre­
venting ill-blood between them and the Minister, and 
also of preventing any suspicion on their part of the 
Minister being the cause of their continued exclusion.
Mr. Cordery came hack saying that the Minister, 
cordially assented ; so I then sent tor Faiz Muhammad, 
the Vikarud-Umara s vakil, and explained exactly that 
I  had asked Government whether his master s exclusion 
from the Residency might cease, and had been told that
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it must not cease— i.e., I  must not receive him ; that I  
had then asked whether I  might receive Khurshed Jah, 
and had been told that I  m ight; arid that I  wished to 
know whether Khurshed Jah would or would not come 
to me for an interview. He said he would tell his master, 
and would come to me again the following morning.

I got a telegram from the Governor-General request­
ing me to ask the Nizam whether he would agree to 
pay half the Governmental interest on the railway from 
Kulbarga to Hyderabad.

Tuns day, December 10 th.— I got a reply from the 
Governor-General to my telegram of Sunday, saying 
that I could do as I proposed, but that I  must avoid 
delay as much as possible.

I  then wrote to the Minister to ask that the Nizam 
should receive me if convenient on Thursday, so that I  
might explain to His Highness about my departure.

I  sent for the Amir Kahns vakil, Fakhru’ddm, and 
when he came I  told him to tell his master about my 
approaching departure. He seemed really distressed and 
taken aback at the news.

Taiz Muhammad came and said that the Vikam’l- 
Umara hesitated to send his son Khurshed Jah, as he 
could not come himself, and repeated all the arguments 
for receiving the VikaruT- Umara. I told him posi­
tively that this latter was out of the question, and that 
Yikaru’l-Umara could decide for himself about sending 
Khurshed Jah or not.

As regards the telegram from the Governor-Generalo o
about the Kailway, I  wrote to the Minister giving
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"iiim the heads of the arguments lie should put to the 
N izam, and suggested that he should make the refer­
ence to His Highness immediately after the interview 
on Thursday was over.

W ednksday, December 11 lb.—I  received a reply 
from the Nizam to say that he would receive us the 
following day at eleven o’clock.

I was much occupied during the day with the Deccan 
Report.

T hursday, December 12th.— Early in the morning 
Hannuuit Kao, the Minister’s head accountant, came 
to explaim to me several points in the Financial State­
ment in the Report.

At eleven o’clock I went to the Nizam. The visit 
being of a quasi-private character, there was no great 
crowd to witness me pass along; though, of course, 
there were a good many people. Near the Nizam s 
palace I noticed numbers of Arab soldiery lolling and 
sitting about, staring at us vacantly.

In the Nizam’s Palace I  found His Highness re­
clining in a small darkened side room still unable to 
stand or sit up.

F r i d a y , December 13///.— Early in the morning, accom­
panied by the M ukaramu’ddaula, the Minister’s nephew, 
and by Kliandaswami, I set out, driving in a carriage, 
for Narkailpili en route to Nalgiinda, in order to see 
something of the great tank district.

S atu rd ay , December 14tie.— Early in the morning 
I rode with the Mukaramu’ddaula to Nalgiinda, distant 
about twelve miles.

\S Hyderabad.
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S unday, December 1 5th.— I  stayed in camp at ISTal- 
gilnda all day.

M onday, December 1 bill.—'Early in the m orning I  
marched back to Narkailpili.

T uesday, December V]th.— I spent the day at 
Hyderabad.

W ednesday, December 18th.— Faiz Muhammad came 
on the part o f the Yikaru’l-Umara to fix a day for my 
interview with his son Khurshed Jah. His master, he 
said, had decided that, as he could not see the Resident 
himself, the next best thing was that his son should 
do so. We arranged that tire next morning I should 
go to the Lingarnpili Hardens, and that, Khurshed Jah 
should meet me there.

T hursday, December 19th.— Early in the morning I 
went to the Lingarnpili gardens, a place of some size 
and beauty, and Khurshed Jah received me with con­
siderable state.

F riday, December 20th. —  In the afternoon the 
Minister came to see me by appointment, and his wish 
evidently was to talk to me confidentially about his 
relations with his master, and as to what he should do 
in the event of Ids ever becoming unable to bear the 
difficulties of his position. The substance of his re­
marks was that he frequently received verbal messages 
from his master couched in very unkind or even cruel 
language; that the Nizam attributed, or pretended to 
attribute, everything done by the .British Hovernment, 
to the Minister; that if the Minister had to propose 
anything at the Resident’s request, and i f  the Nizam did
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not like it, His Highness immediately said that tlie 
proposition was at the Minister’s instigation; that id- 
blood existed still; that some day the Nizam would 
break out worse, and the Minister s patience would break 
clown under a system of bullying; that, moreovei, if 
the Nizam’s remarks were confined to confidential 
messages, it would not be so bad, but that they were 
often made before others, and got repeated over the 
City with every form of distortion and exaggeration. 
The Minister said that be felt all this acutely, and that 
if ever it went beyond a certain point, he would rather 
resign and live on his jdgirs than stay in office; 
that he would rather give his offi.ce up than keep it 
with the reproach of liis countrymen; but that he 
had no idea o f resigning at present, and that, if he did 
so at all, he would not break openly with his master, 
and would endeavour to arrange his resignation 
amicably, and with the sanction of the British Crovern- 
ment; that this is what he would like to do if he 
could, supposing that the Nizam were to pass a certain 
limit of unkindness beyond which endurance would lie 
difficult. He added, too, that he feared much for his 
own credit. Whenever difficulties arose he would do 
his best; but if anything went wrong, and the Nizam 
were to take that opportunity of throwing him 
over, or if the Resident differed with him --in short 
in a hundred ways,—lie would be left without 
support in the face of his enemies. He said 
all this quite quietly and earnestly, and that as I 
was going away, he wished my candid and friendly
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opinion as to how lie should look the future in the 
face.

I  asked him if he had really reflected how he would 
like to be out of oflice, after he had been in power so 
long. He said he had, and that this was the very 
thing he wished steadily to contemplate.

I  told him I rather doubted whether the Nizam’s 
feelings towards him were so unkind as he supposed; 
and that His Highness treated other noblemen, for 
instance, the Shamsu’l-Umara, with the same hauteur 
and reserve with which he treated the Minister. I  
said that he should attribute much of the harshness o f 
expression to petulance and to irritation arising from 
the illness from which His Highness had for months 
been suffering; and I  advised him to hear with the 
Nizam as much and as long as possible, and on no 
account to put forward resignation as a threat; but I 
added, that in extremis every Minister should be pre­
pared for the possibility of quitting office. He should 
do his best for the Nizam, and serve His Highness as 
long and as well as he could; falling that, he could 
ultimately retire, and he should always keep his house 
in order, so that i f  he did retire he might do so with 
honour. He should consolidate his Government, so 
that it should stand hereafter, when he was gone.

I  also urged him to try and co-operate in making the 
young nobility qualified for high command, such as 
the Mukaramu’ddaula, the Bashhu’ddaula, and Khur- 
she'd Jab ; and that he need never he jealous of 
them, &c.
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After this conversation I took the Minister for a 
walk in the Residency gardens, and he professed him­
self much strengthened in mind by what I had said, 
saying that he would follow the straight course, doing 
his duty and still trying to please his master, and if 
the worst came to the worst he could retire.

Saturday, December 2 ISC'—-Early in the morning I  
received orders from the Governor-General, directing me 
to be at Calcutta in January. I  telegraphed to say that 
I would leave Hyderabad, so as to be at Madras in time 
for the steamer which would sail from Madras for 
Calcutta on the 6th or 7th of January.

S unday, December 22nd.— In the evening Khurshed 
Jali came to pay me a return visit at the Resi­
dency, attended by a long train of followers. He , 
brought Faiz Muhammad with him, and repeated 
carefully over again all the arguments on the VikuruT- 
Enmra’s side, apparently with the hope of getting me 
to refer once more to the Governor-General by tele­
graph before I  went. This, of course, I declined to 
do. I  then showed Kh imbed Jah over the house, 
and took him for a walk in the Residency gardens. 
He then took leave of me with every expression of regard.

M onday, December 23rd.— Early in the morning L 
went to see the country garden of the Arab chief, the,, : 
Barak Jang, on the Golkonda road, who received me 
with some state, and had a fine show of Arab soldiers, 
mostly from Yaman near Aden. I complimented him 
on the creditable manner in which he had behaved of 
late towards the Nizam’s Government, but the rest o f vfl



the conversation turned on the internal troubles then 
going on in Yaman. I was very favourably impressed 
with his maimer and demeanour.

Khurshed Jail’s vakil came to see me, and to say how 
much his master had been pleased with his visit, and I 
had a large bouquet of flowers given him. from the 
garden to take to his master.

In the afternoon Maulavf ’Abu’l-Halim, the first 
judge of the Chief Civil Court at Hyderabad ( I K warn 
Buzura'), came to see me on his return from leave.
I  told him that the character of the Court had fallen 
considerably during his absence, and that arrears had 
accrued, and he said that he was fast having them 
cleared off. He spoke of the want of stamped paper 
at Hyderabad, and said until this was introduced his 
Court would never work properly. He attributed 
much trouble to the want o f it, saying that the 
plaintitfs, having nothing to pay, brought absurd cases 
forward, or that even if a case was fair, still the 
plaintiffs having staked nothing in the shape of costs, 
were careless and dilatory in the prosecution o f cases.
I  told him what the Minister had said on the subject 
in September last, and advised him to urge the question 
on the Minister’s attention. He seemed an able man.

Eafik Yawaru’ddaula, the Path an Chief, came to take
leave of me. He remarked emphatically, and whether
sincerely or otherwise I  cannot say, that his class felt
much obliged to me for having enquired after them, and
noticed them. He brought with him his son, a fine
young man.

*
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D jecembf.e, Tuesday S life —On the 23rd the Minister 
Bad sent me a paper from the Nizam referring to the 
Railway negotiation, and asking various questions about 
the effect it would have on the country. His Highness 
expressly stipulated that if any of his relations should 
fly by Railway into British territory, such person would 
be given up. Knowing the extreme weight His 
Highness attached to this, I  said that if His Highness 
liked to make this a condition I  would represent it.
I  also answered the other questions.

In the morning I  went, accompanied by Khanda- 
swann, to see the remains of an'icuts, 01 dams, made 
in the river Mii.su near Golkonda by the KutabshaM 
kings, with a view of keeping the citadel and tpwn 
supplied with water, and was much struck with the 
imposing dimensions of these ruined works. Khanda- 
swami said that the objection to restoring them would 
he that the villages belonged to jdr/irddrs, and were 
somewhat neglected.

It rained in the afternoon, and in the evening I  went 
to a farewell party at the City house of the Amir Kablr. 
It was well got up—dinner, illuminations, fireworks, 
ndclies, &e. The Amir Kaffir and his nephew, the 
Bashiru’ddaula, sat down to dinner with us, eating 
their style of food, while vve ate ours.

1 asked the Amir Kabir about the Nizam’s health, 
and he said that His Highness would not submit to 
any operation for fear of inflammation setting in. I  
asked him about the Railway proposition, and lie said 
that many persons about the Nizam had a great pre-
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judiee against it, but that His Highness would ulti­
mately agree. He was strong in his expressions of 
regret at my departure.

C hristm as  D ay , W ednesday, December 25th.— Early 
in the morning I had a complimentary visit from the 
native bankers of Ohadarghat, and afterwards attended 
church there.

In the course of the afternoon Maulavi Ahmad ’All, 
chief judge of the Murafa’ ’Adalat, came to see me, 
and expressed regret at my departure, for the reason, 
among others, that if I  had stayed I  might have 
settled the standing quarrel between the Nizam and 
the Minister. I  asked him how this would be possible ;
and be said that sooner or later it would have to be#
settled as to whether the Nizam was to have the upper 
hand or the Minister. I  suggested that the Minister 
did, in fact, obey the Nizam ; hut he said that the 
Nizam was of a different opinion. I  asked, “ How P”
He said that the Nizam considered that the Minister 
had been disobedient in refusing to acquiesce in the 
appointment of the Lashkar Jang. I  replied that this 
matter had been settled in Sir Gr. Yule’s time, and 
that it must be reckoned among the bygones; but I 
understood him to say that it still rankled in the Nizam’s 
mind. I  also gathered that he, the Maulavi, thought 
the Minister disobedient to the Nizam ; and I then ex­
plained in general terms the reasons why the Salar Jang 
was considered to have rendered sucli services to the 
country. This Maulavi ■supposed +0 b« enemy to 
the Minister, and, though he was cautious and guarded,
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still I could see that he wished to sound me, and see 
whether I  could be induced to give my support to those 
who sided against the Minister.

Another judge of the same Court came to see me.
Hammant Edo, the Minister’s head accountant, also 

came to see me, and on going away lie begged me to 
lay my hand on his head in token of my approval, 
and I did so !

In the evening there came all sorts of Christmas 
offerings in the shape of fruit and cakes from the Nizam 
and the principal nobles.

T hursday, December 26^.—Early in the morning 
IChandaswami came to tell me that the Minister had 
received various interpellations from the Nizam about 
the Eailway business, and that His Highness seemed 
to he in a cross humour, and would not discuss the sub­
ject at all. The Minister wished to know whether 
His Highness should be further pressed on the subject, 
and I  said not; adding that His Highness must be 
left to reply negatively or affirmatively, just as he liked, 
and that all I should ask would be that His Highness 
should favour me with some reply, yes or no, before I  
left. Shortly after, I got a note from the Minister 
stating His Highness had rather questioned the pro­
positions we had laid down regarding the increase of 
revenue and prosperity, on which further explanation 
had been offered. I  again wrote saying that I  had 
nothing further to say, save that I  hoped that His 
Highness H  ,v,c huvo a reply one way or
other.



After breakfast I  attended the giving away of the 
annual prizes at the School for European children 
at Chadarghat.

Mr. .Keay, of the Bombay Bank, called on me to 
explain about a proposal that had once been made to 
make over the Hyderabad Treasury to the Bank, ob­
serving that if the principle had been adopted in British 
Territory, a fortiori, it was desirable at a place like 
Hyderabad, where the Government had monthly to 
raise in tire local market large sums of money for the 
pay of the troops, giving repayment by bills on 
Calcutta, &c.

In the evening I attended a farewell party at the 
Minister’s, given by the Nizam’s Government. The 
house and grounds were brilliantly illuminated, and 
upwards of a hundred guests were present. After 
dinner there was a’ really lovely display of fireworks.
Many of the principal people of the Minister’s Govern­
ment came in during the course of the evening, and the 
whole affair was managed in a first-rate, indeed, in a 
splendid style. Four strangers from Bombay, my 
guests, were present: Mr. Chatfield, Principal of the 
Elphinstone College; Mr. Kennard, a traveller from 
England; M. Thenou, the French Consul at Bombay ; 
and M. Midler of the French Bank at Bombay. They 
were all much surprised and delighted at the spectacle 
o f the evening.

During dinner time there came a message from the 
Nizam, saying that he would give an answer to the 
question about the Railway. The Minister said that

s
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lie thought His Highness would be anxious to retain his 
police .jurisdiction over the Railway- unimpaired ; also that 
there was a sort of superstitious belief among many 
classes to the effect that the Railway was the forerunner 
of undefined evil.

I spoke to him as to the political aspect of Mr. Keay’s 
proposition about a government hank taking the 
treasury.

.Friday, December 2 7 fit.— Khandaswami told me 
that the messages from the Nizam to the Minister 
had been couched in the harshest terms, and among 
other things His Highness had said sarcastically that 
the. Minister was descended from British ancestors!
(“ in he aulddmen se led” ). Shortly afterwards a message 
came from. His Highness, saying that the Minister must 
excuse unkind language, and that His Highness s ill- 
health had made him peevish and irritable !

Faiz Muhammad came to see me, and said that 
Khurshed Jiih was anxious that I should dine with him 
in the City. I rather objected, on the ground that as 
his house was almost in the same enclosure as that of 
his father, the Vikaru’l-Umara, my doing so might he 
regarded by the people as virtually visiting the 
Vikaru’l-Umara. I promised, however, to give an
answer on the following day.

The Shamsher Jang, a jdt/trddr, came to pay me
a farewell visit.

In the afternoon I  went with a party of triends for 
a sail in the steamer on the Amir Alam Lake.

Saturday, December 28//«.—-Khandaswami told me
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that the Minister had felt much consoled by the 
gracious apologetic message received the day before 
from the Nizam.

’Azini ’Aii Khan came to see me, and spoke about the 
real idiosyncrasy of the Minister, whom lie described as 
being as smooth as water apparently, but still so persist­
ent, that, like water, wearing away rocks or under­
mining bills, and still remaining soft arid smooth, he 
would beat down opposition. He said that i f  tile 
Minister would really resign, it would be soon seen that 
there were plenty of men in Hyderabad to take up the 
reins. I  asked him then, whether the Baskuu’- 
dclaula, or Khurshed Jail would do. He said, no. I  
then said, in that case a Minister of some lesser status 
socially would have to be accepted. He said, “ What 
did that matter if”  The present Minister bad begun as 
Turab ’AH, and bad ended in being, Sir Salar Jang.
1 said, “ Hardly that, inasmuch as the Salar Jang was 
the nephew of one Minister, the Suraju’l-Mulk, the 
grandson of a second, the Mumru’l-Mulk, and the great 
grandson of a third, the Mir ’Alain, and therefore 
must be considered to have great social status.” He 
said that, be that as it might, the Nizam was always 
thinking o f how to get rid of the Salar Jang. I  could 
further gather from him that there were constant 
intrigues going on with this view, probably aided by 
the Mama Ramazam and other ladies o f the Palace, 
and more or less hacked by many of the Sarf-i-Ivhas 
lalukddrs.

In the afternoon I  went to show my guests the
s 2
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\lŜ So H yderabad.
m , ' ;' 'J

Makka Mosque in the city, and passing by the Minis­
ter’s stables on our way home, we walked in there.
The Minister came to meet ns there, and I  asked him. 
about the last message from the .Nizam. He said that 
among other things His Highness said that he and 
the Minister ought to pull together, and that the 
Minister ought to think of the welfare of the sovereign 
and the State.

In the morning I. had sent the f  irst Assistant to the 
Minister to ascertain whether or not the City people 
would regard my going to dine with Khurshed Jah as 
virtually visiting the Vikaru 1-Dmara, He said they 
would, and I then sent for .Faiz Muhammad, and told /  
him that, on the whole, I thought I. could not go.

In the evening I  attended a farewell paity at ivhuu- 
daswami’s house, which was a brilliant affair.

Sunday, December With.—During the day three 
Arab Jama’dars, the Ghalib Jang, the Barak Jang, and 
the Mukadam Jang came to see me as a farewell. They 
came in imposing state, and with really a fine lot of 
picked Arab troops: fine men, well armed and set up.
I  exhorted them that, as being Deccan-born Arabs, they 
should be well-wishers of the Nizam’s Government of 
the Deccan, and that they should keep their men m 
discipline, and support the cause of order generally. 
They said they would do so, and that there was already 
much improvement perceptible in the demeanour of the 
Hyderabad Arabs.

The Asghar Jang, the jd g ir d d r , came to see me. He 
was of the Shahwaru’l-Mulk family, and one of the



first nobles of Hyderabad. 1 adrnonisbed him about a 
row which had lately happened in one o f his villages.

Several Path an Jama’dars of Cavalry in the Nizams 
horse came to see me, and the usual complimentary 
coversation was interchanged.

M onday, December 30/A.— Early in the morning I 
heard from the Minister that the Nizam would not fix 
the day for the darbar.

A  w aula id, a native of Berar, came to see me, and 
said that he had heard that the Hyderabad Courts had 
been brushed up lately, which he said was much wanted.
He had had cases before them, and thought the judges 
lazy.

After breakfast the Mutahavvar Jang came to see 
me. Among other tilings X asked why the Nizam had 
hesitated about the Bailway, arid he repeated the argu­
ment about Ilis Highness’s relatives running away 
by rail. He said, too, that His Highness had been 
afraid about so much land being taken up, and then 
went on to say that His Highness was afraid that the 
existence of the Railway would give His Highness s 

■ enemies increased facilities for approaching Hyderabad.
I  asked him further what this meant, but he would not 
say. Evidently, however, it did refer to the apprehension 
that the rail would increase tire British power, and give 
it increased means of overawing Hyderabad, that this 
much should have been admitted by him was perhaps 
remarkable.

I  asked him why the Nizam disliked the Minister; 
and he said point blank that the reason was that the
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Minister had introduced a system of Government formed 
on the English, model, or at all events, quite new ; 
whereas there was an old (kadm) system, which an­
swered well enough, and was approved by the -Nizam.
It was the innovations that the Nizam disliked. At 
present the Government was neither one thing nor the 
other. The English system might do ; but would not 
the old Mughalai system do also ? Could not the 
Mughalai people manage in their own way ? Did not 
the Buknn’ddaula,* the ’Arastii Jah, and the Mir ’Alam 
manage well ? To this I replied that it depended on 
what is meant by the Jcadim system. I f  it meant the 
system, which had existed under Chandd Lai, then I  
denied that that was the old system ■ if districts were to 
be let out in farm to Arabs and others, and if that and 
other flagrant abuses were to be continued, then that 
would be a recent rather than an ancient custom. Those 
who talked about re-introducing the Icadmi system 
wished to restore the above, which was really a vicious 
and modern one. The reformed system was a much 
nearer approach to the old system of the Mughal 
Emperors. The so-called English system was in many 
respects copied from the Mughal original; and that the 
Mughal people certainly could not manage for them- 
selves, if they stuck to the ways which were followed in 
Chandd Lai’s time. Perhaps the first of the Ministers

* This nobleman was twice minister; as Sayyid Lasbkar KM n 
from. 1752 to .1755, and as the Jlaknu'ddaula from 1765 to 1775, 
when lie was assassinated. The others are noticed in the intro­
duction.
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~ mentioned, the Ruknu’ddaula might have managed well, 
but even in the ’Arastii Jail’s time abuses began. The 
same also could be said of Mir ’Alum’s time ; and I b’egged 
him to think well over the replies given to his argument.

Adverting to the benefits secured to the State by the 
present Minister, I alluded to the increase of revenue, 
and he said this was due to increase of prices, rather 
than to good Government.

The conversation then turned on the sort o f interfer­
ence which the British Government might exercise in 
the affairs of the Deccan, and he said that if any internal 
evils became such as to affect British interests, the British 
Government could properly interfere; but that if such 
evils only affected the Nizam himself, or his subjects, 
then the British Government had no power, under the 
Treaties to interfere.

Shortly after that, the Amir Kabir and his nephew 
the Bashiru’ddaula paid me a visit. His manner was 
much stronger and less marked by physical weakness 
than on previous occasions. He said emphatically that 
he had advised the Nizam to agree to the Bailway pro­
posal,-—to give yarwdmgt, as he phrased it. I thanked 
him for all he had done on this and previous occasions, 
and expressed my best wishes for his welfare.

When he had gone I  shortly afterwards got a note 
from the Minister to say that the Nizam had given a 
favourable answer to the .Railway proposal, and forwarded 
certain papers therewith. He said also that His H igh­
ness fixed Wednesday for the farewell darbdr.

3?aiz Muhammad came to say, that as I  could not dine
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at Khurshed Jall’s house in the City, would I breakfast 
there? This seemed strange persistency after my pre­
vious refusal, and I explained that time did not admit..

In the evening I went to BaMram, to a farewell 
dinner party given me by the officers of the Contingent.

Tuesday, December 8 Is/.—  I spent the day ; at Bala­
ram.

Early in the morning I reviewed the 3rd Regiment 
Hyderabad Cavalry for the last time, and after the 
review I  said a few words of farewell to the Native 
Officers. M. Thenon, the French Consul, was present.

During the day I  got the Minister’s official reply 
about the Railway, and I  prepared my despatch report­
ing- the successful issue to the Governor-General.

In the afternoon I drove over to Trimalgiri to witness 
the New Year’s Games of the 21st Royal North British 
Fusiliers. After dinner I attended a soldiers’ ball 
in the barracks, and returned to Hyderabad about mid­
night.

During the afternoon I showed some gentlemen over 
the prison at Trimalgiri.

W ednesday, January 1st, 1868.— At the usual hour 
I proceeded to take my final leave of the Nizam, and, as 
arranged, I  went quite alone.

Passing through the City I thought the people seemed 
quite alive to the occasion, as for two miles the streets 
were lined with spectators, and the salutations were 
endless. I  had never seen the people looking so well 
dressed, or so respectful. I  rode on the elephant through 
the Court-yard in the usual way, and was ushered by



the Minister and the Amir .Kabir into a small darkened 
room as before, where the .Nizam, was reclining. After 
I bad sat down, His Highness beckoned to the Minister 
and to the Amir Kabir to be seated.

His .Highness began as usual with asking after the 
Governor-General. He then went on to express regret 
at rny departure, saying that he would have been 
particularly glad i f  I could have remained at his Court, 
and then he asked about rny successor. I said that my 
successor was not yet nominated, and I then went on to 
say that I was very sorry to quit the Hyderabad 
Court; that I  was much impressed with the kindness 
and consideration Iliad received there ; that the phrase 
used in the Resident's despatches wherein he described 
himself as “ an undoubted well-wisher ” (khairkhodh Mid 
islitiba), was not to be regarded as an empty form, but 
as a reality (fiaMkat), and His Highness might 
understand that I  was a real well-wisher; I  should 
continue to be so, though stationed at a distance ; and 
also that His Highness might believe I  was very 
well pleased with all my intercourse with him. He 
again repeated his expressions of regret at my depar­
ture, adding that he wra.s sorry to have been obliged to 
receive me in private instead of in public, and that the 
state of his health prevented his holding a public durbar ; 
hut that he hoped soon to get better, and would then 
hold durbars as before. He begged that I would explain 
this to the Governor-General; and finished bv sending 
liis best compliments to His Excellency.

After the darbdr I  wished the Amir Kabir and others
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good-bye, and then went back to tbe Residency. The 
crowd still watched the cortege on its way back. The 
day was bright, and I had never seen Hyderabad look so 
well.

At two o’clock the Minister came by appointment, 
anil we talked over the Railway project. He seemed to 
consider that in my farewell expressions to the Dizain 
I  had used courtly Persian, which was much appre­
ciated by His Highness.

T hursday, January 2nd.— During the day 1 was 
occupied in finishing up all sorts of public business, and 
in preparing for departure.

In the evening tbe Salar Jang came to dine with me 
alone at the Residency. The occasion was not a cheer­
ful one, and after dinner I  embraced him cordially, after 
the Oriental fashion, at the head of the great flight of 
steps, and he drove away.

F r id a y , January 3rd.— At sunrise I  started, en route 
for Calcutta, to assume the Foreign Secretaryship.

Khan das warn i came from the Minister to accompany 
me for the first stage out, and remarked that it was a 
melancholy duty.

III hi.
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D I A R I E S  OF T R A V E L
' IN.

JAMMUN AND KASHMIR
I n 1859 and 1871.

INTllODTJCTIOX.

U nlike  the former journal, which referred to political 
matters concerning the whole of the dominions of the 
'Nizam of the Deccan, so far as these are administered by 
his own Government, this portion of the work relates 
to travels in only a part of the wide possessions of the 
Maharaja of J annmln and Kashmir. His double title is 
characteristic of his country, which is really a political 
agglomeration of mountain tracts that have little con­
nection otherwise with each other. In the Punjab he is 
always known as the Maharaja of Jammiin, the n having 
a nasal sound, and to the English as the Maharaja of 
Kashmir. He is, however, lord of various territories 
besides, divided mainly into those of Gilgit, Baltistan 
or Little Tibet, and Ladakh, called collectively the Out­
lying Provinces, occupying geographically a wide and 
important area.
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From the. map hereto attached it will be seen, that 
his whole Southern Frontier, bounding the province 
of Jammiin, and a small portion of Ladakh, abuts prac­
tically on British India; bis Eastern, all in Ladakh, on 
Chinese Tibet, and the Chinese Empire proper; his 
Northern, made up of the three Outlying Provinces, on 
Eastern Turkistan; and his Western, consisting of Gilgit, 
Kashmir, and Jammiin, chiefly on the lands of the wild 
tribes of the Hindu Kush. It will be seen, therefore, that 
when Englishmen and English travellers speak of Kash­
mir, that word has two meanings:—the Galley oi 
Kashmir proper, the largest of its kind in the Himalayas 
it is true, but still the smallest division of the 
Maharajas Territories; and the extended tracts ova1 
which he rules. In this volume the term is applied in 
the strict and limited sense proper to it, unless it is 
clear from the context that the wider signification is 
intended.

The two journals which these remarks are to introduce, 
were kept respectively in 1359 and .1871, during short 
periods of travel into Kashmir through Jammiin by what 
are known as the Bliimhar or Pir Pantsal, and the 
Banihal routes. To these is added a memorandum 
originally contained in a letter to Lord Lytton, under 
date 30th September, 1876, stating what could he 
seen in a week’s visit to the Kashmir Valley via the 
Banihal Pass. As there are naturally many references *

* This word is usually written and pronounced Panjfil by Euro­
peans, but it is always Pantsal to the Kashmiris, and hence it is 
so written in this volume.
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in the succeeding pages to the topography, history, 
geography, ethnology, and so on of the country passed 
through during these journeys up and down Kashmir, 
it will he necessary here to give a short general 
description of it, as it was during the period IS 59- 
1871.

Physically the territories under the Jammun and 
Kashmir Government, estimated to contain (38,000 
square miles, can he looked at from several aspects; but 
perhaps the best general bird’s eye views of the whole 
country are those given by Mr. Drew. l ie  first divides 
it into elevations, wherein the variety is enormous,—  
from 1,000 to 28,000 feet. The lowest portion is the 
plain to the south-west in the Jammun Province, and 
known as the Daman-i-Koh, or Skirt of the 1 tills, which 
is really a continuation of the great plain of the Panjab. 
Keeping to Jammun, we next come to the region o f 
the Outer Hills, occupying a definite line, and beginning 
with a ridge about 2,000 to 3,000 feet, followed by a 
rugged country, chiefly consisting of ridges running 
pretty nearly parallel to the first, with long narrow 
valleys between them, and reaching a, height of about 
4,000 feet. Next comes the region which Mr. Drew 
calls the Middle Mountains, reaching to 10,000 feet, 
with ramifying- valleys as low as 2,500, and spreading 
from the lower gorges of the Kishnganga and the 
Jhelana Hi vers on the west, past Piinclih, Raj aim,
Bfidil and Batal to Bhadrawah in the east. Then rise 
the lofty mountain ranges which encircle the Vale of 
Kashmir, the average level of which is itself as much as
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&,000 feet and more. The summits of those magnificent 
mountains reach from, rocky snow-chid heights 15,000 
feet, to the eternal snows of Nanga Parbat on the north­
west 27,000 ; of Nun Nun, or Mir and Sir, 23,000, in the 
east; and of the heights of Kishtwav, 19,000, in the 
south-east. This splendid mountain system forms the 
catchment area of the Rivers China!) and Jhelam, treat­
ing the Ivishnganga as a tributary oi the latter. W e 
now reach the drainage of the 'Upper Indus with its great 
tributaries the Zanskar and the Shayok, a land of mighty 
mountains, comprising Ladakh, Baltistan, and Gil git, 
the whole of which is at a very high level, the peaks 
ranging from 17,000 to 22,000 feet and upwards; one, 
indeed, K2 of the Trigonometieal Survey, reaching to 
28,000, and being thus one of the highest mountains in 
the world. The valleys, however, vary a great deal, 
from wide flat depressions in the south-east, at 15,000 
feet, to deep narrow gorges in the north-west, as low 
as 5,000. There are also some table lands, or rather 
upland plains, in this region at great heights, such as 
the Deosai Plateau, at 13,000 feet, and the Linzhitang 
and Kuenlun Plains, at 16,000 and 17,000.

It is clear that such differences in level must cause 
an immense variety of climate, which indeed ranges 
from tropical heat to the cold of perpetual snow, 
causing men in some parts to go almost naked, and in 
others to he heavily clad in skins. The atmosphere is 
further greatly affected by the very varying humidity of 
the different parts, dependent greatly on altitude, which 
literally divides the country into regions of climate, and
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its outward aspect more than any other physical 

condition. Thus in the Outer Hills and Middle Moun­
tains periodical rains prevail and much moisture ; in 
Kashmir., both valley and surrounding mountains, the 
rainfall is sufficient though not periodical; hut in Astor 
and parts of Baltistan and Gilgit forest is scanty, the 
hill sides almost hare, and the crops require irrigation; 
while in Ladakh and most of Gilgit and Baltistan the 
earth is nearly rainless, the whole country barren, and 
nothing can be grown without irrigation.

Such a land is likely to be peopled by several descrip­
tions of the human race, and the subjects of the 
Maharaja of Janmrun and Kashmir, vary almost as 
much as the climate of his territories. They are 
separated from each other sometimes by actual difference 
of origin, and sometimes by divergent characteristics, 
though springing from the same stock. Roughly there 
are of Aryan stock— Ddgras, Chibalis, Paharis, Kash­
miris and Bards; and of Turanian stock —  Balfcis, 
Ladakhis and Champas, all o f  the Tibetan family.

The Dogras are the present ruling race, and are 
Hindus, claiming, as is the habit among dominant Hindus 
o f North India and the Himalayas, a Rajput descent.
They occupy, however, only a small portion of the plain 
and Outer Hills of Jam m fin to the south-east, roughly 
from Bhimbar to Basoll and south of Bhadrawah.
The Chibalis are practically Muhammadan Ddgras, dif­
fering from them to the extent that Musalmans always 
differ from Hindus in India, They occupy all the 
frontiers east, and south, and principally the lower
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The Paharis are the inhabitants of Kishtwar and 
Bhudrawsih, and are Hindus in the main, while their 
congeners, the Kashmiris, occupy Kashmir and the im­
mediately surrounding mountains, overflowing in 
patches into Jainmun to the south and northwards 
among the Hards. They are nearly all Muhammadans. 
The Hards who, distinctly belong to the type of the 
Hindu Kush tribes, and like the bulk of them are 
Muhammadans, occupy .the habitable country between 
Kashmir and the Upper Indus Talley immediately 
north of Kashmir, together with Astor and Gilgit; while 
what is capable o f sustaining human life to the north 
and east of them in Baltistan is the land of the Baltis, 
a Muhammadan-race of Tibetan origin. We now come 
to Ladakh proper, peopled as-far as is physically possible 
by LadakMs, except in the south-east, where the 
nomad Champas wander in the upland valleys of Kup- 
shu. Both of these last are Tibetan Buddhists. The 
north-east of Ladakh, i.e. the Linzhitang and Kuen- 
lun Plains, are practically uninhabited.

In appearance these races vary greatly. The Hogra- 
Chibali is sligditly built and well-looking. The Pahari- 
Kashmiri is large and stoutly-built, with a fine caste of 
countenance the former division hardy, and the latter 
robust, but wanting in courage. The Hards cannot be 
called a handsome, though they are a powerfully made 
people, exceptionally hardy, and well knit together.
The Baltis, the Ladaklhs, and the Champas are of the 
regular thickset Tibetan type; the Champas being the
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most, and the Baltis,— apparently by becoming Muham­
madans,— the least like the real Tibetans. It is needless 
to remark that the languages and the characteristics of 
these peoples differ as much as their personal appearance.

Such being, shortly, the general view of the motley 
inhabitants of the Maharaja’s dominions, it is sufficient 
to remark here that the people met with by the writer 
of these journals were, from Bhimbarto the Fir Pantsal 
Pass the Chibalis, while from Janimun to TJdhampur 
on the Banihal Route they Avere Dogras, and thence 
onward to the Banihal Pass Paharis. Beyond both 
the Pir Pantsal and the Banihal Passes and throughout 
Kashmir they were all Kashmiris. These three races, 
therefore, deserve a more extended notice here.

The Dogras in their own home appear as a distinct 
race of the ordinary Indian type, and are divided off 
into castes, such as one would consequently expect to 
find, from Brahmans down to the outcaste bums.
These castes are Brahmans (priests), Rajputs (rulers 
and soldiers), Khatris (writers and merchants), Thakars 
(who are not, of course, Thakurs), and Jats (farmers),
Baniyas and Kirars (small traders), KYus (barbers), Jiiirs 
Renders), Dhiyars (smiths), Meglis and Bums (low 
castes end scavengers). The mere enumeration of these 
“  castes”  and their titles will suffice to show that the 
Dogra body politic in the hills differs in no way from 
that of the Panjabis in the plains, so far as these last 
are Hindus and not Sikhs or Muhammadans, The Chiba ­
lis, evidently essentially the same people as the Dogras, 
are Muhammadanized Hindiis of a type common to all
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the Panjab, especially in the hilly parts of the North. 
Physically the Dogras are slim, high shouldered, and 
weak on their legs, but wiry and enduring; of compa­
ratively fair complexion and good intelligent features.
In general character, excepting those about or connected 
with the Court, they are simple and childlike, conceited, 
tractable if  properly led, though otherwise obstinate, 
avaricious and close-fisted, hut faithful in service. . As 
rulers they are wanting- in tact and sympathy, and are 
therefore disliked ; but they possess the patience, cour­
age, and endurance necessary to control the many aliens 
subject to them. The main apparent difference between 
them and the Chibalxs is that caused by the “ get-up 
duo to religious distinctions. Among the latter, too, 
are included miscellaneous hill Muhammadans, such as 
the. Kakka-Bambas, of the lower Jhelam valleys, the 
(xakkhars about Kdtli, and the Maliks of Darhal, who 
have slightly variant but marked characteristics of then- 
own. Just as is the case in the Panjab Himalayas, all 
these last belong to what are called the Sahus, i.e., the 
upper classes of the hill peoples converted to Islam.

The Paharis are the inhabitants of the Middle Moun­
tains of Kishtwar and Bhadrawah, including Biiclil and 
Batal, that have remained Hindu. Their name, of 
course,, means “ Mountaineer,” hut it is restricted locally 
to that particular race. They are strong and hardy, 
o f a good, powerful and active frame, well-formed face, 
and remarkably hooked nose. Their castes assimilate to 
those of the Dogras; the Thakars, or peasant farmers 
predominating. Among these people, and apparently
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Closely connected with them, are to he found the Gaddis; 
wandering Hindu shepherds common to all the western 
Himalayas; and also the Gujars, Muhammadan buffalo- 
and cow-herds, whose characteristics are the same as in 
the Panjab and North-west India generally.

The Kashmirls, if we except the weakly shawl- 
makers, are one of the fmest races physically in all India; 
robust, broad-shouldered, muscular, and well-featured, 
but of not more than middle height as a rule. In 
character they are credited with exceptional cowardice, 
and the concomitants of this failing— lying and deceit­
fulness, wrangling and weeping on occasion. But they 
are intellectually, superior to all their neighbours, talka­
tive and cheerful They are divided into Hindus or 
Pandits,— which term in Kashmir does not by any means 
imply Brahmanical rank— and Muhammadans, the latter 
forming six-sevenths o f the population.

The large and important class o f boatmen is, o f all 
those inhabiting Kashmir, that best known to European 
travellers, because the great highways of the country 
are the Jhelam Biver, the canals, and tile lakes. They 
are called Hanjis and possess alike the best and worst 
traits o f t he Kashmiris. Powerful, well-developed, and 
exceedingly skilful in the management of their boats, 
their cowardice in a storm on one of their lakes is a 
source o f danger to themselves and their passengers. ’ 
Good-humoured, energetic and versatile, they will yet 
lie with extraordinary readiness, and are greedy and 
importunate to a degree.

The Kashmiri Muhammadans are split up into some
t 2



twenty tribes or classes, of which the most important 
are the Chaks, originally the warrior class, the Maliks, 
and the Bats. The chief religionists are the Bislus, 
who seem to be celibate monks of a type not uncommon 
in the East, but are nevertheless, as a class, peculiar to 
Kashmir. The shawl-weavers, too, are Muhammadans, 
and form a numerous and withal a miserable class, badly 
paid, badly nourished and badly housed, and therefore 
physically and morally wretched. The Hindus are, as 
usual, infinitely subdivided; but by occupation they are 
—firstly, priests, secondly, astrologers, and thirdly, 
writers, merchants, and farmers. In addition to these 
there are a few principal outside tribes, such as the 
neatherds who are Panjabi immigrants, the shepherds, 
the horse-keepers who were also at one time the chief 
marauders and highwaymen, the Dams who are police 
and watchmen, the Argauns or half-breeds between 
Kashmiris and the Tibetan races, and the Batals, a low, 
outcaste, and probably indigenous people, who do the 
dirty work of the country, and supply the dancing girls 
of Northern India with many a recruit.

With reference to the Kashmiris there is one striking 
and peculiar habit of theirs in the winter, alluded to in 
the journals, and deserving therefore some notice here. 
Every Kashmiri in the winter, asleep or awake, at work 
or play, sitting or walking, has under his long loose 
garment, the pheran, a portable brazier or hangar, known 
to Europeans always as the kangri. It consists of an open 
earthen vessel, enclosed in wickerwork and filled with 
live charcoal, and is held over the stomach and loins.
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This is naturally a dangerous practice, and as a matter o f 
fact there is hardly a Kashmiri in existence that has not 
been more or less severely burnt in consequence o f it. 
Despite its common use in Kashmir, it is believed to 
have been introduced there solute as the Mughal times, 
and it bears a common family likeness to the various 
braziers and hand-warmers of Europe, so much in favour 
during the Middle Ages.

At the time under consideration, the population of 
the Maharaja’s territories amounted to a million and a 
half, of whom 20,000 were Buddhists, while the Mu­
hammadans out-numbered the Hindus in the proportion 
o f three to two. The inhabitants were distributed thus: 
— 000,000 in Jammun, 500,000 in Kashmir, and
100,000 in Ladakh, Baltistan and Gilgit. Only in 
Jamimin did the Hindus exceed the Muhammadans in 
number, and then as three to two, but in Kashmir the 
Hindus formed but one-seventh of the population, and 
in the Outlying Provinces their numbers were insignifi­
cant. The City of Srinagar had ] 32,000 inhabitants, 
absorbing more than one-fourth of the whole popula­
tion of the Kashmir Valley, and in it the Muhammadans 
more than doubled the Hindus.

It is now necessary to explain shortly, in order to 
render the diaries clear, something further as to the 
regions actually traversed, viz., the Outer Hills and 
Middle Mountains of Jainmiin; the mountains surround­
ing Kashmir, especially those enclosing the south side 
of it crossed by the Plr Pantsal and Banihfj Passes ; 
and lastly, the Valley itself.

f(l)| %L
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On entering the Maharajas territories the traveller 

is still in the plains of the Panjab, and the country has 
all the appearance of the submontane tracts of the 
Western Himalayas ; dull and bare when the crops are 
off the ground, hard and dried up in the summer heats, 
bright and agreeable during the spring and autumn 
harvest seasons, verdant in the rains, and dotted over with 
villages and the scrubby foliage of the Pan jab. In the 
spring the air is clear, and the views of the great 
mountains distinct and far-reaching. This plain tract of 
•Ja nun tin is called Kandl, or the Edging, by the natives, 
far which Daman-i-Koli is of course a Persian]zed 
expression; and that between the Outer Hills and the 
Middle Mountains par excellence Pahar, or the Hills. 
The Outer Hills form really part of what are called else­
where the Siwaliks—that long chain of low hills run­
ning for 1,300 miles along the foot of the great Himala­
yas. Their width here varies from 14 to 36 miles.

The Kandi tract, though closer to the hills is drier 
than the submontane districts further distant, a condi­
tion chiefly due to the presence of many and deep ravines 
drained by flood streams from the mountains, and a 
light soil, which causes an entire absence of that swampy 
fringe well-known in the Eastern Himalayas as the 
Tarai. The surface is on the whole arid, and the yield 
of the crops uncertain; but much jungle grass or /char 
is found. The rivers traversing that part of it which 
now concerns us are the Tavf, the Chinab, and the 
Mfnawar Tavi. The Tavf rises at the back of the Outer 
Hills, and after a course of 80 miles, liable to severe
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and sudden Hoods, flows past Jamraun Town on the 
outermost hill of the, range, and soon afterwards joins 
the Chinab. The Mlnawar Tavl rises similarly in the 
Raian Pantsal range behind Rajauri, and after passing 
Mlnawar runs into the Chinab, not far below its sister 
of the left hank. The Chinab, b j the time it debouches 
on the plains at Akniir is already a mighty river, break­
ing into several channels, which create a fertile area in 
its immediate neighbourhood ; but the country be­
tween Bhimbar and Mlnawar is rather drier than 
that more to the east, Bhimbar itself being on a plain 
cut up in all directions by ravines such as those above 
described.,

To the east of the Chinab as far as the Ravi there 
runs aline of stony hills, reaching to 2,000 feet in gentle 
slopes, and covered with a low forest of acacias. This 
comes to an abrupt termination on its northern side, 
and then follows about as wild, stony and tangled a mass, 
of bare sandstone hills and ravines as can well be ima­
gined, and exceedingly rough-to traverse. Passing these, 
a flat valley or dun about four miles wide is reached, 
the northern side of which is hounded by the outer 
range o f the Middle Mountains. To the west of the 
Chinab, the country bears something of the same char­
acteristics, till the traveller is past the Mlnawar Tavl, 
when in the neighbourhood of Bhimbar, and between it 
and Naushahra, are several lines of bold parallel ridges, 
commonly between 3,000 and 4,000 feet high, and 
divided by narrow and broken-hollows.

In this region the climate is much that of the
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Northern Panjab; hot in April to June, then wet till 
September, and cold for the rest of the year; but the 
night temperature is somewhat lower in the hot weather 
than is the case in the Panjab plains generally. The un­
healthy season is during the months after the cessation, 
or partial cessation, of the rains, he., August, September 
and October, when much fever prevails of a severer type 
than that which is apt to break out below at the same 
season. The vegetation is of the usual Punjab type, 
with acacia and her (zlzypha jtijuba) forest, and a good 
deal of euphorbia scrub in the further hills; and also trees 
of the banyan, piped, mango, bamboo, and phoenix palm, 
and along the streams oleander bushes. Between
13,000 and 4,000 feet, there is a good deal of the pinu-s 
lovgifolia, the well-known cldl pine. The Spring crops are 
wheat and barley; and in the Autumn are harvested 
maize, millet and rice. Plantains and sugar cane are 
also grown.

A  line run roughly through Basoh, ltamnagar, Bias! 
and Rajauri, and thence through Punchh to Muzaffarabad, 
will give the southern boundaries of the Middle Moun­
tain region, which extends northwards from, this to the 
lofty ranges, including thus the tracts of Bhadrawah and 
Kishtwar, and having as its northern boundary the 
Panfsal mountains. This region varies from 40 miles 
in width north of Basoli to as little as 10 miles at 
Rajauri, and consists of a mass of mountains, split up in 
all directions by ravines and narrow valleys, and desti­
tute of flat spaces. The mountains range up to as high 
as 12,000 feet in peaks, and the average valley level is
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4,000 feet. The vegetation is therefore temperate in its 
character, and the forest consists of Himalayan oak, 
spruce, silver fir and deodar cedar. The cultivation, 
which is everywhere carried on where possible, is depend­
ent chiefly on the level above the sea. The usual double 
harvests of India are, however, only obtainable in the 
lowest valleys, and the land has generally to he 
reserved for one harvest in each year, though as usual 
wheat and barley are cut in the Spring, and maize and 
millet in the Autumn. Snow falls everywhere, melting 
as it falls in the valleys, but lying on the hill slopes for 
as long as five months in the higher parts.

Iir order to understand how the wide depression of 
the Kashmir Valley is surrounded by lofty ranges, and 
the relation of these to each other, it is necessary to 
somewhat closely follow the map, and the best way to 
view tlie question generally is to treat the valley and its 
surroundings as the catchment area of the Jhelam and 
its tributaries. Commencing then from the north­
west corner at the magnificent pile of Nanga Parbat, 
and following the watersheds, i.e., the ranges which 
divide the streams falling into the Indus from those 
joining the Jhelam, eastwards towards Tilel and Surd, 
Ave reach Nun Kun, the lofty south-east boundary of 
what we may call the main chain. The tortuous line 
thus followed can be easily traced by the colours differ­
entiating Kashmir Proper from the Outlying Provinces. 
From this main chain there trends to the north and west 
from near Sonamarg' a clearly defined and lesser, though 
still splendid, range of mountains, including Harmukli,
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17,000 feet, which form the actual north-west boun­
dary of the Valley as far round as Baramiila, and separates 
the. basin of the Jhelam from that of its tributary the 
Kishnganga. Again, somewhat to the east of Sdnamarg 
there trends from the main chain southwards as far as 
the Banihal Pass another clearly defined range, which 
then turns sharply to the west, again as far as Barannik, 
This line can also be easily followed by the colours separ­
ating the Kashmir from the Jammun Territories; and be­
yond Banihal, i.e., all along its southern stretch, it is 
called the Pir Pantsal Range, Its geographical duty is to 
divide the basins of the Jhelam and the Chinab, though 
strictly speaking the drainage of the Piinchh River 
belongs to the Jhelam system, and so the true watershed 
between the Jhelam and the Chinab stops short at the 
Pir Pantsal. Pass; and westward of that point the 
bounding mountains of Kashmir divide the basins of the 
Jhelam and the Piinchh. Having so far endeavoured to 
lead the reader through the salient points in the mazes 
of these mountains, it is sufficient to add here, that along 
the Bhimbar route the traveller is traversing the tribu­
taries of the Chinab until he reaches Bahramgul, and 
along the Banihal route until he has actually crossed 
the pass of that name.

These mighty walls of the Vale of Kashmir are pierced 
by a great gap formed by the Jhelam at Baramiila, 
and are rendered passable by several low points or passes. 
These last are especially numerous in the Pir Pantsal 
Range, varying in height from 14,000 to 8,000 f t . ; and 
among them, those that now concern us are the Banihal



(9,200 ft.) and the Pir Pantsal itself (11,400 ft.). 
Throughout this range, too, are innumerable lakes of 
all sizes, the largest being’ that in the Brahma feakal 
Mountain, which is over two miles long by three-quar­
ters of a mile wide ; and the most famous that of 'Yernag 
at the Kashmir foot of the Banihal Pass. It may be 
here noted that in this connection nag in Kashmir often 
means merely “ tarn ”  or “  pool,” from the tutelary deity 
of such places ; and that pir means “  pass,” from the fact 
that in days gone by, some pir or ascetic took up his 
abode in one as long as it was open, and helped the pass­
ing traveller. It may he further noted that nag is a 
Hindu term, and pir  a Muhammadan one. The tarns 
are also often called sar, which is merely the modern 
form o f a Sanskrit word meaning “ lake, ' and there 
seems to be little doubt as to their being formed by the 
action of former glaciers.

I f  we follow the main chain, starting from Manga 
Parbat to beyond Man Kun, south-eastwards as far as the 
Bara Lacha Pass, we find ourselves in the mountains 
dividing the tributaries of the Chinab from those of 
the Indus, and that the general run of the system is 
north-west and south-east; and we have already seen 
that the mountains immediately surrounding the Valley 
of Kashmir are mighty spurs jutting out from the main 
chain. The valley, then, is really nothing more than a 
depression, though a wide one, in the system, and fol­
lows its general direction. It is, in fact, an oval, with 
its long diameter running north-west and south-east 
for 84 miles along the flat, while its flat width varies

<SL
Introduction. 283



®  __'
n

v f l T
Kashmir. i j l j

irom 20 to 25 miles. In appearance, however, it is 
much larger, as the view, of course, includes the sum­
mits of the encircling mountains, which are 116 miles 
apart at the long diameter, arid from 75 to 40 miles at 
the shorter ones.

The vale itself has a double conformation, caused, 
firstly, by the alluvium of the Jhelam liiver (called by 
natives the Behat or Vehat, and pedantically by the 
•pandits, Yftasta, from its old Sanskrit name Yitasta), 
and, secondly, by the plateaux arising from older alluvial 
or lacustrine deposits, called locally karetvas. Its 
average level is 6,000 ft., i.e., it varies from 5,200 in 
the lowest part o f the alluvial plain, to 7,000 ft. in the 
highest plateaux. The alluvial plain, which bears the 
usual characteristics of such formations, lies on the banks 
of the Jhelam, along the northern side of the valley 
from Islamabad to the Walar Lake, and is some 50 
miles long and from two to fifteen, wide. Much of this 
plain is covered permanently with water, forming shal­
low and weedy lakes— of which the Walar is the largest, 
being ten miles long by six wide— and much more of 
it is marsh land, dry in winter when the river is low.

The flatness o f the alluvial part of the valley makes 
the Jhelam a sluggish river from Islamabad to Bara- 
imila, a distance o f 120 miles, and easily navigable by 
boats of all sizes, rendering travelling pleasant and com­
fortable. When low it is considerably below its banks, 
but, as it continually overtops them at the season of 
melting snow, they have been artificially raised. This, 
however, has not hitherto been done with such thorough-
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ness as to prevent frequent floods. Besides the great 
river itself, there is a multitude of waterways through 
Srinagar formed by canals, the description of which pro­
perly belongs to that of the City itself; but outside it 
is the important Narii Canal from Shadipur on the 
Jhelam to Sopiir, made to avoid the Walar Lake, and 
having a commonly used branch southwards to Patan.

The lakes worthy o f mention here are the Walar, 
the Dal, and the Manas Bal, all in the course of the 
Jhelam. The Walar is in the north-west corner o f 
the valley, and is formed merely by the waters’ of the 
Jhelam overflowing into the depression, situated there. 
It is bounded, therefore, by mountains on three sides, 
and resolves itself into a swamp where the river enters- 
it, to be lost for a while in its paters and to reappear again 
at its south-west corner. This lake is nowhere more 
than 14 ft. deep; but it is subject to violent storms, 
which, are the terror of the Kashmiri boatmen. The 
Dal is the lake of Srinagar City, with an average depth 
of 10 ft., shut off from the Jhelam by artificial banks, 
and saved from floods by ingenious, though primitive 
gates, so made in the passage left for navigation as to 
open towards the river. The Manas Bal is a much 
frequented lake near the Walar on the right bank of 
the Jhelam, with which it is connected by a channel. 
It is about three miles long and a mile wide, and its 
depth is about 50 ft., though locally reputed to be 
fabulous.

The upland parts of the Kashmir Valley are called 
by the natives kan'was, and are to be found to the
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north-west beyond the Jhelam plain-, thence from 
Sopiir to Shupen along the foot of the Hr Pantsal moun­
tains, to a width of 8 to 16 miles into the valley, and 
then in the side valleys beyond the Jhelam to the east 
and north-east. They are of two kinds, the flat-topped 
and the sloping, and are separated by deep ravines 
varying from 100 to 300 ft. in depth, sometimes being 
thus made to stand out alone in the midst of low ground. 
Their soil is mostly loam, and their drainage complete, 
so they are apt to be arid, but if irrigated they are very 
productive.

The elevation, of the valley renders the climate tem­
perate, especially in comparison with the plains of 
India. The spring is cold and showery, the summer 
warm and fine, the winter damp and foggy. The 
marshy ground about Srinagar is apt to bring on fevers 
in July and August; but they can be escaped by moving 
a few miles to higher ground, and in the same manner 
the fogs of winter can he, avoided by_ a move into the 
higher parts. There is no regular double harvest as in 
India, though it is practicable in parts to reap barley 
in spring, or rather summer, and then rape, maize, or 
millet in the autumn. The cultivation of wheat and 
rice however, precludes a second harvest; the latter is 
the great crop in Kashmir, but the former is not of a 
good quality.

Besides the grains grown for food there is much to 
interest the observer in the general vegetation of 
Kashmir, especially in the matter of forest and fruit-trees. 
The deodar, or Himalayan cedar, the pine (both longifolia



and excelsa), and the yew, all abound, and are most valu­
able forest trees ; the elm, too, and the sandal wood ap­
pear to he common. The cypress, the plane or ckundr, are 
abundant and luxuriant, though exotic ; while the poplar 
flourishes everywhere, and to these must be added a wild 
chestnut, the mountain oak, two varieties of willow, the 
maple, red and white hawthorn, the birch, the spruce, the 
juniper, and the rhododendron, all flourishing at the 
elevations suitable to each. As to fruit-trees, they are 
exceptionally numerous, apples and pears of many kinds, 
peaches, apricots, plums, almonds, pomegranates, mul­
berries, walnuts, hazels, vines and cherries. Then there 
are strawberries, raspberries and currants. Vegetables, 
too, of all sorts are grown in any quantity; potatoes, 
cauliflowers, carrots, rhubarb, beetroot, turnips, onions, 
endive, and so on ; cucumbers, also, and melons and the 
water caltrop, or siiighdrd nut, in the peculiar floating 
gardens of the Dal Lake, In addition to all this, 
Kashmir is a veritable land of flowers, wild and culti­
vated, both on land and on water; roses, iris, and saffron 
in enormous quantities, and the splendid lotus o f the 
waters about Srinagar.

No account of Kashmir would be in any way adequate 
without a more or less detailed reference to its chief 
feature, the City of Srinagar— the Kashmir of the 
Muhammadans during their rule, who, as usual, would 
have nothing to say to former Hindu names. It is not 
only the most important place in the Valley, but as we 
have seen above, it actually swallows up one-fourth of 
the entire population. It lies along the J helam, ex-
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tending for about three miles on either bank, and about 
half a mile inland ; but it is surrounded by swamps, and 
built on ground more or less artificially raised above 
their level. In this way it is a lacustrine city, streets 
and thoroughfares being of minor importance, and the 
main arteries of traffic being firstly the river, and secondly 
the canals and lakes or swamps. The houses are not 
exactly built in blocks and lines, but independently of 
each other, and are combined wood and brick structures 
on a firm and solid stone foundation higher than the 
flood line. The public buildings are of the usual Indian 
type; mosques and temples, palaces and forts.

A good deal will be said about the City and its 
appearance further on, and it will therefore be sufficient 
here to point out its main features, so that, the reader 
may not in any way be puzzled by the references and 
statements in the journals. The most remarkable 
objects in Srinagar are the River Jhelam and the 
canals that intersect it in every direction. The J'helam 
makes one long bend through the City, and during its 
course there is confined within, for it, a narrow channel 
only 80 yards across, by an embankment of limestone 
blocks, now in considerable want of repair, broken by 
numerous stairs or gldts, and topped with buildings. 
The river is thus deeper and swifter in the City than 
anywhere else in the Valley. Of the canals the chief are 
the Ivatha Kul on the left, and the Tsonta Kul, the 
Isfahan Mar, and the Eainawan on the right hank of the 
river. The Katha Kul leaves the Jhelam under the 
walls of the Shergarhi Fort, and after a while bifurcates,
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the western branch entering the Dudgangsl River just be­
fore its junction with the Jhelam, and the eastern branch 
returning to the great river itself. In the flood season 
it is navigable by the largest boats ; but for the rest o f 
the year it consists merely of a series o f stagnant pools. 
The Tsonta Kul leaves the Jhelam opposite the Slier- 
garlu, and reaches the Dal. Lake in a mile and a half. 
A  branch called the Sdnawar canal joins it to the Jhelam 
higher up to the east of Hari Singh’s Garden. The 
Bainawari canal, or rather network o f water channels, 
starts from the Watergate at the Dal Lake end of 
the Sdnawar canal and runs northwards to the Hari 
Parbat, through walls, meadows, and lotus swamps. 
But the grand canal of Srinagar is the ISTahari Mar, 
which with its many branches is rather difficult to 
follow. It may he said to start from the south-west 
corner o f the Dal Lake, flowing thence to the Dilawar 
Khan Bagh, formerly set apart for the residence of 
Europeans, and onwards in a winding manner past the 
Sraf Kadal to the Kao Kadal. It has two main 
branches, the Shihilting canal flowing westwards near 
its commencement across the Bran Nambal, and joining 
it again towards the Sraf Kadal; and another flowing 
northwards near its termination with the Anchar Lake, 
and joining the Jhelam miles away near the junction of 
the Sindh Eiver.

The Bridges of Srinagar are very numerous, and, as 
they are the principal landmarks of the City, it is as 
well to enumerate the chief ones here. Beginning then 
in every case up stream, and premising that the suffix
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kadal—a particular form of bridge, as will be seen 
further on— is added colloquially to each name, they 
are as follows:— over the Jhelam, the Amiri, Ifubba, 
Patteh, Zaina, Haili, Kay a, and Saffii; over the Jvatha 
Kul, the Tainld, Darasli, Chutsa, Kanhayya, Bozagar, 
and Watal; over the Tsonta Kul, the Gao; over the 
Rainawari, the Xaidyar; over the Hahari Mar, the 
Naopura, INaid, Bhiiri, Srai, Kadi, Razdwar, Khwadar, 
Gao,-Duma, Piicha. All these bridges are of the same 
type, excepting those over the Kahari Mar, which, the 
Gao and Duma kadals excepted, consist of single 
pointed masonry arches, and appear to be very ancient.

Perhaps the features ol Srinagar which first catch 
the traveller’s eye are its avenues of poplars. The chief 
of these is that known as the PoplarAvenue par excellence, 
which starts near the Amiri Kadal on the right bank 
of the Jhelam, and extends for a mile and more to the 
Sonawar Canal, at the foot of the Taklit-i-Sulaiman. 
Another celebrated avenue commences at the same bridge 
on the left hank of the river, and runs southwards for 
seven miles along the road to Shupen. A  third runs 
southwards from the Shergarhi to a bridge over the 
Diidganga.

Srinagar is protected, or supposed to he protected, by 
two fortresses; Shergarhi to the south, and Han Parbat 
to the north. The Shergarhi is a rectangular enclosure 
about 400 yards long by 200 broad, between the rivers 
Jhelam and Diidganga. It is surrounded by double 
loopholed stone walls, connected by numerous bastions 
on its three land sides, and on the river, i.e. the Jhelam,
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side, it is defended by a high wall surrounded by public 
buildings and dwellings, Inside, the fort contains a 
long bazar, many residences and Government offices and 
store houses, a hall of audience, a treasury, and a royal 
palace with a temple attached. The Hari Parbat is a 
hill dominating the northern end of the City, and rising 
250 feet above the valley level. This hill is surrounded 
by a massive bastioned wall some three miles long, con­
structed by the Emperor Akbar in 1597. The fort itself 
is on the top of the hill, and is reached by a broad easy 
road from the north. Its form follows the outline 
o f the crest, and its walls are of massive and lofty stone 
work. Within are barracks and arrangements for a 
small garrison only, and without, and between it and 
the outer wall, are several suburbs and walled enclosures.
At the northern end of the fort is a separate square 
building named Shuja’ul-Mulk's .tower, after the ill- 
fated ruler of Afghanistan.

The plot of ground on the right bank of the Jhclam, 
between the Tsdnta Kul and its branch, the Sonawar 
canal, has been reserved for Europeans. It is an open 
grassy plain a mile and a half long by a mile broad, 
intersected by the Poplar Avenue, and divided into 
bde/hs or gardens, containing bungalows, all belonging 
to the Maharaja. These are the Munshi, Hari Singh, 
Gurmukh Singh, Tara Singh, and Shekh Baglis, which 
last is the residence of the British Political Agent.
These spots are therefore those best known to visitors; 
and to them may be added the Earn Munsln Bagh, a 
mile or so higher up the river, the island opposite the

xj 2
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Bari Singh Bagh, and Kirpa Ram’s Chhaunt a xniie 
below the City, as favourite camping grounds.

The Public Buildings of Srinagar, besides those in the 
forts already mentioned, are few, and more peculiar than 
beautiful. They are all mosques— some of stone, and 
some of wood on stone foundations— and are the J ama 
Masjid, built by the Emperor Shah Jahan; the 
celebrated and remarkable mosque of Shah Hamadan, the 
local name of the great Sayyid ’All Hamadani, who fled 
to Kashmir from the persecutions of Amir Tairmir 
(Tamerlane) in 1380, and who with his son Mir Muham­
mad Hamadani had as much to do with the fixing the 
religion of the Valley as any personage in its history ; the 
’Ala Masjid outside the city to the north-west, and 
dated 1471; the Bulbul Lankar on the Jhelara in honour 
o f Bulbul Shah, the local saint who is said to have 
introduced Muhammadanism into Kashmir ; the Rattan 
Shah Masjid, an old stone building also on the Jhelam, 
and the Mungrf Masjid to the west of the city. There 
are also the ruins of a beautiful mosque built by Mull a 
Shah, the pastor of the unfortunate Bara Shikoh, the 
elder brother and rival of the Emperor Aurangzeb; the 
disused Pathar Masjid erected by Nur Jahan; and the 
shrine of Thagi Baba on the Kattm Kul. Of antiquities 
Srinagar can boast hut few, the iconoclastic zeal of the 
earlier Muhammadan rulers having caused these to disap­
pear to a great extent; indeed the chief signs of the old 
Hindu occupation are the many sculpture stones worked 
into the river and canal embankments, and the stone 
foundations of the modern wooden buildings. There is, 
however, an old tomb to the great Kashmiri King
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inscription by Mirza Haidar Dughlat, the general and 
relative of the Emperor Hunmyiin, who made himself 
master of Kashmir from 1540 to 1551. But the really 
ancient Hindu site in the immediate neighbourhood of 
Srinagar is on the summit of the well-known hill called 
the Takht-i-Sulaiman, from whence is to be obtained the 
magnificent panoramic view so carefully detailed in the 
journals. Here there is a comparatively modern temple, 
containing a linga, or phallic emblem, and constructed on 
a very old plinth. Besides this, there are about three 
miles above Srinagar, on the right bank of the Jhelam, 
the ruins of Pandrcnthan, a city of the old rulers of 
Kashmir, containing the remains of a very celebrated 
temple, also described in the journals.

Srinagar is more or less surrounded bv lakes and 
morasses. These are, on the left bank of the Jhelam, 
the Vatnar and the Nagat Hambal along the highroad 
to Slnipen, and the Brimman stretching away to the 
shores of the Walar Lake; and on the right bank the 
Aneliar to the north-west of the town, and the series 
o f swamps and lakes called the Dal, or Srinagar, Lake.
This last, with its surroundings, is one of the chief 
delights of Kashmir. It is five miles long by two broad, 
generally shallow, inclined to he marshy, and partly 

• covered by the floating gardens peculiar to it, and the 
leaves of the lotus and other aquatic plants, interspersed 
with plots of partially and wholly reclaimed meadow 
and garden land; hut of clear water and exquisitely situ­
ated in an amphitheatre of mountains. It is divided 
into several distinct parts, whose names it is always as
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well to bear in mind, when talking of it. Commencing 
from the south-east corner, these are the (fugribal, 
the Bud Dal, and the Astawol; then westwards the 
Sudarkan, the Dal Kotwal and Dildar Pokhar, which, 
last is a district of sedge, weeds and swampy land. 
Nearer to the City itself, and within the canal region, 
is the Bran Niimbal. The lake is crossed by a narrow- 
path running along a raised causeway, called the Siittu, 
or Sitti Chaudhari, and contains two artificial islands, 
the Sdna Lank in the Bud Dal and the Pupa Lank, or 
Isle of Chundrs, in the Astawol. This last is famous 
for having contained a black marble inscribed tablet, 
placed there by three well known European travellers, 
and as it has now disappeared and is fast becoming 
forgotten, it may not be out of place to give the text 
of the inscription here, especially as it brings vividly 
before the mind the fact that only fifty years ago the 
now oft visited Kashmir Valley was practically an in­
accessible land:—-

THREE TRAVELLERS,

B a r o n  CARL ton HUG EL fro m  Jammuh,
JOHN HENDERSON f r o m  L a d a k h ,

GODFREY THOMAS YIGNE from Skardu,
WHO MET IN SRINAGAR ON THE I 8 t H NOVEMBER, 1835,

HAVE CAUSED THE NAMES OF THOSE EUROPEAN TRAVELLERS WHO PRE­

VIOUSLY VISITED THE VALE OF KASHMIR, TO BE HEREUNDER 

ENGRAVED 4—
BERNIER, 1663,

F O R S T E R , 1786,
MOOROEOFT, TEEBECK a n d  GUTHRIE, 1823, 

JACQUEMONT, 1831,
W OLFF, 1832.

OF THESE, THREE ONLY LIVED TO RETURN TO THEIR NATIVE COUNTRY.
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A t the foot of the hills surrounding' the Dal, and in 

other places about it, are situated many gardens and struc- 
tures, mostly dating from the Imperial Mughal times,
Of these it will he. sufficient to mention here those that 
concern us in. this volume : the fehalmar and the Nishat 
Dardens, the Pari Mahal, the Chashina fehaln, and the 
•llazrat Bal.

.Before closing this general description of Kashmir 
and its people, a short reference roust be made to one 
or two special points.

Among these the boats on the canals and the Jhclam 
deserve mention as being one of the chief means of 
conveyance in Kashmir. They are all built of deodar 
(cedar) wood, and are peculiar in having no sails. They 
may be divided into State, passenger, and cargo boats. 
Belonging to the first category are the bangla, called 
also didkh war and larinao, andthq parinda, both reserved 
for persons of consequence. The bangla is a large fetate 
vessel with a house amidships, and the parinda, a light 
fast boat, with a canopied platform in the fore part.
Of the passenger class are the shikari, a fast “ six-manned 
wherry, fitted with comfortable cushions, the bdnduh 
shikari, a small swift punt for wild fowl shooting on the 
lakes, and the dung a. This last is used by the Kash­
miris as a cargo and dwelling boat, and by the English 
as a commodious travelling conveyance, because it sup­
ports a convenient house made of matting. The regu­
lar cargo boats are the baht, a heavy cumbersome barge 
with a house in the stem, and the Ithuch, a very large 
boat without cover or awning.
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The bridges? of Kashmir are also, as will have been 
already perceived, a matter of some importance, and. 
they are of.various kinds. First comes the kadal proper, 
of which there are thirteen over the Jhelarn, seven being- 
in Srinagar itself. The construction and appearance of 
this bridge are very peculiar and worthy of a short de­
scription here. A  foundation of deodar piles is first 
made in the river bed, and on this logs of the same wood 
25 ft. long and 2 to 8 ft. in girth, are laid 2 ft. apart in 
layers at right angles to each other. In this way a 
large open pier 25 ft. square is formed, and raised to a 
height of 25 to 80 ft. These piers are built about 90 ft. 
apart and. spanned by long undressed, deodar timbers 
covered over by a double row of small transverse logs, 
closely packed and then plastered with earth. As a 
protection to the piers, abutments o f stones and piles 
running to a point are constructed on their upstream, 
sides. There are also bridges of a single span, called in 
Kashmir kadals, but elsewhere in these hills sanghds, 
which are thus constructed. On either side the stream 
strong- abutments of rubble and timber are made, and 
into these are firmly inserted, in successively projecting 
tiers, stout poles, increasing in length as the tiers rise 
upwards, the opposite sides being firmly connected by 
two or three stout and long trees, on which are placed 
a pathway and a handrail. Such a bridge is sometimes 
oi considerable span. Then there are two kinds of rope 
suspension bridges, often of great length, called respec­
tively the chikti and the jft old. The chikd consists 
simply of a stout cable, formed of six or eight ropes of
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hemp, or of willow and birch twigs, loosely twined 
together, and swung from rude piers on either side .the 
stream, along which is hauled a large wooden ring by 
means o f a rope. From this ring is suspended a loop, 
in which the passenger seats himself. The process of 
being pulled across is a tedious one, but though it looks 
dangerous it is safe enough. The jhold is similarly 
formed of a. cable and rope swung across a stream, but 
the former is used as a footpath and the latter as a 
handrail. Crossing a mountain stream by the jhdlo is 
more nervous work, than by the claim, as these bridges 
are apt to swing considerably with the traveller s weight, 
and violently in a high wind. Besides these there are 
the tangan, formed by two side timbers, on which are 
laid brushwood and earth kept down by large stories, 
and the Icdnal, which is merely a tree trunk or plank 
thrown across a stream.

A  word or two is necessary as to the routes between 
Kashmir and the plains ot India, as there are, or cer­
tainly were at the time the journeys were undertaken, 
important restrictions as to choice. There are seven 
main routes over the mountain passes into Kashmir, ol 
which only four were then open, to European travellers, 
because of the heavy demand on transport required by 
them. The natives of India, except those of the highest 
rank, travel very lightly, and with no impedimenta to 
speak o f ; whereas the European requires stores, tents, 
and much baggage for himself and his numerous fol­
lowers ; and in a land where men’s backs are the prin­
cipal vehicles for all articles requiring carriage, and the

<SL
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• number of persons available for the purpose very limited, 
the inevitable requisitions would soon prove a burden 
beyond endurance. Hence the restrictions imposed.

The seven routes are: (I) That by the Banihal Pass 
from Jammun, which is the chief commercial route, as it 
leads to the great emporuim of Amritsar. It is a rough 
road, practicable with difficulty for horses, and the 
carriage is done by men and pack bullocks. (2.) That 
via Budil from Jammun, impassable for horses, and 
practicable only for men as beasts of burden. (3) The 
celebrated Mughal route from Bhimbar over the Pir 
Pantsal Pass, which can be ridden over, and so is still in 
much request, especially by Europeans. (4) That from 
Bhimbar via Bajauri and Punphh over the Hap Pass, 
traversing lower ground than the Pir Pantsal route, and 
so open longer. (5) The route from Jhelam, which is 
rough and therefore unpopular. (6) The Murree 
(Marin) and Bararniila route, not much used commer­
cially, but along an easy rideable road greatly esteemed 
by Europeans. (7) That from Abhotabad via Muzaf- 
farabad to Baramula, an easy road, free from snow nearly 
all the year round. Of these the first two are closed to 
Europeans for the reasons above given, and the value of 
the descriptions of the journeys in the succeeding pages 
is enhanced by the fact that the unfrequented Banihal 
route is three times described, and twice by unusual 
detours. The Bhimbar route, too, though followed once, 
was not strictly adhered to, and so a part of the country 
is described that is not commonly traversed.

Allusions are more than once made in the journals to the
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manufactures of Kashmir, and these must accordingly be 
shortly noticed. They are not numerous, but in one ox- 
two cases of some importance. Thus the shawl-weaving* 
paper and 'papier vi&cke making are of universal celebrity* 
and to these must he added homespun woollen cloths- 
and blankets, raw silk, leather, soap, and goods of stone* 
gold and silver, copper, iron, steel and wood.

The manufacture of Kashmir sk?wls has often been 
exhaustively explained, and though its details are most 
interesting, a very brief account must suffice hero. The 
shawls are of two descriptions, loom-made and hand­
made, and each variety employs a separate class of 
makers. The loom-made shawls are produced by kdr- 
khdnddrs or manufacturers, buying the spun thread from 
the dealers, dying it under their own superintendence* 
and distributing it to weavers (shdlbdfs), who work under 
overseers or ustdds. Iix the hand-work system the 
ground cloth (paskmna) is made by workmen (sddabdfs), 
who procure their materials themselves, and then hand 
over the manufactured article to rafugars, or fine drawers, 
to work in the coloured threads. The preparation and 
construction of the patterns is intricate and peculiar.
The pattern is first drawn on paper, and from the 
picture the gandanwdl, or foreman, dictates it to a short­
hand writer (kitdbwdid), who takes it down in a species 
o f stenography possessing a special interest of its own, 
and from this written document the pattern is woven by 
the working weavers. When the shawl is so far completed 
that its value can be estimated, it gets thoroughly into 
the grip of the tax-gatherer; indeed, throughout every
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process, from the growing of the wool to the final sale, 
this official never lets go his liold of it. It is this fact 
that has rendered the workmen connected with this 
manufacture so wretched, though their work is of sur­
passing excellence and their skill unrivalled. The shawl 
being the sport— legitimate and illegitimate—of a host 
of officials, it is obvious that the office of Diwan, or 
Superintendent, of the Shawl Department at Srinagar, is 
one of great pecuniary value and of no small importance.
At the time of the first visit referred to in this volume, 
tin* well-known Raja Kale was still diwan of shawls.
Tie died in 1866, and was succeeded by Bhul Raja, son 
o f Partab Shall, another very prominent Kashmiri, but 
he had to be removed for incompetence or perhaps worse, 
and was succeeded by Pandit Bhadari Nath. The 
materials from which the shawls are manufactured is the 1 
pas ham or wool of the shawl-goat, an animal apparently 
peculiar to the Himalayas, and the Karakoram Moun­
tains.

Kashmir paper is valued by the natives of India for 
its durability, and generally excellent quality. It is 
made of cotton rags and hemp pulp, whitened by slaked 
lime and sajji, an impure subcarbonate of soda. It is 
all hand-made, and the process is substantially that gone 
through in the production of what is universally known, 
as “ country paper” in India.

The papier made ware is familiar to all Europeans in 
appearance, and is produced by pulping and moulding 
coarse “ country paper,” and then painting and varnish­
ing if. The varnish is procured by boiling clear copal
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(sundras) in pure turpentine, and is absolutely transpa­
rent. This system of painting and varnishing is by no 
means confined to papier mdc/iS, but is frequently applied 
to woodwork on a large scale. It is commonly called 
lacquering by travellers, but this is an entire mistake, 
lacquer in any form having no connection with it.

The home-spun cloths or pattiU are o f numerous 
descriptions, but both these and the blankets are of a 
type common to the Himalayan districts g'eneially; and 
the stone and metal goods are chiefly remarkable and 
valued for the exquisite art lavished on the ornaments 
with which they are covered.

Something must now be said as to the general civil 
and military administration and history of the hetero­
geneous possessions ol the Maharaja of Jammun arid 
Kashmir.

Tor administrative purposes Jammun was, when the 
journeys under consideration were made, divided into 
seven districts, viz.:— Jammun, Jasrota, Rauinagar, 
TTdhampur, Biasi, Mmawar and .Naushahra, modelled 
on the plan in vogue in the Panjab, and each under a 
district officer, assisted by a general assistant or ndib, 
and three or four sub-divisional officers. To these 
districts must he added Ihinchh, which was a separate 
Government under a Baja, a relative ol the Maharaja, 
and dependent on him, but nevertheless left ver  ̂ much 
to his own devices. Kashmir was under a governor 
appointed by the Maharaja, and was divided into six 
districts, viz. :— Kamraj, Pat an, Srinagar, fell upon, I s­
lamabad or Anat Nag, and Muzaffarabiid, administered
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pretty much as above. Lastly, there were separate 
Governors respectively for Ladakh, Baltistan, and Gil git, 
.each province having its own special rules of Govern­
ment made to suit its peculiar circumstances. Here the 
Governors were left much to themselves, and allowed 
considerable latitude and independent power, the whole 
form of administration being necessarily primitive, 
rough, and ready.

The Maharaja took a considerable share daily in the 
judicial, and what may be called the “  personal ** admin­
istration of bis territories, hearing prayers of all kinds 
from all classes of the people, and being the final judge 
in such civil and criminal cases as bis subjects by peti­
tion brought to bis notice. In this work he was aided 
by bis eldest son and heir, and spent a large part of every 
day in it. On the whole the system of Government was 
excellently devised, but it was 'unhappily more than 
indifferently carried out by the agency employed. 
Oppression was unquestionably rampant and taxation 
•excessive. The country was, however, fortunate in 
possessing at the time a wise and judicious Minister 
In the person of Diwan Kirpa Earn, In I860, this 
eminent administrator introduced many and important 
reforms, into the Government of the Jammun districts, 
by abolishing the collection of revenue in kind, and 
substituting fixed cash payments, making an assessment 
favourable to the cultivators, doing away with the 
presentation of nasars or customary gifts to the rulers, 
and appointing men of substance and standing to the 
posts in the collection of revenue. The effect of all this
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was the payment of arrears of taxation, enhancement 
of' Grovernment receipts, and a general increase of agri- 
cultural prosperity. In 1861 similar reforms were 
commenced in Kashmir by the appointment of respect­
able revenue collectors, and in 1868 a reasonable land 
assessment was taken in band, though the dues were 
still collected in kind. Kirpa Earn continued his life of 
useful reform till 1876, when on his death the writer of 
the journals, in a letter to Lord Lytton, said of him;
“ I  have just heard with much grief of the death of the 
Divvan Kirpa Earn of Jammun. He will be a great loss.
He was among Hindus what the Balar Jang is among 
M uhamm adans.

For the protection of his territories, and the preserva­
tion of the public peace, the Maharaja kept up an army 
o f about 20,000 men, divided into 2 Cavalry, 24 In ­
fantry, Line, and Irregular. Regiments, 16 Batteries, 
two of which were horsed, and a corps of Sappers and 
Miners. Each Infantry Begiment had small pieces of 
artillery attached to it, called curiously, little wasps 
{zumbura), 1 ion cubs (sMrbaeid), and tiger cubs (1baghbacltti).
Its personel consisted almost entirely of Hogras, Hards, 
and Panjabis, both Hindu and Musalman ; Kashmiris,
Baltxs, and Ladakhis being practically absent from it.
The army, excepting the artillery was, for a native force, 
fairly equipped and efficient, copying, after a fashion, 
the British drill and dress ; and it was well paid, which 
is certainly not the rule in a native State. The cavalry 
was chiefly employed as an escort to the Maharaja, and 
the infantry in collecting revenue ! The troops generally
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were stationed all over the country in detachments, 
garrisoning the innumerable forts. The Raja of Punchh 
had besides a small force of his own, consisting of one 
battery, 1,200 infantry and a reserve of pensioners.
As a whole, the Maharaja’s army was apt to be a source 
of private expense to his subjects, because the men dur­
ing their frequent movements from place to place were 
accustomed to live at free quarters.

The history of the varied territories of the Maha­
raja of Jammiin and Kashmir is obscure and compli­
cated, but it is necessary that the reader should be put 
in possession of the main facts, if he would compre­
hend aright the many allusions to it in the journals. 
The first Maharaja, the celebrated Gulab Singh, of whom 
more presently, began by obtaining possession of Jam­
mu u proper, then Kishtwar and Basoli, then Ladakh 
and Skardii; after which Ramnagar and Bhadrawah fell 
to him. Next he became ruler over Kashmir and its 
appanage G ilgit; and lastly, Rajauri, and, as a depen­
dency, Punchh came under his sway. The tangled web 
of events that led to this consummation, it is now pro­
posed briefly to unravel and make plain.

The early history of the Jammiin districts, and indeed 
up to quite modern times, is much that of the Himalayas 
generally, the whole country being split up into petty 
territories, hardly more than villages in size, ruled over 
by independent chiefs claiming Rajput descent, among 
whom a strong man, here and there, and now and then, 
obtained suzerainty over his neighbours. Much in this 
way Eanjit Deo of Jammiin, a great name in these moun-
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tains in the middle of the last century, rose to some­
thing- more than local eminence. On his death in 1780, 
the usual quarrel for the succession arose between his 
sons, which gave the Sikh notable, Mahan Singh, father 
of the great Man jit Singh of the Punjab, the opportunity 
of turning damnum into a dependency. Pan jit Singh 
himself for many years after this carried on expeditions 
o f conquest and plunder into the hills hereabouts, and 
in the course of these, the dispossessed family of Jammtin. 
in a junior branch, again came to the front. Raniit IJeo’s 
youngest brother, Surt Singh, through his second son, 
Zorawar Singh, had three great-grandsons, all of whom 
occupied in their day a distinguished place in the his­
tory of the Sikhs. These were Grulab Singh, Dhyan 
Si 1. h, and Suchet Singh. The rise of the three brothers 
from humble positions, about the Court of Pan jit Singh 
at Lahore, the prominent parts played by all of them 
during the troublous days of the brief Sikh monarchy 
of the Punjab, and the tragic end of the last two, are 
matters of general history • and what concerns us now 
is the acquisition by Otalab Singh of supreme power in 
the Western Himalayas. In 1818 Pan jit Singh con­
ferred the Raj of Jammiin on Gruhib Singh, that of 
Punchh on Dhyan Singh, and that of Pamnagar on 
Suchet Singh, as feofs, in return for war services rendered 
by them. Having thus achieved his ambition of be­
coming a ruler in his native land, Gulab Singh set about 
settling the country and establishing himself firmly on 
the throne of his forefathers thus granted him. This he 5\ 
accomplished thoroughly, it is said, at the cost of much
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cruelty, and by tbc free exercise of the unscrupulous 
guile for which lie was famed. About 1833 he extended 
his power over Ki slit war, then in the possession of a. 
Muhammadanized Itaja, Muhammad Teg-'h Singh, who 
had retained his Hindu title of Raja, and mixed up a 
Hindu name with a Muhammadan one in a fashion 
common to his class in the Western Himalayas. This 
chief was descended from a family of the usual lull 
Rajput type, which had become Muhammadan during 
the rule of the bigoted Emperor Aurangzdb in tlie ,17th 
century, and lost his kingdom without a blow by allow­
ing the crafty Cfulab Singh to take advantage of a Court 
squabble. BasoK, too, which had passed into Sikh pos­
session so long previously as 1783, seems to have come 
under the sway of Gulab Singh about this time.

The next steps in the acquisition o f territory were 
the conquests of Ladakh and Skardu. TJp to about 
1600 A.i). Ladakh seems to have formed an integral part 
of Tibet, but from that time onwards to its conquest by 
the troops of Gulab Singh in 1834, it was governed by 
a dynasty of independent Buddhist princes, whose his­
tory is that of war with varying fortunes with their 
neighbours, especially Kashmir and Skardu. In 1834 
the Jammiin Raja sent his henchman, Zorawar Singh, 
a Kahluria Rajput, who earned for himself a lasting 
name in these hills, to take Ladakh for him. This he 
managed to do after two years’ campaigning, taking pos­
session of the little dependency of Radar belonging to 
the Cliamba Raja at the same time, so as to open com­
munications with Jammiin via Ivishtwar, This war
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it gives the journal entries themselves a value they 
could not otherwise possess. Of the accuracy and import­
ance of Montgomerie’s labours it would be superfluous 
to speak here; but a quotation from a paper by the 
author of the diaries relating to this wonderful man may 
be of interest to the reader. “  In the completion of the 
Trigonometrical Surveys of Kashmir and Jammun, Cap­
tain Montgomerie and his assistants have undergone, in 
addition to mental labour, much physical toil and 
hardship, and have borne every vicissitude of climate, 
and the extremes of heat and cold. During the crisis 
of 1857, they were a small band of Englishmen in the 
heart of the Himalayan Mountains, separated one from 
another, and divided by a large and rugged tract from 
their fellow countrymen, who were carrying on so fierce 
a struggle in Northern India. Their position, therefore, 
was isolated and trying, and peculiar even among the 
accidents of that terrible time. But the Kashmir-Sur­
vey was never suspended for a moment, and its progress 
was as good as ever. Captain Montgomerie, and those 
who assisted him, thus showed a good example of how 
Englishmen can preserve a calm attitude in the midst 
of trouble and alarm, and adhere to duty, and work in 
the midst of distractions.” It was no idle boast, indeed, 
of General Walker, when writing a short time ago his 
report on the completion of the triangulation o f the 
Grand Trigonometrical Survey of India, that during the 
eighty years of the progress of this stupendous work, 
neither war, nor famine, nor physical disaster— and
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all were frequent-—had ever delayed it on its onward 
way. Montgomerie has long heen dead, hut Lieutenant- 
Colonel H. H. -Godwin'Austen, P.E.S., who served 
under him and took his full share of the labours and 
dangers of the time, is still alive and yearly adding to 
our knowledge of India.

Having thus explained to the reader all that it is 
; necessary for him to know in order to comprehend them 
fed properly, we now pass on to the diaries themselves.
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